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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
FRME

A summary of the financial performance and other notable events
for the year ended 31 December 2023 include:

e A loss attributable to shareholders of the Company
of approximately US$25.05 million, which was mainly
attributable to: (i) a total amortisation charge of
approximately US$22.18 million on the intangible assets,
being a non-cash item; (ii) the Group’s operating and
R&D expenses of approximately US$6.07 million, and
(iii) impairment loss on an intangible asset and right-of-
use assets of approximately US$1.52 million and US$1.15
million respectively, being non-cash items, which were offset
somewhat by (iv) the tax credit in respect of the deferred tax
liabilities of approximately US$5.41 million. Going forward,
there will no longer be an annual amortisation charge
relating to the patent (Fortacin™), which amounted to
approximately US$21.80 million for 2023.

e  The Group recorded a capital deficiency of approximately
US$1.55 million as at 31 December 2023 (At 31 December
2022: shareholders’ equity of approximately US$2.60
million), with the decrease of approximately US$4.15
million being mainly attributable to the loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company, which were offset somewhat
by the Rights Issue.

e Inrespect of the progress being made with Senstend™ in the
PRC, the Phase 3 double blinded placebo-controlled studies
completed during the first half of 2023 and successfully met
all four co-primary endpoints of Intra-vaginal ejaculation
latency time (“IELT"). The Company, its regulatory consultant
and Wanbang Biopharmaceutical have made significant
progress in compiling the NDA dossier to NMPA with the
aim of submitting the NDA to NMPA in 2024, with approval
expected 12 months thereafter. If the NMPA grants an import
licence for Senstend™, US$5 million (before deduction
of PRC withholding tax) shall be payable to the Group
from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical. In addition, upon first
commercial sale of Senstend™ in China, US$2 million (before
deduction of PRC withholding tax) shall be payable to the
Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical.
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In respect of the progress being made with Fortacin™ in the
US, there was further communication and positive progress
made between the FDA and Plethora regarding the Phase
3 studies protocol and the Special Protocol Assessment
("SPA™).

In respect of Europe, Recordati recommenced sales in
France, Germany, Italy and Portugal in 2023 and Plethora
understands that the return of Fortacin™ to the market in
these countries has been very positive with the first batch
of units in these countries receiving strong demand from
patients. We remain hopeful that the new manufacturer will
be able to offer continuous supply of Fortacin™ to Recordati
and our other commercial strategic partners, which should
allow for the generation of royalty revenue for the Group.

In respect of the other territories, being certain countries
in South-East Asia, our licensees are in discussions with the
new manufacturer on terms for (i) regulatory support for
submitting a variation to the relevant health authority for the
appointment of the new manufacturer, and (ii) commercial
terms for the manufacture and supply of Fortacin™ for
their respective territories. The Group is in discussions for
out licencing the rights to Fortacin™ to (i) a pharmaceutical
company for the Japanese market, and (ii) a pharmaceutical
company for the South Korean market.

From a business development standpoint, the Group has
continued to implement and integrate Deep Longevity with
our existing business. Deep Longevity is continuing its growth
journey with multiple initiatives around building out the
team, product, technology and commercial models. Deep
Longevity is committed to building and commercialising
various aging clocks using its leading Al led deep learning
technology.

PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

e  Pursuant to the Group's stated divestment strategy, the
Group has actively managed, including certain disposals of
its existing and strategic investment in DVP, representing
approximately 0.06% of the equity interests in the company
as at 31 December 2023. The Group's investment in DVP
had a realised gain on disposal and an unrealised fair value
loss of approximately US$91,000 and US$38,000 respectively
for year ended 31 December 2023 and a marked-to-market
value of approximately US$0.30 million as at 31 December
2023.

With a streamlined focus, the Company remains excited about the
future prospects for the Group and the Shareholders and will: (i)
continue to pursue the successful commercialisation of Fortacin™/
Senstend™ in the remaining key markets of the US, China, South-
East Asia, Latin America and the Middle East; (i) commercialise
its deep learning aging clock technology and MindAge® offering,
together with partnering with clinics, hospitals, laboratories
and insurance companies by offering its AgeMetric™ reports
and access to its online software as a service (SaaS)® platform;
(iii) continue monitoring its residual investment in DVP; and (iv)
continue with its existing strategy of pursuing strategic and value-
led investments in the healthcare and life sciences sectors.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders

2023 was a year for strategic progress for Regent. While we
encountered a challenging macroeconomic and geopolitical
environment, we continued to press ahead with our key strategic
initiatives, with the expansion of the Group's footprint in China
where progress continues with our NDA for Senstend™ (the
marketing name of Fortacin™ in China), with approximately
90% of the dossier completed. We are just waiting for Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical, our commercial strategic partner for China,
and the contract manufacturer to enter into the manufacturing
and supply agreement as the agreement has now been finalised.
Once this has been done, the NDA will be submitted to the NMPA
and we expect to receive marketing authorisation within 12
months provided that there are no deficiencies received from the
NMPA. Once approved, the Group expects to receive US$5 million
(before withholding tax) and US$2 million (before withholding tax)
on commercialisation in China.

We remain excited about the future potential of Senstend™
where the drug has the potential to help an initial target market of
approximately 9 million patients in China in its first year of launch,
growing to over 170 million patients by its tenth year. We have
a strong partner in Wanbang Biopharmaceutical, that benefits
from being part of the Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group)
Co. Ltd.'s network. This company has the marketing expertise,
established e-commerce platforms and an unrivalled national
distribution network of hospitals, clinics and pharmacies to help
ensure the commercial success of Senstend™ in China.

In respect of the other territories, being certain countries in South-
East Asia, our licensees are in discussions with the new contract
manufacturer on terms for (i) regulatory support for submitting a
variation to the relevant health authority for the appointment of
the new contract manufacturer, and (ii) commercial terms for the
contract manufacture and supply of Fortacin™ for their respective
territories. The Group is in discussions for out licencing the rights
to Fortacin™ to (i) a pharmaceutical company for the Japanese
market, and (i) a pharmaceutical company for the South Korean
market, which if agreements are reached, will further add to the
royalty revenue.

FEHRS

BUEERIRE

CECCEREEMSEEEERN—Fo
BE SR TP Y 7T M DR BB 7 R A TS R h AR X
RIEE BRMOAMNEEEHERMFANEIES
BRRE  BEAERMPPENEBHEIEA
Senstend™ (Fortacin™#A B Ay 64 4 78) 1Y
MERBRHENSER 8990%MNEZBE R
e HMEETEFRMANPEREHRESIER
HIRERBEASHEEE S HiE R
B ZHEREME - — B8 I HE &K
PEEAEREREEEERIERNMERF
MWERERESEER Y &Rk
BMAEERI12EL NERBEHT I S
B AEEBENRNRPEANEFECHERS
5,000,000 7t (F83A 7% Ai) K2,000,000% 7T (FA
AN o

EFIHSenstend™BI KRB D AT MG L
ZEY) ] RETE E T — FRLAE E B R EIA9900
BLEENYREEDS LESHFIEMNE
B17RBEBEB -HMERANEGIERHLE
BERE A LEEERE (R RHABR
NEREN D IHRESREEREEEEN
MIFEHEAH AN ETFEE T E U kA
ML EERT 2P R ZE R 2 HH 4848 > B B
R HE fRSenstend ™7E R B BVAS 7 2E AR ID ©

Hiithle BIRERE TR 5 E > HFIBIHR
FFA N EEFEAREEBARR 210D
ERBLEEREREBEURENGORES
WEEXE, MMNVEESEHMEGHIRER
HFEFortacin™RY 7 2 R R o A & [ IE 59 58 I
Fortacin™EF| 5 SMEE T (1) B A 158 —fE
HENTF ; R()ERHBHN—BRERF
ERWE RE—TEMEMNEREUWA -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #§

5



6

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

And another key initiative, which is the development and
regulatory path for the registration of Fortacin™ in the US, the
Group is working on addressing the FDA's comments from the SPA
request in November 2023 and is planning to further interactions
in 1TH 2024 with the FDA.

And lastly, Deep Longevity, a company that has Al enabled aging
clocks for helping extend health span and lifespan, has made
significant progress in 2023 on several initiatives including the
launch of its SenoClock® platform and acquiring its first customer
in the public hospital space.

OUR PERFORMANCE

During the year, the Group recorded a loss attributable to
shareholders of the Company of approximately US$25.05 million,
which was mainly attributable to: (i) a total amortisation charge
of approximately US$22.18 million on the intangible assets, being
a non-cash item; (i) the Group's operating and R&D expenses of
approximately US$6.07 million, and (iii) impairment loss on an
intangible asset and right-of-use assets of approximately US$1.52
million and US$1.15 million respectively, being non-cash items,
which were offset somewnhat by (iv) the tax credit in respect of the
deferred tax liabilities of approximately US$5.41 million.

Going forward, there will no longer be an annual amortisation
charge relating to the patent (Fortacin™), which amounted to
approximately US$21.80 million for 2023.

Overall, we were pleased with the performance of our business
in 2023. We achieved a significant milestone with the successful
completion of the phase 3 randomised clinical studies in China,
with all four co-primary end points being successfully met,
progress was made in discussions with the FDA on the SPA,
the approval by the EMA of a new third party manufacturer of
Fortacin™ and the important relaunch of Fortacin™ in France,
Germany, Italy and Portugal bringing in royalty revenue and finally
DLI launched SenoClock® (and SenoClock® Gold), a SaaS® platform
that hosts all its aging clocks. While we made significant progress
towards our stated objectives, there were challenges faced, being
a high inflation and interest rate environment, together with
economic and geopolitical uncertainty.
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The Company will continue to focus its efforts on submitting the
NDA to NMPA in 2024 in respect of Senstend™, engaging with
the FDA on finalising the phase 3 study in the US, partnering with
other pharma companies for out licensing the rights to Fortacin™
for Japan, South Korea, US and other key countries.

From a business development standpoint, the Group has
continued to implement and integrate Deep Longevity, acquired
in December 2020, with our existing business. Deep Longevity
is continuing its growth journey with multiple initiatives around
building out the team, product, technology and commercial
models.

Business development efforts continue at Deep Longevity as
we strive to drive revenue growth by connecting with various
industries, primarily providers, insurers, hospitals, software & apps
makers, and governments.

OTHER EXISTING INVESTMENTS AND
ACHIEVEMENTS

During the year we sold down our investment in DVP.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the geopolitical uncertainty and macroeconomic
challenges of 2023 will likely remain front and centre of the global
landscape in 2024. However, we are seeing signs that inflation
is easing in the US, UK and the Eurozone, with speculation that
central banks may cut interest rates later this year after record-high
rates since the COVID-19 pandemic and Russia's full-scale invasion
of Ukraine in February 2022.

With resumption of the manufacturing of Fortacin™ in Europe
in 2023 and the resupply to our European commercial partner
we are now hopeful that the royalty income will experience
exponential growth from 2024. Regarding Senstend™ in China,
we are working hard with our commercial partner Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical who is aiming to submit the NDA to NMPA
in 2024. And the same goes for the US, where we continue to
advance our discussions with the FDA on the protocol and start-up
of the Phase 3 study.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERS

We are excited about DLI with the launch of SenoClock® Gold in
2023 as it has managed to sign its first customers, including some
public hospitals and will importantly expand its product offering in
2024.

With a streamlined focus, the Company remains optimistic
about the prospects for the Group and the Shareholders with a
continued emphasis on driving business forward across its key
operating divisions.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our Shareholders for

their continued support and our employees for their hard work in
another challenging but rewarding year.

James Mellon
Chairman

27 March 2024
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MAIN ACTIVITIES

The Group recorded a loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company of approximately US$25.05 million, which was mainly
attributable to: (i) a total amortisation charge of approximately
US$22.18 million on the intangible assets, being a non-cash item;
(i) the Group's operating and R&D expenses of approximately
US$6.07 million, and (jii) impairment loss on an intangible asset
and right-of-use assets of approximately US$1.52 million and
US$1.15 million respectively, being non-cash items, which were
offset somewhat by (iv) the tax credit in respect of the deferred tax
liabilities of approximately US$5.41 million. Going forward, there
will no longer be an annual amortisation charge relating to the
patent (Fortacin™), which amounted to approximately US$21.80
million for 2023.

During the year, the Company recapitalised its consolidated
statement of financial position, leaving it debt free by setting
off the then shareholders loans together with the accrued loan
interest in aggregate of approximately US$14.84 million from the
Rights Issue that was completed on 12 January 2023 through
the issuance of 2,166,571,194 new shares. The Company has
raised sufficient working capital to achieve its short-term plan
for its business development and operations for the next 12
months. The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the
Set Off and expenses) were approximately US$21.67 million and
the net proceeds from the rights issue (before the Set Off and
after deducting expenses of approximately US$0.80 million) were
approximately US$20.87 million.

During the year, we were pleased with the performance of our
business. We achieved a significant milestone with the successful
completion of the phase 3 randomised clinical studies in China,
with all four co-primary end points being successfully met,
progress was made in discussions with the FDA on the SPA,
the approval by the EMA of a new third party manufacturer of
Fortacin™ and the important relaunch of Fortacin™ in France,
Germany, Italy and Portugal bringing in royalty revenue and finally
DLI launched SenoClock® (and SenoClock® Gold), a SaaS® platform
that hosts all its aging clocks. While we made significant progress
towards our stated objectives, there were challenges faced, being
a high inflation and interest rate environment, together with
economic and geopolitical uncertainty.
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MAIN ACTIVITIES continuep)

The Company will continue to focus its efforts on submitting the
NDA to NMPA in 2024 in respect of Senstend™, engaging with
the FDA on finalising the phase 3 study in the US, partnering with
other pharma companies for out licensing the rights to Fortacin™
for Japan, South Korea, US and other key countries.

We are seeing signs that inflation is easing in the US and the
Eurozone and the global economy is gradually recovering from the
COVID-19 pandemic and Russia's invasion of Ukraine.

As have mentioned previously, we are monitoring the evolving
human tragedy in Ukraine, where at the moment we are not
experiencing any material impact to our business. The Group is
also continually monitoring the sanction measures applied by
the European Union, UK and US to ensure we comply with the
sanction orders. However, this is clearly difficult to predict exactly
what will happen as events unfold, the impact of the escalation of
conflict in the region on our business and that of our partners. We
would say, pharmaceuticals from what we have seen historically, is
a more resilient business, than many others, it is typically a sector
that is protected from sanctions, obviously from the interest of
patients. Of course, the first thought at times like this is towards
the safety and well-being of the Ukrainian people.

The Group recorded a capital deficiency of approximately
US$1.55 million as at 31 December 2023 (At 31 December
2022: shareholders’ equity of approximately US$2.60 million),
with the decrease of approximately US$4.15 million being
mainly attributable to the loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company, which were offset somewhat by the Rights Issue.
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PLETHORA (FORTACIN™ SENSTEND™)

China

The Company believes that China is potentially the single largest
market for Senstend™ (the marketing name of Fortacin™ in
China), a view supported by Wanbang Biopharmaceutical. It is
estimated that Senstend™ has the potential to help an initial
target market of approximately 9 million patients in China in
its first year of launch, growing to over 170 million patients
by its tenth year. We have a strong partner in Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical, which benefits from being part of the
Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co. Ltd.'s network. This
company has the marketing expertise, established e-commerce
platforms and an unrivalled national distribution network of
hospitals, clinics and pharmacies to help ensure the commercial
success of Senstend™ in China.

Plethora and Wanbang Biopharmaceutical made significant
progress with Senstend™ in the PRC in respect of the phase
3 double blinded placebo-controlled studies, which were
completed during the first half of 2023 and successfully met
all four co-primary endpoints of IELT. Plethora and Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical have also made significant progress in
compiling the NDA dossier to NMPA. However, and frustratingly,
there has been a delay to the submission of the import
authorisation to the NMPA as Wanbang Biopharmaceutical and
Genetic S.p.A, the contract manufacturer, are finalising the terms
of the manufacturing and supply agreement.
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PLETHORA (FORTACIN™ “SENSTEND™) (conTinueD)

China (Continued)

A brief summary of the key points of the study are:

Registration of study:
B

Study type:
FZE4RE

Estimated enrolment:

fEst2HEHE !
Primary endpoint:

F—IREE

Secondary endpoint:

BARES

NDA submission:

PLETHORA
(FORTACIN™ “SENSTEND™) (@)

hE &)

2R E RS S

B

December 2021
- —H+°H

Phase 3 clinical trial, multi-centre, randomised, double-blinded
placebo controlled studies
FEHRERAREER 20 B 5 2 RBIH R

295 subjects (treatment completed)
295 IARHR GEREER)

To determine the effects of Senstend™ on the Index of Premature
Ejaculation and the IELT
HE TESenstend™¥ 2RI B K 2B NG BILEFRE 2 &

To evaluate the safety and tolerability of Senstend™ in Premature
Ejaculation subjects and their sexual partners

sFfiSenstend™# FIRIATH R EMH RN L EMERINZ1E

Expected in 2024

MBI X% E EE B R FAHERE !

All costs of the clinical trials, including all other associated
regulatory and submission costs are being met by Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical. If the NMPA grants an import licence
for Senstend™, US$5 million (before deduction of PRC
withholding tax) shall be payable to the Group from Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical. In addition, upon first commercial sale of
Senstend™ in China, US$2 million (before deduction of PRC
withholding tax) shall be payable to the Group from Wanbang
Biopharmaceutical. To this end, the Company looks forward to
working together with Wanbang Biopharmaceutical on submission
of and, ultimately, achieving approval of the import authorisation
by NMPA.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE
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US APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS

By way of background, we set out below key data points of the US
regulatory pathway for submission of the NDA:

On 22 December 2021, the Company submitted the Phase 2
study results entitled: “A Pilot, Randomized, Double-Blind Study
Comparing the Proportion of Responders to PSD502 and Placebo
Using the PEBEQ™ in Subjects with Premature Ejaculation” to the
FDA.

On 13 April 2022, the FDA provided Plethora with advice/
information request regarding the Final Qualitative Exit Interview
Report entitled “Qualitative Exit Interviews in a Randomized,
Double-Blind Multicentre Study Comparing the Proportion of
Responders to PSD502 and to Placebo Using the PEBEQ™ in
Subjects with Premature Ejaculation” and Psychometric Evaluation
of the PEBEQ™ — item 3 (event — specific bother).

On 2 June 2022, Plethora submitted a fulsome response to the
FDA's information request.

On 21 September 2022, Plethora and the FDA participated in a
teleconference. Plethora requested the FDA's feedback regarding
their proposed Phase 3 registration studies for Fortacin™.

On 20 December 2022, Plethora submitted a “Type C” meeting
request to gain feedback on its exit interview protocol and
interview guide.

On 22 February 2023, the FDA provided Plethora with written
responses to its “Type C"” meeting request regarding its exit
interview protocol and interview guide, which was received 5 days
ahead of schedule.

On 20 April 2023, Plethora's regulatory consultant submitted
the SPA request together with the study protocol, the revised
exit interview protocol and interview guide together with the
psychometric analysis plan.
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US APPROVAL AND COMMERCIALISATION
PROGRESS (conTinueD)

On 2 June 2023, FDA replied to Plethora’s request for SPA with
a "no agreement” statement. The major observation is that the
FDA is requesting an Estimand and SAP, that was subsequently
submitted to the FDA.

On 6 November 2023, the FDA replied again with a “no
agreement” statement. The FDA is requiring that we generate
evidence in respect of PEBEQ™ item 3 is "fit for purpose” and in
the FDA's opinion this cannot be analysed until after our Phase 3
clinical trial is complete. There is, however, many positives in the
FDA's response. The FDA states that there is agreement on major
elements of the protocol, including the overall design and study
endpoints, and specifically states that it has no objection if we
choose to proceed with the study. In addition, many of the FDAs
responses acknowledge and accept our plans/actions. In moving
the phase 3 studies forward, we are discussing with (i) our US
regulatory consultant various scenarios for progressing the phase
3 studies, (ii) completing budget and timelines with our chosen
clinical research organisation, and (iii) various parties, including
royalty funds and potential licensees, for financing the phase 3
studies, with view to having these finalised during the course of
2024.

Overall, we view our dialogue with the FDA concerning the
phase 3 studies and submission of the NDA as a major positive
development in the Plethora’s path for the commercialisation of
Fortacin™ in the US.
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MANUFACTURING AND RESUMPTION OF
COMMERCIAL SUPPLY

Recordati, our European commercial partner, has received its
commercial batches of Fortacin™ in 2023 for sale in France,
Germany, Italy and Portugal. We are pleased to report that the
appointed manufacturer has not experienced any manufacturing
issues that the previous manufacturer had encountered, such as
the product not meeting release specifications (as to moisture
and impurities) after manufacturing, or supply issues e.g. not
being able to secure supply of the valve, a key component to the
continuous supply and manufacture of Fortacin™ (please see our
previous announcement of 4 July 2022 and our interim report for
the six months ended 30 June 2021).

Our commercial partner for Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macau,
Singapore and certain other Southeast Asian countries is
in discussions with the alternative manufacturer for the
manufacturing and supply of Fortacin™ for its territories.

OTHER TERRITORIES

Now that commercial supply has been resumed, our other
commercial partners are at their liberty to negotiate manufacturing
and supply agreements with the alternative European
manufacturer, which we expect will take place shortly.

The Group is in discussions for “out licencing” the rights of
Fortacin™ to (i) a pharmaceutical company in Japan, and (i) a
pharmaceutical company in South Korea.

The Group will continue to work closely and diligently with
its current and prospective commercial partners and will keep
the Shareholders and potential investors informed of any new
developments as and when they occur.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT - DEEP LONGEVITY

Deep Longevity made significant progress in 2023 on a number of
initiatives including its adoption of a clear path as a tech company
with established SaaS® revenues.

Deep Longevity acquired its first customer in the public hospital
space and is engaging with several different customer groups that
should diversify its customer base.

Deep Longevity will continue to progress with the launch of new
products and various ways of engagement in 2024.
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DETAILS OF KEY DEVELOPMENTS

1.

CUSTOMER ADOPTION

Deep Longevity is being recognised as a leader in aging
clocks, especially its Blood Age clock, that has proven to be a
robust predictor of health and longevity.

With two public hospitals in Asia choosing to take our
technology to their users, we will have compelling examples
to present to new customers. We were in discussions with
these customers for over a year and are excited to have
partnered with them, including the use of their logos on the
Company's website.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Along with our innovation in technology, we are also having
to adopt new commercial and operating models as new
opportunities come our way. We are building distributor and
reseller relationships in specific markets in an opportunistic
manner. This will give us access to non-core markets and
more importantly a jump in revenues.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES

Our data sciences team has developed a comprehensive
recommendation framework that provides personalised
pathways to improve health including, nutrition, exercises,
and lifestyle adjustments. While we are ready to show this
to customers, we continue working on further refining our
approach to bring more meaningful information to end
users.

Currently we are developing our biometrics clock and this
new clock which uses a combination of blood biomarkers
and clinical biometrics like blood pressure, body mass index
(BMI), will be another offering that refreshes our repertoire of
clocks.

We are pleased that our epigenetic clock is now ready to
be commercialised. We have integrated the clock within the
SenoClock® platform.
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DETAILS OF KEY DEVELOPMENTS (conTinuED)

4,

MARKETING & PUBLIC RELATIONS

We will be announcing our customer acquisitions throughout
2024 and we will work with our customers to include their
quotes and references to make our public relations more
effective.

TECHNICAL UPDATE

Our focus in 2024 is to launch a comprehensive longevity
platform that will allow users to enter their biometrics,
medical history, supplements history, etc... and take it to
market as a business to business (B2B) platform for direct to
consumers, employers, clinics, and other stakeholder groups.

At the same time, we will continue to further the
recommendation module to make it more robust and
enhance the user experience.

LEGACY INVESTMENTS

Pursuant to the Group’s stated divestment strategy, the Group has
actively managed, including certain disposals of its existing and
strategic investment in DVP, representing approximately 0.06%
of the equity interests in the company as at 31 December 2023.
The Group's investment in DVP had a realised gain on disposal
and an unrealised fair value loss of approximately US$91,000 and
US$38,000 respectively for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
a marked-to-market value of approximately US$0.30 million as at
31 December 2023.
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PLETHORA'S FINANCIAL RESULTS

Plethora recorded an operating loss of approximately GBP 0.67
million (or approximately US$0.83 million) for the year ended 31
December 2023 (Year ended 31 December 2022: approximately
GBP 0.67 million (or approximately US$0.83 million)), excluding
the amortization cost of an intangible asset, Fortacin™, and the tax
credit in respect of the deferred tax liability.

The operating loss of Plethora for the year ended 31 December
2023, mainly included: (i) the royalty income of approximately
GBP 137,000 (or approximately US$171,000) (Year ended 31
December 2022: approximately GBP 28,000 (or approximately
US$35,000) which being offset by: (ii) R&D costs related to the
regulatory and phase 3 studies in respect of the FDA approval
process of Fortacin™ in the US of approximately GBP 0.56 million
(or approximately US$0.69 million) (Year ended 31 December
2022: approximately GBP 0.46 million (or approximately US$0.57
million)) and (iii) G&A expenses of approximately GBP 0.27 million
(or approximately US$0.34 million) (Year ended 31 December
2022: approximately GBP 0.25 million (or approximately US$0.30
million)).

Plethora had cash resources of approximately GBP 61,000 (or
approximately US$78,000) for the year ended 31 December
2023 (At 31 December 2022: approximately GBP 37,000 (or
approximately US$44,000)), with ongoing financial support being
provided by the Group.
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OUTLOOK

We are optimistic about the prospects for our businesses going
into 2024. Achieving our strategic objective of (i) submitting the
NDA to NMPA and commercialising Senstend™ in China with
our commercial partner Wanbang Biopharmaceutical; and (i) the
commencement of the phase 3 studies in the US together with the
"out licensing" of the US rights remains our prime focus.

We continue to learn and remain confident about Deep Longevity
as it remains a leader in its sector — Al for machine learning to
determine biological age with its SaaS® platform of SenoClock®
that provides all its aging clocks and longevity recommendations.

And with the easing of inflation, and the global economy showing
signs of economic growth, there is much about which to be
optimistic.

With a streamlined focus, the Company remains optimistic about
the future prospects for the Group and the Shareholders with a
continued emphasis on driving business forward across its key
operating divisions.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to thank our Shareholders for
their continued support and our employees for their hard work in
another challenging, but rewarding year.

REVENUE AND PROFIT, FINANCIAL POSITION AND
STRATEGY PLAN, FUNDING AND GEARING RATIO

A fair review and/or analysis of the Group's revenue and profit,
financial position, strategy plan, funding and gearing ratio are set
out in the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group’s
Performance” in this annual report.

Jamie Gibson
CEO

27 March 2024
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
and the audited financial statements of the Company and the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Consolidated
Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company's principal activity is investment holding, and the
Group's principal activities consist of investments in biopharma
companies and other corporate investments. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set
out in note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements .

RESULTS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income on pages 138 to 139.

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). No interim
dividends were paid for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: nil).

The Board will evaluate its dividend policy and distributions made
in any particular year in light of its financial position, the prevailing
economic climate and expectations about the future macro-
economic environment and business performance and may adopt
changes as appropriate. Details of the dividend policy are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of the 2023 Annual Report.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
current year and the last four financial years (extracted from the
audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate) are set

out below:
Results: 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
£ —E-= B0 B —F “E°TFE —TNE
US$°000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
F=rx F=x F=rx F=x =1
Total revenue and fair value BWARERTAZ
gain/(loss) on AnBEE
financial instruments Wi (E518) (539) (4,020) 18,235 2,149 (313)
Revenue less expenses before WA R R,
reversal/(impairment losses) (REBE &
and provision BERzIH (27,713) (34,995) (13,873) (24,880) (38,114)
Reversal of impairment BEREE - - = 6,126 =
Impairment losses HER8 (2,670) - = (5,700) (26,000)
Operating loss after B/ (RESS) &
reversal/(impairment loss) BErzEERSE
and provision (30,383) (34,995) (13,873) (24,454) (64,114)
Finance costs BB A (80) (1,013) (1,218) (1,706) (620)
Loss before taxation PRIR ARSI (30,463) (36,008) (15,091) (26,160) (64,734)
Income tax credit/(expense) FriSfiEsE,/ %) 5,414 419 2,493 1,764 (1,265)
Loss for the year AEERE (25,049) (36,427) (12,598) (24,396) (65,999)
Non-controlling interests RS - - = 1 (49)
Loss attributable to shareholders RNB R ERE(LESIE
of the Company (25,049) (36,427) (12,598) (24,395) (66,048)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY (conTiNuED) IFEMBHEE @
Assets and liabilities: 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
BEERAE: = == BT TEC—F ZETEZFE ZTNE
us$'000 US$'000 UsS$'000 US$'000 UsS$'000
FE=rx FE=7 FE FE=71 FE=7
Property, plant and equipment LENN =Y G 10 27 38 16 37
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 276 746 1,192 360
Intangible assets B EE - 23,702 48,654 72,418 83,037
Interests in an associate BE B R - 1 1 1 1
Financial assets at fair value through BARBEFAEM
other comprehensive income SEBAZEREE - = < = =
Asset classified as held for sale NEAFEHEEE 1 = = = =
Current assets TMENEE 2,784 2,312 12,790 6,683 2,846
Total assets BEERE 2,795 26,318 62,229 80,310 86,281
Current liabilities piE=VE (3,581) (18,316) (10,923) (9,105) (7,967)
Non-current liabilities ERHEs (765) (5,405) (12,537) (20,900) (15,810)
Total liabilities SRR (4,346) (23,721) (23,460) (30,005) (23,777)
Net (liabilities)/Net assets BB 38/ EE3E (1,551) 2,597 38,769 50,305 62,504
BUSINESS REVIEW E$ 0]

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion and analysis of the Group’s business development and
performance during the year and any significant events since the
end of the financial year, the principal risks and uncertainties that
the Group maybe facing, an analysis of the Group’s performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators, the
material factors underlying the results and financial position,
and the likely future development of the business of the Group
are set out in the “Chairman’s Statement”, “CEO’s Report”,
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group’s
Performance” of the 2023 Annual Report. The financial risk
management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in
note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Discussions on the Group’s environmental and social policies
and performance, relationships with its key stakeholders and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group are set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” and the “Corporate Governance
Report” of the 2023 Annual Report.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (conTinueD)

The Group has complied in all material aspects with relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the operations of
the Group. Policies and practices are regularly reviewed to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular,
those with significant impact on the Group.

The Group believes that Directors, senior management and
employees are instrumental to the success of the Group. The
Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the Company for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to the eligible
participants who contributed to the success of the Group. The
Group also provides a safe and pleasant working environment
and facilitates trainings for career development of employees
to encourage improvement. To value the health and well-being
of employees, the Group also provides employees with medical
insurance benefits.

The Group also believes that maintaining good relationships with
key stakeholders including customers and suppliers is one of the
key contributors to the success of its businesses. The Group is
satisfied that a stable and long-term relationships with a number
of key customers and suppliers is maintained.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set
out in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the Group's
Performance” of the 2023 Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group are set out in
note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

GOODWILL

Goodwill of the Group was fully impaired in prior years.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the total issued ordinary share capital of
the Company consisted of 228,392,286 Shares. Subsequent to the
year ended 31 December 2023 and prior to the date of this report,
the total issued ordinary share capital of the Company consisted of
228,392,286 Shares. Details of the authorised issued share capital
and Options of the Company for the year are set out in notes 27
and 34 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(1) Share capital

As at 1 January 2023, the total issued ordinary share capital
of the Company consisted of 2,400,347,881 Shares.

On 12 January 2023, the Company issued and allotted
2,166,571,194 new Shares under the Rights Issue by way
of rights on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every
one (1) existing Share at the subscription price of HK$0.0785
pursuant to the prospectus documents.

On 5 June 2023, every twenty (20) issued and unissued
shares of par value of US$0.01 each has been consolidated
into one (1) Consolidated Share of par value of US$0.20
each*.

On 14 July 2023, the Company issued and allotted 46,333
new Shares for the share award granted to Dr Eric Verdin,
MD and Dr Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD under the then general
mandate pursuant to the relevant consulting agreements. Full
details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated
14 July 2021, 26 July 2021, 29 March 2023, 1 June 2023,
the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023 and notes 27(d)
and 34(2) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On 3 August 2023, the par value of each issued
Consolidated Share reduced from US$0.20 to US$0.001 and
subdivided one (1) authorised but unissued Consolidated
Share into 200 Adjusted Shares and forthwith the Share
Subdivision, the authorised share capital of the Company
increased to US$143,550,000 divided into 143,550,000,000
of US$0.001 each?.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(1)

(2)

Share capital (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the total issued ordinary share
capital of the Company consisted of 228,392,286 Shares.
Subsequent to the year ended 31 December 2023 and as at
the date of this report, the total issued ordinary share capital
of the Company consisted of 228,392,286 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December
2023 and as at the date of this report, there were no
changes in the authorised share capital of the Company and
no Shares were repurchased by the Company.

3 Full details on the above movement and changes in the
share capital during the year are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2022, 17 October
2022, 31 October 2022, 24 November 2022, 3 January
2023, 11 January 2023, 29 March 2023, 1 June 2023, 2
August 2023, the Company'’s circular dated 31 October 2022
and 27 April 2023, the Company's prospectus dated 13
December 2022 and notes 27(b) to 27(e) to the Consolidated
Financial Statements, if applicable.

Share Option Scheme (2016)

A summary of the terms of the Share Option Scheme (2016)
adopted by the Company on 10 June 2016 and other details
are set out in note 34(1) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(a) Grant of Options During the Year

On 3 May 2023, among the total of 76,400,000
Options (adjusted to 3,820,000 Options upon
completion of the Share Consolidation) granted,
(i) 58,000,000 Options (adjusted to 2,900,000 Options
upon completion of the Share Consolidation) were
granted to certain eligible employees of the Group;
(i) 18,400,000 Options (adjusted to 920,000 Options
upon completion of the Share Consolidation) were
granted to FOKI Limited, a consultant (as service
provider (as defined under the Listing Rules) of the
Group (the “Consultant”)), providing services to DLL;
and (iii) no Options were granted to the Directors, chief
executive and substantial shareholder of the Company,
or their respective associates (as defined under the
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continueD)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

(a) Grant of Options During the Year (Continued)

Listing Rules). The exercise price of the Options was
HK$0.078 per Share (adjusted to HK$1.560 per Share
upon completion of the Share Consolidation). The
closing price of the Shares on the date of grant was
HK$0.055 per Share. No Options can be exercised
within the first 12 months from the date of grant,
with one-third of the Options being vested and can
be exercised at each of the first, second and third
anniversary dates after the date of grant. The exercise
period of the Options is 3 May 2024 to 2 May
2033 (both days inclusive). The Options granted are
exercisable after one year but not exceeding ten years
from the date of grant.

In view that (i) the Grantees are employees and/or a
consultant of the Group who will contribute directly
to the overall business performance, sustainable
development and/or good corporate governance of the
Group; (i) the grant of Options is a recognition for the
Grantees’ past contributions to the Group; and (iii) the
Options are subject to certain vesting conditions and
the clawback mechanism under the Scheme, which is
designed (a) to safeguard the interests of the Group,
and (b) to allow the Group to retain and incentivise
its employees and consultants, the Remuneration
Committee and the Board are of the view that the
grant of Options without performance targets is market
competitive and aligns with the purpose of the Scheme.
The grant was subject to the clawback mechanism as
set out in the terms of the Scheme, in particular, the
lapse of the Options upon cessation to be an eligible
participant under the Scheme and the cancellation of
Options at the discretion of the Board. To promote
retention, the vesting conditions and the terms of
the Scheme have further provided for lapsing of the
Options if the employees cease to be employees prior
to the vesting date. The Remuneration Committee
and the Board believe that the grant of Options can
align the interests of the employees with those of the
Group through the potential ownership of the Shares
and encourage and retain the employees, including
the members of the senior management, to make
contributions to the long-term growth and profits of
the Group.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Grant of Options During the Year (Continued)

The grant of Options to the Consultant was due
to services rendered pursuant to the terms of the
consulting agreement entered into between the
Consultant and DLL. The Consultant was engaged
primarily to act as the chief executive officer of DLL
and oversee all aspects of DLLs core business with an
overarching objective to commercialise products and
significantly grow the revenue base. The Remuneration
Committee and the Board consider that the grant
of Options to the Consultant is appropriate for
recognition of the Consultant’s past performance and
is able to incentivise the Consultant for its continued
contributions to the growth and development of the
Group in the future, and such proposed grant of
Options to the Consultant aligns its long-term interest
with that of the Shareholders. Further details are set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 4 May 2023,
18 May 2023 and 1 June 2023.

The number of Options available for grant under the
Scheme as of 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023
and the date of this report was 107,507,118 Options,
1,956,532 Options and 1,956,532 Options respectively,
subject to refreshment of the scheme mandate limit.

Adjustments to Options During the Year

On 12 January 2023, the Company completed the
Rights Issue. Pursuant to the terms and conditions of
the Scheme and the Listing Rules, the subscription
prices on the exercise of the Options and/or number
of Shares related to the Options under the Scheme
have been adjusted immediately after the completion
of the Rights Issue. For details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 11 January
2023.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continueD)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

(b) Adjustments to Options During the Year (Continued)

As a result of the Rights Issue, the Company has
calculated the necessary adjustments (the “Share
Options Adjustments”) to the exercise prices of, and
the number of Shares falling to be issued upon exercise
of, the outstanding Options in accordance with the
relevant terms of the Scheme, Rule 17.03(13) of the
Listing Rules, the Supplementary Guidance on Main
Board Listing Rule 17.03(13) and the Note Immediately
After the Rule attached to the Frequently Asked
Question No. 072-2020 issued by the Stock Exchange
on 6 November 2020.

Immediate upon the Share Options Adjustments, there
were 66,006,441 Options outstanding, representing
approximately 1.45% of the then issued share capital
of the Company and approximately 1.42% of the
issued share capital of the Company as to be enlarged
by the issue and allotment of the said number of new
Shares upon full exercise of the outstanding Options
after adjustment.

The Company’s independent financial adviser, Maxa
Capital Limited, has certified in writing to the Company
that the Share Options Adjustments are in compliance
with the requirements set out in the relevant terms of
the Scheme, Rule 17.03(13) of the Listing Rules and the
Stock Exchange Supplementary Guidance.

Details of the Share Options Adjustments, which took
effect from 12 January 2023, being the date on which
the fully-paid Rights Shares were allotted and issued,
are set out below and disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 11 January 2023.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)
(b) Adjustments to Options During the Year (Continued)

Upon the Share Consolidation becoming effective
on 5 June 2023, the number of Options available for
future grant under the mandate of the Scheme was
adjusted to 1,864,975 Options. Maxa Capital Limited,
the independent financial adviser of the Company, has
confirmed in writing that the adjustments in respect of
the exercise prices of the outstanding Options and the
number of the Consolidated Shares issuable upon full
exercise of the outstanding Options are in accordance
with the terms and conditions under the Scheme upon
completion of the Share Consolidation and appropriate,
and satisfy the requirements of Rule 17.03(13) of the
Listing Rules, the Supplementary Guidance on the
Listing Rule 17.03(13) and the Note Immediately After
the Rule attached to the Frequently Asked Question
No. 072-2020 issued by the Stock Exchange on 6
November 2020 and updated in January 2023 in
relation to adjustments to share options. Further details
are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 1 June 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, there were 6,729,723 Options
outstanding, representing approximately 2.95% of the then
issued Shares and approximately 2.86% of the issued Shares
as to be enlarged by the issue and allotment of the said
number of new Shares upon full exercise of the outstanding
Options.

Save for the above adjustments, all other terms and
conditions of the outstanding Options granted under the
Scheme remain unchanged.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (conTinuED) AR B @
(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued) (2) HEREHE (CT—N) @

A summary of the particulars and movements of the Options
for the year ended 31 December 2023 with the adjustments
made to the exercise price and Options outstanding after
completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023 and the
Share Consolidation on 5 June 2023 is set out below:

HE_Z_—F+-A=+—BLFE
ZHEREFBEREFERN T =
—A+-HEl#ERER T =
NAABERRODEHEHTEERE
FITEBEREEH AR BEHTIN
B

Number of Options
Bkl
Adjustment ~ Adjustment

after after Number of

Adjusted Granted  Exercised Lapsed  completion ~ completion Options vested/

Date of ~ exercise price ~ Qutstanding during during during ~ ofRights  of Share Outstanding Vesting Expiry (unvested)

grant (HKS) asat  theyear  theyear  theyear Issue  Consolidation asat date date  asat31.122023

Name or Category of Grantees (otef)  (note2) 0101203  (note?)  (noted)  (noted)  (noted)  (noted) 31122023  (note3)  (note3) (note 3)

gt gkt

R +2R=+-A

g ft A et 2858/

kR %= wH BhafE 2B (ER)

fte® G -B-B EAEN  GRGE  EARM HRESE #8  Zr-A  GERE  ERDA BikiEdR

EEARATER) () (wR)  WAGE K0 OMB) O OiR) (k) BAGE (BB (6B) i3]

Directors
EE

James Mellon 14102020 3000 1837000 - - - (5869 (1,739574) 91557 14102021 13102030 30519

1410202 13.10.2030 30519

1410203 13102030 30519

Jamie Gibson 1410.2020 3000 18370000 - - - (58690 (17395746) 915564 14102021 13102030 305,188

1410202 13102030 305,188

1410203 13.10.2030 305,188

Jayne Sutcfe 14102020 3000 1,837,000 S = S (5869 (1739574 91557 14102001 13102030 30519

14102022 13.10.2030 30519

1410203 13.10.2030 30519

Mark Seare 14102020 3000 1,837,000 S 7 = (5869 (1,739574) 91557 14102001 13102030 30519

1410202 13.10.2030 30519

1410203 13.10.2030 30519

Julie Oates (Resigned on 14102020 3000 1,837,000 - - (91557) (5869 (1739,574) - 14102021 13.10.2030 -
15 August 2023) note 4)

lule Qates (5% 1410202 13.10.2030 S
NBTRBRE) (i)

1410203 13102030 =
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (conTinueD) Be A R RB A1 )
(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued) (2) FBREHE (CZE—N) ®
Number of Options
U
Adjustment  Adjustment
after after Number of
Adjusted Granted  Exercised Lapsed  completion  completion Options vested/
Date of ~ exercise price ~ Outstanding during during during  ofRights  of Share  Outstanding Vesting Expiry (unvested)
grant (HKS) asat  theyer  theyer  theyear Issue ~ Consolidation asat date date  asat31.122023
Name or Category of Grantees (otef) (ot 0101203  (note!)  (noted)  (noted)  (noted)  (noted) 31122023  (note3)  (note3) (note 3)
g
R +2A=+-A
) i ® -%2 2888/
kg Z5-= ) 70 RhaHE 0B (KEE)
fie® (B -B-B EAEH  GRGE  EARN HRESE #2  =t-B BERY  EERM RikiEgR
RRARATED) () (hh)  HAS () OmB) (bl () OMtD) WAGE  OB) (4B) liz)
Employees 14102020 3000 14,000,000 = - - (44729) (13257509 697762 14102021 13.10.2030 230,586
fE8
14102022 13102030 130,586
1410203 13102030 8159
Employees 1712200 3680 18,000,000 - - - (7508 (17005367 89715 Motelb) 1612200 (897,125)
] (i 1)
Employees (note 1le) 030503 1560 - 48000000 - - - (456000000 2400000 0305204 02052033 (199997)
fE& (i)
0305205 02.05.2033 (799,997)
03052006 02052033 (800,006)
Other (note 1(e)) 0305.203 1560 - 10000000 - - - (9,500,000 500000 03052024 02052033 (166,666)
Bt (1)
03052005 02.05.2033 (166,686)
(3052026 0205.2033 (166,668)
Other (note 4) 1410.2020 3000 6,000,000 - - (5.98083) (19,169) - - 0105201 30042083 -
Eff (z24)
Other (note 5) 07.06.2021 370 2500000 = - - (1987 Q367412) 124601 07.06.2022  (06.06.2031 453
Eff 1525)
0700203 06.00.2031 453
07.06.204  06.06.2031 (41,535)
Other (note 5) 030503 1560 - 18400000 - - - (174800000 90000 0305204 02050033 (306,666)
Rff (ks)
0305.205  02.05.2033 (306,666)
03052006 02.05.2033 (306,668)
Total 66218000 76,400,000 - (60388 (211559) (129604330) 6729723
it
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continueD)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes:

1.

Acceptance of an offer of the grant of an Option shall be
completed by the delivery of a form of acceptance together with
a remittance for HK$10.00 (or such higher or lower amount as
the Directors may from time to time determine) by the Eligible
Participant, by way of consideration for the grant.

(@ On 14 October 2020, the Company granted 62,718,000

=

Options to Directors and employees (comprising 25,718,000
Options for Directors and 37,000,000 Options for
employees) with an exercise price of HK$0.149 per Share
(adjusted to HK$0.150 per Share upon completion of the
Rights Issue and further adjusted to HK$3.000 per Share
upon completion of the Share Consolidation). The closing
price immediately before the date on which the Options
were granted was HK$0.156 per Share. Further details are
set out in the announcements of the Company dated 15
October 2020 and 20 October 2020.

On 17 December 2020, the Company granted 18,000,000
Options to an employee, formerly a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group at the time of the grant, with an
exercise price of HK$0.183 per Share (adjusted to HK$0.184
per Share upon completion of the Rights Issue and further
adjusted to HK$3.680 per Share upon completion of the
Share Consolidation). The closing price immediately before
the date on which the Options were granted was HK$0.183
per Share. The Options granted are exercisable after one
year but not exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant
and subject to fulfilment of the various targets. Upon vesting
and within such exercise period, the Option holder is entitled
to exercise:

(i) as to one-third after the first anniversary date of the date
of grant, provided that the FDA has approved the start
of the Phase Il clinical trial for Fortacin™;

(i) as to one-third after an “out-licencing deal” for the US
has been signed and announced; and

(iii) as to one-third on the successful completion of Study
008 (defined to mean it meets its primary and secondary
end points) and the FDA has granted the NDA for
Fortacin™.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continuep)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1.

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the targets were not fulfilled and
no Option was vested. Further details are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 18 December 2020
and 30 December 2020.

On 7 June 2021, the Company granted 2,500,000 Options
to a consultant of a subsidiary of the Company, namely
Leverage 1Q Iberica SL, of which Lars Gehrmann is a director
as well as the only and ultimate shareholder and who is not
a director of the Group, for the services rendered pursuant
to the terms of the consulting agreement, with an exercise
price of HK$0.185 per Share (adjusted to HK$0.186 per
Share upon completion of the Rights Issue and further
adjusted to HK$3.720 per Share upon completion of the
Share Consolidation). The closing price immediately before
the date on which the Options were granted was HK$0.179
per Share. Further details are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 8 June 2021 and 15 June 2021.

On 3 May 2023, the Company granted a total of
76,400,000 Options to employees of the Group and a
consultant of a subsidiary of the Company with an exercise
price of HK$0.078 per Share (adjusted to HK$1.560 per
Share upon completion of the Share Consolidation). Out
of which, (i) 58,000,000 Options were granted to certain
eligible employees of the Group; (i) 18,400,000 Options
were granted to FOKI Limited, of which Deepankar Nayak is
a director as well as the only and ultimate shareholder and
who is not a director of the Group, for the services rendered
pursuant to the terms of the consulting agreement. The
closing price immediately before the date on which the
Options were granted was HK$0.056 per Share. Further
details are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 4 May 2023 and 18 May 2023.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (continueD)

(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

1.

(Continued)

(e) Out of the 58,000,000 Options granted to certain
eligible employees of the Group on 3 May 2023, an
employee of the Group, as at the date of grant, who
was granted 10,000,000 Share at an exercise price of
HK$0.078 per Share on the date of grant (adjusted to
500,000 Options at an exercise price of HK$1.560 per
Share upon the Share Consolidation), resigned as an
employee of the Group and entered into a consulting
agreement with DLL dated 1 November 2023 to act as a
consultant to DLL (the “Consultant”) with effect from
1 November 2023. The Remuneration Committee and the
Board were of the view that since the Consultant, who
is not a director of the Group, shall provide consultancy
services to DLL under the consulting agreement, mainly
on the provision of scientific advice, product development,
marketing and business development which are regarded
as a continuation of his services rendered during his tenure
with the Group, therefore, his Options remain aligned with
the purpose of the Scheme; he shall remain an Eligible
Participant as a consultant under the Scheme with effect
from the date of the consulting agreement; and all his
Options shall not lapse but continue to be exercisable until
the expiry of the Option period.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were granted to or held by
(i) any Directors, chief executive or substantial shareholders of
the Company, or their respective associates; (i) any participants
in any 12-month period exceeding the 1% individual limit
referred to under the Listing Rules; (iii) any related entity
participant or service provider (as defined under the Listing
Rules) in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1% of the relevant
class of shares in issue; or (iv) other employee participants,
related entity participants and service providers during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

Details of the adjustments to the exercise price and the
outstanding Options following completion of the Rights Issue
and the Share Consolidation are set out in this report and the
announcements of the Company dated 11 January 2023 and 1
June 2023.
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EFTHRE

SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (conTinuED) AR AERRRE @
(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued) (2) MBREHE CE-—N ®
Notes: (Continued) MI5E © (&)
3. The exercise periods of the Options start from the respective 3. BRENTEHESEBHHPEESER

vesting dates and end on the respective expiry dates.

Except for 1(b) above, the Options shall vest over a period of
three years starting from the date of the grant, entitling the
holders to exercise one-third of the Options at each of the first,
second and third anniversary dates after the date of the grant.
The Options granted are exercisable after one year but not
exceeding 10 years from the date of the grant. Any entitlements
unexercised in any prior period may be carried forward to the
following periods but, in any event, must be exercised within 10
years from the date of the grant of the Options. All entitlements
then remain unexercised will lapse.

On 7 June 2023, 41,533 Options granted to a consultant of
a subsidiary of the Company, namely Leverage 1Q Iberica SL,
of which Lars Gehrmann is a director as well as the only and
ultimate shareholder and who is not a director of the Group,
were fully vested and exercisable in accordance with the rules of
the Scheme. None of the above Options were exercised during
the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report.

On 14 October 2023, 396,745 Options granted to Directors and
232,590 Options granted to employees were fully vested and
exercisable in accordance with the rules of the Scheme. None
of the above Options were exercised during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were vested or exercised
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report.

. The 6,000,000 Options (adjusted to 5,980,831 Options upon
completion of the Rights Issue) were exercisable by a retired
employee at any time during the period from 1 May 2021 to 30
April 2023, being the three-year adjusted vesting period for the
above Options. Please refer to note 34(1) to the Consolidated
Financial Statements for details of the adjusted exercise price.
None of the above Options were exercised up to the expiration
date and the above Options were lapsed upon expiry of the
vesting period on 30 April 2023 in accordance with the rules of
the Scheme.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OPTIONS (conTinuED)
(2) Share Option Scheme (2016) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
4. (Continued)

On 15 August 2023, 91,557 Options were lapsed upon
resignation of a Director on the same date.

Save as disclosed herein, no Options were lapsed or cancelled
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report.

5. Besides Directors, chief executive and employees, other eligible
participants of the Scheme include consultants and service
providers of the Group.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders by paying out of share premium
account, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands and subject to
the provisions of the Company’s Article of Association, amounted
to approximately US$294 million (2022: approximately US$294
million), which may be distributed provided that immediately
following the date on which a dividend is proposed to be
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts
as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business, in
accordance with the Company's Articles of Association.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Equity and note 35(b) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.
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THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to Directors and
relevant employees that they should comply with the restriction
on dealing of the securities of the Company during the blackout
periods as specified in the Securities Dealing Code. The Securities
Dealing Code is available on the Company’s website.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
applied all of the principles of the CG Code and complied with the
applicable Code Provisions of the CG Code. Further details of the
corporate governance practices of the Company are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of the 2023 Annual Report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Director:

Jamie Gibson (CEO)

NEDs:

James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:

Mark Searle

Adrian Chan (appointed on 21 April 2023)

lhsan Al Chalabi (appointed on 15 August 2023)
David Comba (retired on 1 June 2023)

Julie Oates (resigned on 15 August 2023)
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DIRECTORS (conTinuED)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of the
2023 Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Adrian Chan was
appointed as an INED on 21 April 2023, David Comba retired as
an INED on 1 June 2023, lhsan Al Chalabi was appointed as an
INED and Julie Oates resigned as an INED on 15 August 2023.
Following the resignation of Julie Oates as an INED, Julie Oates
has ceased to be the chairperson and a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, and Adrian Chan has been
appointed as the chairperson and a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of each of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee with effect from 15 August 2023.

Pursuant to Article 87 of the Articles of Association, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation and, pursuant to Code Provision B.2.2
of the CG Code set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Thus, Jayne Sutcliffe and Mark Searle shall retire from office by
rotation at the 2024 AGM, and being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election.

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association,
any Director so appointed at any time shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and shall then be eligible for election. Adrian Chan
retired at the 2023 AGM and was re-elected as an INED. lhsan
Al Chalabi shall retire at the 2024 AGM and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election.

The Board has considered the opinion of the Nomination
Committee and agreed with the Nomination Committee’s
recommendation for the re-election of Mark Searle, as an INED,
at the 2024 AGM. Details of the opinion of the Board and the
Nomination Committee required to be disclosed under Code
Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code set out in Appendix C1 of the
Listing Rules will be set out in the Company’s circular dated
25 April 2024.
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DIRECTORS (conTINUED)

Pursuant to Code Provision B.2.3 of the CG Code set out in
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, as Mark Searle has served as
an INED for more than nine years, his re-election will be subject
to a separate resolution to be approved by the Shareholders.
Taking into consideration of his skills, experience, background,
geographical and industry experience, knowledge and various
diversity aspects as set out in the board diversity policy of the
Company as well as his contributions to the Company over
the years, the Nomination Committee is of the view that
Mark Searle will continue to contribute to the Board with his
perspectives, skills and experience. In addition, Mark Searle has
not held any executive or management position in the Group
nor has throughout such period been under the employment
of any member of the Group and he does not have any family
relationship with any other Directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholder of the
Company, which could give rise to a conflict of interests situation.
There is no evidence that the independence of Mark Searle,
especially in terms of exercising independent judgment and
objective challenges to the management, has been or will be in
any way compromised or affected. Therefore, despite the length of
service of Mark Searle, the Board and the Nomination Committee
still consider Mark Searle to be independent. The Nomination
Committee believes that Mark Searle remains committed to his
role as an INED and will continue to be independent. In fact,
the Board considers such length of service as an advantage as
Mark Searle is familiar with the management and business of the
Group and therefore will be in a better position to understand the
operation of the Group and make recommendations leveraging
on his own skills and experience. Mark Searle has demonstrated
strong independence by providing impartial views and comments
at the Board and/or Board committee meetings during his
tenure of office. Having considered the above and reviewed the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board from a
number of aspects, in particular the length of service, professional
experience, skills and expertise of each Director, the Board, with
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, is of the
view that Mark Searle should be re-elected for a further term at
the 2024 AGM. The Board thus recommends the Shareholders to
vote in favour of the resolution to re-elect Mark Searle as an INED
as he has been making valuable contribution to the Company by
providing balanced and objective views to the Board.
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DIRECTORS (conTinuED)

Pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, the biographical details
of the Directors who are proposed to be re-elected at the 2024
AGM will be set out in the Company’s circular dated 25 April
2024. All retiring Directors have confirmed that there is no other
information to be disclosed pursuant to the requirements of Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules and there are no other matters that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

The Company considers all INEDs are independent and has
received from each of the INEDs a confirmation of his/her
independence during their tenure for the year ended 31 December
2023.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election
at the 2024 AGM) has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation), except that: (i) the advisory agreement
of James Mellon specifies that his appointment as an adviser
of the Company may be terminated by either party giving one
year's written notice (as detailed in the paragraph headed “Non-
Executive Directors” in the “Corporate Governance Report” of
the 2023 Annual Report); and (ii) the service agreement of Jamie
Gibson may be terminated by either party giving one year's written
notice.

The Company considers that each of the INEDs is independent
and has received from each of the INEDs a confirmation of his/
her independence. As at the date of this report, one INED,
Mark Searle, has served more than nine years who is subject
to retirement by rotation at the 2024 AGM and his further
appointment of should be subject to a separate resolution to
be approved by the Shareholders. The circular containing such
resolution should include the reasons why the Board believes he is
still independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the Directors had the following
beneficial interests in the shares and underlying shares (in respect
of positions held pursuant to equity derivatives) of the Company
or of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO), which were recorded in the Register of Directors’ and
Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or which were
otherwise notified to the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including those interests which the
Directors were deemed or taken to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules:

a. Shares
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Approximate %

Number of of issued
Shares held Shares
Name of Director Capacity (note 1) (note 2)
AR heBTkHKZ
R E Baast
EENS 515 (FF3E1) X))
James Mellon (note 3) (ffizE3)  Beneficial owner 40,380,607
EmEEA
Interests held by controlled corporations 88,772,977
ER AR 2 i
129,153,584 56.56%
Jamie Gibson Beneficial owner 6,939,674 3.04%
BEmEEA
Jayne Sutcliffe Beneficial owner 85,802 0.04%
EmEEA
Mark Searle (note 4) (ffiz¥4)  Beneficial owner 23,561
EmEEA
Family interest 31,415
i T
Beneficiary of a trust 163,778
EeExmA
218,754 0.10%
Adrian Chan - - -
PRSA(R
Ihsan Al Chalabi Beneficial owner 15,750 0.01%
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (conTiNUED)

a. Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. Directors’ personal interests in Shares as stated above are long
positions interests. There are no short position interests held
by any Director.

2. These numbers do not include the number of Shares to be
issued upon exercise of Options held by the Directors as
disclosed below. As at 31 December 2023, the total number
of issued Shares was 228,392,286 Shares.

3. An aggregate of 88,772,977 Shares were held by Indigo
and Galloway which are beneficially wholly-owned by James
Mellon, each holding 2,579,190 Shares and 86,193,787
Shares respectively.

4. An aggregate of 163,778 Shares were held to the order of a
pension fund, of which Mark Searle was the sole beneficiary
and the 31,415 Shares were held by his spouse, Juliet Mary
Druce Searle.

b. Options

Details of the Directors’ interests in the Options under the
Share Option Scheme (2016) are set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme (2016)” and note 34(1) to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

COMPLETION OF THE CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS

Completion of the Connected Transactions in relation to
the Underwriting Agreement and the Set Off

Reference is made to the Circular of the Company dated
31 October 2022 (the “Circular”). On 26 September 2022,
the Company entered into the Underwriting Agreement with
Galloway as the Underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo. Pursuant
to the Underwriting Agreement, up to 1,569,711,046 Rights
Shares, being all the Underwritten Rights Shares excluding the
506,680,329 Shares under the Irrevocable Undertakings would
be partially underwritten by Galloway as the Underwriter in
accordance with the terms of the Underwriting Agreement, with
the underwriting commission being approximately HK$1.23 million
(or approximately US$0.16 million), being 1% of the aggregate
subscription amount in respect of the maximum number of
Underwritten Shares committed to be underwritten, subscribed for
or procured subscription for by the Underwriter.
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COMPLETION OF THE CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

Completion of the Connected Transactions in relation to
the Underwriting Agreement and the Set Off (Continued)

The terms of the Underwriting Agreement were determined after
arm’s length negotiations between the parties with reference to
the financial position of the Group, the size of the Rights Issue, the
current and expected market conditions, taking into consideration
the prevailing market rates of underwriting commission in over
10 rights issue exercises undertaken by listed issuers in Hong
Kong during the six months prior to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 September 2022 (the “Announcement”)
which were underwritten with an average commission at 3.0%
and rates ranging from 1.0% to 7.1%, trading liquidity and
risks associated with the underwriting, the intention of the
Underwriter to facilitate the Company's fundraising efforts for its
business development and working capital requirements, and the
relationship between the Underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo.

The Directors (other than the members of the Independent Board
Committee whose opinion is set forth in the Letter from the
Independent Board Committee in the Circular after considering the
advice from the Independent Financial Adviser) are of the view that
the terms of the Underwriting Agreement are fair and reasonable
as far as the Independent Shareholders are concerned, and the
transactions contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement are
on normal commercial terms and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Set Off on the principal amount of the Shareholder’s Loans
together with the accrued loan interest owed by the Company to
Galloway (as creditor), which is also the Underwriter, in aggregate
of approximately US$14.84 million was completed on 12 January
2023.

The Company used part of the proceeds from the Rights Issue to
Set Off the Shareholder’s Loans held by Galloway in light of: (i) the
Set Off in the Rights Issue was one of the key factors affecting the
willingness of Galloway to act as the Underwriter for the Rights
Issue; (i) the maturity dates of the Shareholder’s Loans; and (ii)
saving of any related financing costs.
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COMPLETION OF THE CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS (conTINUED)

Completion of the Connected Transactions in relation to
the Underwriting Agreement and the Set Off (Continued)

Pursuant to the Set Off under the Underwriting Agreement, the
Underwriter, James Mellon, Indigo and the Company agreed
that the total amount of subscription monies payable by the
Underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo for the Rights Shares to
which they are entitled to and/or are required to subscribe for
(if any) under the Rights Issue and the Underwriting Agreement,
respectively, would be set off on a dollar-to-dollar basis against the
equivalent amount of the Shareholder's Loans and accrued interest
thereon on the completion date of the Rights Issue. On 12 January
2023, HK$39,774,405.82, being the subscription money paid by
Galloway as the Underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo, has been
used to set off against the equivalent amount of the Shareholder’s
Loans owed by the Company to Galloway.

As James Mellon is a substantial shareholder of the Company and
both Galloway as the Underwriter and Indigo are wholly-owned by
James Mellon, therefore James Mellon, the Underwriter and Indigo
are regarded as connected persons of the Company. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under the Underwriting Agreement
and the Set Off constitute connected transactions for the
Company under the Listing Rules which are subject to the
reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Shareholders
with a material interest in the transactions contemplated under
the Underwriting Agreement and the Set Off had abstained from
voting on the relevant resolution at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 24 November 2022. As James
Mellon and Jayne Sutcliffe who is a concert party of James
Mellon were materially interested in the Rights Issue, the Placing
Agreement, the Underwriting Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, they had also abstained from voting at
the Board resolutions approving such matters. The Independent
Board Committee comprised all the then INEDs including David
Comba, Julie Oates and Mark Searle held two Independent Board
Committee meetings on 13 September 2022 and 3 October 2022
respectively to approve, among other matters, the proposed Rights
Issue. The Rights Issue was completed on 12 January 2023.
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COMPLETION OF THE CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
SIGNIFICANT CONTRACTS (conTinuED)

Completion of the Connected Transactions in relation to
the Underwriting Agreement and the Set Off (Continued)

Capitalised terms herein refer to the context of the Circular and
the Company’s prospectus dated 13 December 2022 unless
expressed otherwise.

Save as disclosed above, no connected transactions, arrangement
or contract of significance in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director is or was materially interested, either
directly or indirectly, were conducted or subsisted during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

COMPLETION OF RIGHTS ISSUE

On 26 September 2022, the Board proposed to conduct the
Rights Issue. The proposed Rights Issue was duly approved by the
independent Shareholders by the way of poll at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 24 November 2022 and
completed on 12 January 2023. A total of 2,166,571,194 Rights
Shares had been issued and allotted at the subscription price of
HK$0.0785 per Rights Share.

The Directors consider that the Rights Issue would be in the best
interests of the Company and Shareholders as a whole because
it: (i) offers certainty as to the fund raising size by the Company
as it is partially underwritten; (i) allows the Group to recapitalise
its balance sheet by repaying in full the Shareholder’s Loans
from the proceeds received and the Set Off to be implemented,;
(iii) significantly improves the financial position and gearing ratio
of the Group by turning the Company into an essentially debt
free enterprise; (iv) facilitates the Group in reducing its future
financing costs by early repayment of its outstanding debts;
(v) provides sufficient working capital to the Group for its on-
going requirements and business development requirements; and
(vi) gives the qualifying shareholders the opportunity to maintain
their respective pro-rata shareholding interests in the Company
and to continue to participate in the future development of the
Company.

Details of the above Rights Issue are set forth in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2022, 17 October 2022,
31 October 2022, 24 November 2022, 3 January 2023 and
11 January 2023, the Company's circular dated 31 October 2022
and the Company’s prospectus dated 13 December 2022.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the Set Off
and expenses) were approximately HK$170.08 million (or
approximately US$21.67 million) and the net proceeds from the
Rights Issue (before the Set Off and after deducting the estimated
expenses of approximately HK$6.28 million (or approximately
US$0.80 million)) were approximately HK$163.80 million (or
approximately US$20.87 million). In its announcement of
26 September 2022, the Company mentioned that it intends
to apply the net proceeds to (i) approximately 63.63% (up to
approximately HK$104.23 million, or approximately US$13.28
million) for the Set Off upon completion of the Rights Issue; (ii)
approximately 26.37% (up to approximately HK$43.19 million,
or approximately US$5.50 million) for implementation of business
development plan as described under the paragraph headed
“Business development” in the prospectus dated 13 December
2022; and (iii) the remaining 10.00% (up to approximately
HK$16.38 million, or approximately US$2.09 million) as general
working capital of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
had been utilised as follows:
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Expected
Proposed use of net proceeds timeline of
as disclosed in the announcement  Actual use of net proceeds Unutilised net proceeds full utilisation
on 11 January 2023 up to 31 December 2023 as of 31 December 2023 of the balance
—E_=E-At+-HAH EE S okl
FRikEE 2 FR1S IR B ERN “E_=H+ZRA=+-Hz CZE_=H+°A=+-HZ &2
EE 1} FRERIR RN EIR A RYBFRFRERE FHRER
HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million
BEAT BEET BEAT BEET BEAT BEET
Set Off 104.23 13.28 (104.23) (13.28) - -
i
Business development 43.19 5.50 (34.84) (4.45) 835 1.05  1Q2024
EBER ZEImE
FFE
General working capital 16.38 2.09 (16.38) (2.09) - -
—REEET
163.80 20.87 (155.45) (19.82) 835 1.05
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had certain
related parties transactions under the applicable accounting
standards, while there were no related parties transactions
disclosed in note 40 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
which constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to
Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules. The Company
confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s emoluments
and of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out
in notes 13(a) and 12(b) to the Consolidated Financial Statements
and the Corporate Governance Report as applicable.

The remuneration payable to Directors will depend on
their respective contractual terms under their employment
contracts or service contracts as approved by the Board on the
recommendation of the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. Key employees will be rewarded
by a combination of salaries, profit related discretionary bonuses
and Share Options, where appropriate. For employees below
Board level, remuneration will be determined by the Director(s)
responsible for the division whilst, for Directors, remuneration is
determined by the Remuneration Committee. No Directors should
be involved in deciding his or her own remuneration. In all cases,
profit related discretionary bonuses and grants of Share Options
will be agreed by the Remuneration Committee.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme (2016)” and “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures”
of this report, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2023 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of the Shares in or debentures of the Company
and none of the Directors, their spouses or children under 18 years
of age, had any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company,
or had exercised any such rights.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained Directors and officers
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the Directors and officers of the Group against their
potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in
the course of performing their duties. The level of the insurance
coverage is subject to review annually.

MANAGEMENT’S CONTRACT

Save for contracts of service with any Director or any person
engaged in the full-time employment of the Company, no other
contracts of the Company were entered into or subsisted during
the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date
of this report, none of the Directors and their respective close
associates (within the meaning of the Listing Rules) had an interest
in any business that competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, save that the
following companies may pursue investment opportunities that
may compete against the Company:

(1) Compedica Holdings Limited (“Compedica”)

Compedica is a private single product medical device
company based near Oxford, in the UK, focusing on the
treatment of diabetic foot ulcers, which are a comorbidity of
diabetic mellitus.

James Mellon and through his associate hold approximately
47.6% of the total issued share capital of Compedica. Jamie
Gibson, who is a non-executive director and chairman of
Compedica, holds approximately 8.2% of the total issued
share capital of Compedica. The Company does not hold any
interests in the total issued share capital of Compedica.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (continueD)

(2) Juvenescence Limited (“Juvenescence”)

Juvenescence is a private and multinational healthcare
science company based in the Isle of Man that focuses in
human ageing and longevity, aiming to build a platform and
pipeline of affordable quality products targeting ageing, age-
related issues and cell regeneration.

James Mellon, who is a director and chairman of the
board of Juvenescence, and through his associate hold
approximately 18.60% of the total issued share capital of
Juvenescence. The Company does not hold any interests in
the total issued share capital of Juvenescence.

(3) Portage Biotech Inc (“Portage Biotech”)

Portage Biotech (CSE: PBT.U and OTCBB: PTGEF) is dually
listed on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of NASDAQ of
the US and the Canadian Securities Exchange, focusing on
discovering and developing innovative cell permeable peptide
therapies and developing drug therapies.

James Mellon, who is a director of Portage Biotech, and
through his associates hold approximately 17.89% of the
total issued share capital of Portage Biotech. The Company
does not hold any interests in the total issued share capital of
Portage Biotech.

Currently, the existing businesses of the above companies do not
compete against the Company’s existing businesses. Should the
Company and any of the above companies come into competition
in the future, no Director of the Company shall vote on any board
resolution of the Company approving any contract or arrangement
or any other proposal in which they or any of their close associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material interest, nor shall
they be counted in the quorum present in the meeting, in each
case if, and to the extent, required under Rule 13.44 of the Listing
Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2023,
the following entity or person (other than James Mellon, being
a Director), whose interests are set out in the section headed
"Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” of this report, had
interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept

FERRRIN AP B ARR A (7 Z M e
e
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by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise XFARFAT ZE@IKE !
notified to the Stock Exchange and the Company pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:
Total interest Derivative
(Number of Approximate interests
Class of Capacity Long/Short Shares held) percentage (Number of
Name of Shareholder Shares in Shares position (note) holding Shares held)
EniaE
(HERH%E) e it
RRAH IR HERGhZEH B/ %8 (M%) Bt BBERGHEE)
Galloway Limited Ordinary shares ~ Beneficial owner  Long position 86,193,787 37.74% nil
Lk BmEAA e &
Note: PoEE
After completion of the Rights Issue on 12 January 2023, completion of EHER -2 =F—A+"HRmE -KRHS
the Share Consolidation on 5 June 2023 and as of 31 December 2023, HNRZZ-_=F - ALHEHZRERBE-Z"=

the aggregate number of Shares held by Galloway were 1,723,875,752
Shares, 86,193,787 Shares and 86,193,787 Shares respectively.

Save for such interests, the Directors are not aware of any other
persons, who, as at 31 December 2023 or the date of this report,
had any interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Stock Exchange and the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group’s major customers (i.e. the distributors/licensees)
order the medical products directly from the manufacturers, and
then sell the medical products by themselves, the amount of “cost
of goods sold” or “purchase” will only be recorded in the books
of the major customers. Thus, there are no cost of goods sold and
major suppliers of the Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (conTinueD)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of revenue
of royalty income accounted for by the largest customer amounted
to0 58.88%.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the percentage of revenue
contributed by the five largest customers amounted to 85.06%.

At no time during the financial year ended 31 December 2023,
the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholders (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares) had any interest in these customers.

AUDITOR

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company in
relation to the change of Auditor dated 21 June 2023. The Board
had conducted an external audit tender process in accordance
with good corporate governance practice as BDO Limited
("BDO"), the resigning external auditor of the Company, has
provided auditing services to the Company for 12 financial years.
As a result of this process, the Company announced that BDO had
resigned as the Auditor with effect from 21 June 2023 and RSM
Hong Kong (“RSM”) had been appointed as the Auditor with
effect from 21 June 2023. BDO had confirmed in its resignation
letter to the Company and the Audit Committee that there were
no matters in respect of its resignation that needed to be brought
to the attention of the Shareholders.

The Board, with the recommendation of the Audit Committee,
had resolved to appoint RSM with effect from 21 June 2023 as
the new Auditor to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation
of BDO, and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company subject to appointment by the
Shareholders in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company by way of ordinary resolution.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 have been audited by RSM. RSM, which has
indicated its willingness to continue in office, shall retire at the
2024 AGM and, being eligible, offers itself for re-appointment.
An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the 2024 AGM to
re-appoint RSM as the independent auditor of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EFTHRE

FTEERRMER @

HE T =—F+_A=+—HIEE BX
BEEMEBENEHAERANE DEA58.88%

BE_E_=F1+_HB=+—HIEEE A%
RAEPFTERWABNE D E%485.06% ©

REEZZT_=—F+-A=+—HIEMEF
E B REXEMBANEARR BES
PRl REEB A RBERITRNBES%) £
BRZEERRBEEEAED

£ 4

IRMAABRHBEA_ZT - =%XA
_+—EIE’J’1N7FE NABRAERZEET - B
KABRHENIIEZBAME A IEERES
MEBARAR (EBILGEESR) BERAEA

BT T ZEMBEENZERT  RES
BERBREFLEE AT RETINEZEED
KRIEEF -REZER ARBEMEEBILE
EREHERB B S _=FA°+—
HREER REREGFAMEBAERAE
(TEHR%E) EZXxAREM B2 =

AAZ+—HRER -BEIUGESFENHE

FRAREABDRBELEZEGHESD  HEEH
HRENEERRFRRET
EXCEBELZEGNHE T REZEER

EREMZEET BT _=F /B -+—H
BEXN LUEMEB L ERRMTRIVERRE
R EMEERARRA TERRBEREERS
I EARBAABABERMA S ERE
ZHABERREE

BE T+ _A=+—HLEENK
G BRREEPRE R %$%E%%@E
B ZRABRRKR-_Z_MNEREBFAE L
BRE CERIBESEEE N _T_MER
RBFARE LREE -REFEREZRZLUER
BEEBAABDZIBIIZEED

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #§

51



52

DIRECTORS' REPORT
ESEHRS

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 29 March
2023, 27 April 2023, 1 June 2023 and 13 July 2023, the
Company's circular dated 27 April 2023 and the 2022 Annual
Report, the Board proposed to change the name of the Company
from “Endurance RP Limited” to “Regent Pacific Group Limited”
and adopt the foreign name in Chinese of “Bi& XX EEA
FR/AE]" to replace the Chinese name of the Company, "EREE
EHBEAR", which was used for identification purposes only
(collectively, the “Change of Company Name”).

The Change of Company name became effective on 6 July 2023.
The logo of the Company has been changed to "€8”. The stock
code of the Company on the Stock Exchange remains unchanged
s “575". The stock short name of the Company for trading in
the Shares on the Stock Exchange has been changed to “REGENT
PACIFIC" in English and "B & &K% " in Chinese. The website of
the Company has been changed to “www.regentpac.com”. The
Change of Company Name and change of stock short name of
the Company will not affect the rights of any Shareholders or the
Company’s daily business operation and its financial position.

CHANGE OF MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 29 March
2023, the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023 and the 2022
Annual Report, the Board proposed to make certain amendments
(the “Amendments”) to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company (the “Memorandum and Articles
of Association”) in order to, among other things, (i) align
them with the core standards for shareholder protections as set
out in Appendix 3 (now known as Appendix A1) to the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws and regulations of the Cayman
Islands; (i) allow general meetings of the Company to be held as
electronic meetings or hybrid meetings where Shareholders may
attend and vote by electronic means in addition to or in place of
attending physical meetings in person; and (iii) incorporate various
housekeeping amendments and corresponding consequential
changes. The Board also proposes to adopt the new set of
amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of Association
of the Company (the “Amended and Restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association”) incorporating the Amendments in
substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the existing Memorandum
and Articles of Association.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

o YNCERY

HNAABRBEA_S_=ZF£=A_+hB"
“_E=FAC +tE\:$:_¢AH—
BRZZEZ=FtA+=HHNAfH £
%%_E:EEEH:+tE%@@&:$
TR E  EEEREERNATNLTE
I Endurance RP Limited J2¢ %[ Regent Pacific
Group Limited | » MR XN BB IEI &K
THEEBEBERAE > MIEERREAT ZHX
LB EREEBRAR BEEHEEIZH
(BB AT &) °

BRATLBRN _E_=FtRHBHEX-
KA BN R Teg) c KRBT
BEAR SR T 575 ) AERF A& o RN B AR Bt X PR
BEERMZEXKRAXNKRAEBEDBINS
FREGENT PACIFIC ) 2 TR @K TF#F) o AR E]
HuEEF A Twww.regentpac.com J ° &R AF]
2ERABLBREARGEBE G E
EARRZEN AR BEBEBEER
HE AR

EARAREREXE R

MM ARBHBEA S =F=F=+NH
ZAB A RBHEA T Z=F0A
_+tEEﬁLu7§z_$::EE$EFJﬂ)§E§’%
EEEBHANBD 2 ARMABERE XA KA
(@‘Jﬁﬂﬁa&kﬁlﬂ&%ﬂiﬁm) fEH & F1EET
(MEET1) » U (EAPEE (VEHEE iR
= (RIBHIERAT) PR EAZ O BY IR R R BE 7K
KBS EE B A AN RRAIE— () asFA
NEIRBEAREEUETFEZAANTEECE &
FRBT RERRSEEERZEIN ~a]
WUEBFAINHE ; KA S TEMIET A
FENE R - EE G I EZIRNEHABTHER
NEMBETREN Z ATEBER KA
A (MHETRE Z ATMABERR KM KA
Al > UMEBRERBBRAABRITZARMAME
T2 KA R AR o



CHANGE OF MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF
ASSOCIATION (conTiNUED)

The Amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association and the adoption of the Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association were duly approved by
the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM. The Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association is available at the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

CAPITAL REORGANISATION

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 29 March
2023, the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023 and the 2022
Annual Report, the Board proposed to implement the Capital
Reorganisation involving the following:

(i)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

the Share Consolidation whereby every twenty (20) issued
and unissued Shares of par value of US$0.01 each was
consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share of par value of
US$0.20 each;

the Capital Reduction whereby the par value of each issued
Consolidated Share was reduced from US$0.20 to US$0.001
by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent of US$0.199
on each issued Consolidated Share;

the Share Subdivision whereby immediately following the
Capital Reduction, each of the authorised but unissued
Consolidated Shares with par value of US$0.20 each was
subdivided into 200 Adjusted Shares with par value of
US$0.001 each. Forthwith the Share Subdivision becoming
effective, the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased to US$143,550,000.00 by the creation of such
number of additional Adjusted Shares as shall be sufficient
to increase the authorised share capital of the Company
to US$143,550,000.00 divided into (a) 143,000,000,000
ordinary Adjusted Shares and (b) 550,000,000 unclassified
Adjusted Shares; and

the credit arising from the Capital Reduction was applied
towards offsetting the Accumulated Losses in a manner
as permitted by all applicable laws and the Amended and
Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association and as
the Board considers appropriate. The balance of the credit
(if any) of the Share Premium Account after offsetting the
Accumulated Losses was applied by the Company in any
manner as permitted by all applicable laws and the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association.
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CAPITAL REORGANISATION (conTinuED)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 1 June
2023 and 2 August 2023, the proposed Share Consolidation,
Capital Reduction and Share Subdivision were duly approved by
the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM and a court order was made
by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands confirming the Capital
Reduction. The Capital Reduction and the Share Subdivision
became effective before 9:00 a.m. on 3 August 2023 (Hong Kong
time) and the commencement of dealing in the Adjusted Shares
was revised to at 9:00 a.m. on 3 August 2023 (Hong Kong time).
All existing share certificates of the Consolidated Shares or (as the
case may be) the Shares continue to be evidence of title to such
shares but ceased to be valid for trading and settlement purpose.

EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2023

On 25 March 2024, the Company announced that Amerinvest
Coal Industry Holding Company Limited (“ACIL"), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (“SPA”) with FRIEREHERERAT
(unofficial English translation: Qujing Black Gold Energy Co.,
Ltd.) (“Black Gold”) on 24 March 2024, pursuant to which ACIL
conditionally agreed to sell, and Black Gold conditionally agreed
to acquire, 25% equity interest in West China Coking & Gas
Company Limited, an associate of the Group, at the consideration
of RMB8 million (or approximately US$1.11 million) net of any
taxes in the PRC, subject to the terms of the SPA. Details are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2024.

On Behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

27 March 2024
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EFNEREREZEEFS

UTARAREAPZEEEFTREREE

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management who
hold office as at the date of this report are as follows:

DIRECTORS

1.

James Mellon (alias: Jim Mellon), NED and Chairman of
the Board, aged 67, British, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company in July 1991, and was re-designated
as a Non-Executive Director in May 2002, and is currently
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors. He holds
a Master's degree in Politics, Philosophy and Economics
from Oxford University and, since graduating in 1978, his
entire career has been spent in asset management. Mr
Mellon worked for GT Management Plc from 1978 to
1984. In July 1984, he joined the Thornton Group where
he was Managing Director of the Asian operation. From
1988 to 1990, he was an executive director of Tyndall
Holdings Plc responsible for business expansion and
corporate development. In 1990, Mr Mellon co-founded
and became Chief Executive of the Company. In 1994, he
became Chairman of the Company. Mr Mellon has over 30
years’ investment experience in Asia. He specialises in the
development and restructuring of international investment
vehicles, and travels extensively across the region on
company visits and fact-finding missions. He is also a director
of a subsidiary of the Company. Mr Mellon is also: (i) an
executive chairman of Agronomics Limited (having stepped
down as the chairman of its board on 31 May 2019 and
remaining as a non-executive director until 14 December
2023 when he was appointed chairman), a non-executive
chairman of Condor Gold plc and the executive chairman
of the board of Manx Financial Group plc, all of which are
listed on the London Stock Exchange AIM (“AIM”); (i) a
non-executive director of Bradda Head Holdings Limited
(which was de-listed from AIM on 6 October 2017 and
readmitted to trading as of 19 July 2021); (iii) the non-
executive chairman of the board of Speymill Deutsche
Immobilien Company plc (which was de-listed from AIM on
31 May 2011); and (iv) a director of Portage Biotech (which
is dually listed on the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of
NASDAQ of the United States and the Canadian Securities
Exchange), of which Mr Mellon resigned as a non-executive
director on 14 August 2020 and re-joined the board on
15 February 2022. He was formerly: (i) the non-executive
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chairman of the board of FastForward Innovations Limited
(an AlM-listed company); (ii) the non-executive chairman of
the board of Rivington Street Holdings Limited (which was
delisted from ICAP Securities and Derivatives Exchange (ISDX)
in the United Kingdom on 3 April 2014 and was dissolved
on 20 October 2017); (iii) the non-executive chairman of the
board of SalvaRx Group Plc (which was de-listed from AIM
on 9 January 2020), which, following a group re-structuring
in March 2017, disposed of all its investments and business
interests to its subsidiary, namely SalvaRx Limited; (iv) the
executive chairman of the board of Speymill plc (which was
de-listed from AIM on 2 February 2015 and was dissolved
on 20 October 2017); (v) a non-executive director of West
African Minerals Corporation (then an AIM-listed company,
and now listed on the London Stock Exchange Standard as
Okyo Pharma Limited), resigned on 13 November 2017.

Jamie Alexander Gibson, Executive Director and CEO,
aged 58, British, joined the Group in April 1996 and was
appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company in January 2002. In May 2002, he
became CEO of the Company. Mr Gibson has spent most
of his professional career with the Company specialising in
corporate finance, direct equity investments and structuring
emerging market investment products. Prior to joining the
Company, he worked at Clifford Chance, Coopers & Lybrand
and KPMG. Mr Gibson has a law degree from Edinburgh
University. He is also a director of a number of subsidiaries of
the Company, including: (i) Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding
Company Limited, which in turn holds a 25% equity interest
in West China Coking & Gas Company Limited; (i) Plethora;
and (iii) Deep Longevity. Mr Gibson is a non-executive
director and chairman of Compedica, a private company of
which he holds approximately 8.2% interest and Galloway is
the major shareholder.
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3.

Jayne Allison Sutcliffe (maiden name: Jayne Allison
Wigley), NED, aged 60, British, was appointed as the
Group Corporate Finance Director in August 1991 and was
re-designated as a NED in June 2000. Mrs Sutcliffe has spent
most of her professional career in the fund management
industry specialising in sales and marketing initially at
Thornton Management and then at Tyndall Holdings Plc.
Mrs Sutcliffe co-founded the Group in 1990 where she
established, and was responsible for, the Group's corporate
finance activities. She has a Master's degree in Theology
from Oxford University. Mrs Sutcliffe is a non-executive
director and chairperson of WHEB Asset Management LLP,
which is a boutique asset management company. She was
formerly the Group Chief Executive of Charlemagne Capital
Limited (“CCL", which was de-listed from the London Stock
Exchange AIM on 15 December 2016 upon completion of
the 100% acquisition of CCL by Fiera Capital Corporation
(which is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange) by a scheme
of arrangement on 14 December 2016).

Stawell Mark Searle (alias: Sam Searle), INED, aged 80,
British, has been an INED of the Company since October
2001. He has over 30 years' experience in the investment
management industry. Having trained with Jardine
Matheson, the Far Eastern trading house in London, he
was seconded to Samuel Montagu where he worked for
two years in their Investment Department. Subsequently,
Mr Searle joined Investment Intelligence Limited becoming
Investment Director responsible for management of a stable
of open ended funds. Between 1982 and 1987, he was
Managing Director of Richards Longstaff Limited, a privately
owned investment consultancy. In the following ten years,
he was Investment Director of Gerrard Asset Management.
Mr Searle has been a director of a number of closed-ended
funds during his career.
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5.

Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan, INED, aged 45, Australian,
has been an INED of the Company since April 2023.
He graduated from the University of New South Wales,
Australia with a bachelor degree in commerce in accounting
and finance in April 2000. He has been a member of
CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since June 2006 and November 2009
respectively.

Mr Chan has over 24 years of experience in accounting,
financial management and corporate finance. He started his
career with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked in the
audit department of the firm from January 2000 to March
2000. Mr Chan then worked in various financial institutions
and investment banks between April 2000 and November
2009, including DBS Vickers Securities, with his last position
as an executive in the corporate finance department, from
April 2000 to December 2001, DBS Asia Capital Limited,
with his last position as assistant vice president in equity
capital markets, wholesale banking-global financial markets
from January 2002 to July 2005, and UOB Asia (Hong Kong)
Limited, with his last position as associate director, from July
2005 to November 2009.

After leaving UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited in November
2009, Mr Chan switched his career from corporate finance
to financial management. From November 2009 to June
2015, he was the chief financial officer of Enviro Energy
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1102), where he
was responsible for overall financial management, internal
control function and accounting function. From November
2011 to June 2021, Mr Chan served as an independent non-
executive director of Grand Baoxin Auto Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1293). Since July 2015, Mr Chan has served
as the chief financial officer of Sun Ray Capital Investment
Corporation, a private investment company based in
Hong Kong; since July 2018, Mr Chan has served as the
chief financial officer of LabyRx Immunologic Therapeutics
Limited, a bio-medical company focused on developing
a comprehensive platform for treating adenocarcinomas;
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since August 2018, Mr Chan has served as the chief
financial officer of Lifespans Limited, a medical device start-
up company; and since January 2021, Mr Chan has served
as a regional director of The CFO (HK) Limited, a company
providing part-time chief financial officers services.

Mr Chan is an independent non-executive director of
Cheerwin Group Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6601) and Best
Linking Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9882) with
effect from 29 September 2023, following the transfer
of listing of its shares from the GEM Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8617).

lhsan Al Chalabi, INED, aged 54, British, has been an
INED of the Company since August 2023. He graduated
from University of Hartford Business School in France
and the United States with a master degree of business
administration, specialising in finance and management, in
July 1995, and from University of Southampton in England
with a bachelor degree of engineering in aeronautics &
astronautics in July 1991. Mr Al Chalabi has over 30 years of
experience, working in engineering, management consulting
and finance. From December 2008 to present, Mr Al Chalabi
worked as a director in CASP-R Limited, a Hong Kong based
independent advisory and consulting firm primarily serving
the tech sector, especially fintech, SaaS, agtech, healthcare,
and sustainability, which is beneficially owned by Mr Al
Chalabi. From July 2005 to April 2008, Mr Al Chalabi worked
as the regional operations and finance director in CBRE, a
global corporate services company. From August 2001 to
July 2005, Mr Al Chalabi worked as the principal consultant
in Alfa-labs Limited, an Asia-based management consulting
firm providing advisory services on strategy, benchmarking,
financial modelling and programme management. From
1999 to 2001, Mr Al Chalabi worked at the Company in
the role of director of strategy and business development
responsible for overseeing the Company’s portfolio of
technology investments and as tasked with establishing
relationships with fund management companies in Mainland
China and exploring collaborative opportunities.
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Paul Eric Jones, Investment Director, aged 59, Canadian,
has over 30 years of experience in the energy industry and
corporate finance. This has included various professional
disciplines encompassing fund management, banking and
business development. Before joining the Group in April
2011, Mr Jones was employed for six years with a Canadian
private equity fund, where he was principally engaged in
evaluating investment opportunities on behalf of the firm's
investors and managing a portfolio of public and private
securities. Prior thereto, Mr Jones was a Director in the
energy group at the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce
(CIBC) where he specialised in debt financing and providing
advisory services to oil and gas producers. Previous to his
banking career, Mr Jones was a financial analyst with TC
Energy Corp. (@ Canadian power generation and energy
transmission company), where he was responsible for
initiatives related to bond issuance, project finance, capital
budgeting and investor relations. Mr Jones holds a Bachelor
of Arts and a Master of Business Administration (Finance),
both from the University of Calgary.

Professor Michael Grant Wyllie (alias: Mike Wyllie),
Chief Scientific Officer, aged 73, British, has particular
responsibility for the process of securing approvals of the
product, regulatory compliance and assisting the CEO in
the commercial development of Fortacin™ of Plethora. Prof
Wyllie is a co-founder of Plethora. He has over 30 years
of experience in senior management level positions within
the pharmaceutical industry, with Wyeth and Pfizer. He has
considerable hands-on experience in all aspects of the drug
discovery and development process, and has been involved
with new project inception, drug discovery and safety testing,
early and late stage clinical development, regulatory filing,
and the successful commercialisation of products, including
Cardura® (doxazosin), Enablex® (darifenacin) and Viagra®
(sildenafil). Prof Wyllie sits on the Clinical Trial Design and
Future Therapies in BPH Committees of the World Health
Organisation International Consultations on Urological
Disease and the International Advisory Panel to The University
of Strathclyde. He is an assistant editor of the British Journal
of Urology in the Sexual Medicine Section. He has over
200 publications and is the named inventor of over 80
patents.
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3.

Wong Yui Fui, Frankie, Chief Financial Officer, aged 49,
Chinese, joined the Group in July 2000 and was promoted
as Chief Financial Officer in 2011. Mr Wong is a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a Fellow Member of The Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in UK. He has the degree
of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Prior to joining the Company, he has
gained extensive experience in auditing and accounting with
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Lui Mei Yan Winnie, Company Secretary, aged 49, Chinese,
joined the Group in May 2021. Ms Lui is a Chartered
Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional, and a Fellow
of both The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in UK. She holds a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration and a Master’s
degree in Business Administration. Ms Lui has extensive
experience in the company secretarial field and corporate
governance practices with listed companies. Ms Lui formerly
acted as the company secretary of a number of listed
companies on the Stock Exchange.
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REVENUE AND PROFIT

The Group recorded a loss attributable to the shareholders of
the Company of approximately US$25.05 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (Year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately US$36.43 million).

The main elements of the profit/(loss) are analysed as follows:

A (B8 2T BEE DM T ¢

For the year ended 31 December

BEtCAZ+-ALER .

(decrease) in

2023 2022 absolute value

BHE

- S k- o s,/ Geib)

Notes US$ million USS$ million %

izt BRER BEER

Royalty income EXFERERA 0.17 0.04 325.00
Income arising from the IP (Deep Longevity) %038 #(Deep Longevity)

ELHRMA 0.12 0.07 7143

Other income 2t A 0.03 0.11 (12.73)

Exchange gain/(loss), net BERNE/ (58 0.17 (0.11) /A
Fair value (loss), gair/(loss) on disposal of HESRMIEZAREER

financial instruments it/ (§548) i 0.05 4.13) N/A

Impairment loss on an intangible asset B EERNERR i (1.52) = N/A

Impairment loss on right-of-use assets FREEEZHESS i (1.15) - N/A

Amortisation of intangible assets B EEEH v (22.18) (24.95) (11.10)

R&D expenditure FRERESY v (1.38) (1.22) 13.11

G&A expenditure —RRTBER (4.69) (4.81) (2.49)

Finance costs HEMA Vi (0.08) (1.01) (92.08)

Income tax credit/(expense) FsiiEe/ (B Vi 5.41 (0.42) N/A
Total loss attributable to FARRREGHRESE

shareholders of the Company (25.05) (36.43) (31.24)

()  The Group recorded a realised gain and an unrealised
marked-to-market loss on FAFVPL of approximately
US$91,000 and US$38,000 respectively for the year ended
31 December 2023 (Year ended 31 December 2022: a
realised and an unrealised marked-to-market loss on FAFVPL
of approximately US$3.78 million and US$0.35 million
respectively), which resulted from the mild fluctuation in the
share price of DVP during the year when comparing with the
significant drop in the share price of DVP in 2022.
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REVENUE AND PROFIT (conTinuED)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group assessed the
FVLCOD of the IP (Deep Longevity) using the discounted cash
flow method. The fair value measurement is categorised in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The asset is classified in
the Group’s Biopharma segment. In assessing the FVLCOD
of the IP (Deep Longevity), the Directors reviewed the cash
flow forecast prepared by management for the four-year
period to 31 December 2027 and applied a discount rate of
15%. Having regard to financial results of Deep Longevity
for the financial year ended 31 December 2023, it was noted
that (a) the results were approximately 59% lower than the
forecast made in the previous year, and (b) Deep Longevity
experienced difficult and uncertain market conditions in
2023, which resulted in net cash outflow during the cash
flow forecast period to 31 December 2027. Consequently,
the recoverable amount of the IP (Deep Longevity) was
determined to be nil and full impairment of US$1.52 million
was recognised in profit and loss.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group carried out a
review of the recoverable amount of its right-of-use assets
in 2023 (being the Group’s leases relating to its office
and warehouse in Hong Kong), having regard to Group's
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
a 31-month cash flow forecast up to 31 July 2026. After
various discussions relating to the cash flow forecast, in
particular, to the uncertainty pertaining to the timing and
receipt of a potential milestone, the said cash flow forecast
became a net cash outflow. Consequently, this review led
to the recognition of an impairment loss of approximately
US$1.15 million, which has been recognised in profit or loss.
The recoverable amount of nil was determined by referring to
a 31-month cash flow forecast of the Group, which covered
the entire leasing terms of the office and the warehouse.

The Group recorded an amortisation of intangible assets
of approximately US$22.18 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (Year ended 31 December 2022:
approximately US$24.95 million). The decrease was mainly
due to the patent (Fortacin™) being fully amortised on 19
November 2023 and going forward, there will no longer be
an amortisation charge relating to the patent (Fortacin™),
which amounted to approximately US$21.80 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

REVENUE AND PROFIT (continuep)

(v) The R&D expenditure increased by 13.11% to approximately
US$1.38 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
from approximately US$1.22 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was a result of inflation during the
year.

(vi) The finance costs decreased by 92.08% to approximately
US$0.08 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
from approximately US$1.01 million for the year ended 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the full settlement
of both the Convertible Notes in August 2022 and the
shareholders’ loans in January 2023.

(vii) The Group recorded an income tax credit of approximately

US$5.41 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 when

comparing with the income tax expense of approximately

US$0.42 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

This was mainly because the Group recorded a deferred tax

expense and liability of approximately US$5.16 million due

to the change of Patent Box tax rate for the year ended 31

December 2022, which was fully amortised in 2023.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group recorded a capital deficiency of approximately
US$1.55 million as at 31 December 2023 (At 31 December
2022: shareholders’ equity of approximately US$2.60 million),
with the decrease of approximately US$4.15 million being
mainly attributable to the loss attributable to shareholders of the
Company, which were offset somewhat by the Rights Issue.

The Group's assets comprised: (i) listed and unlisted investments
of approximately US$0.32 million; (ii) cash and bank balances of
approximately US$2.10 million; (iii) property, plant and equipment,
and prepayment, deposits and other receivables of approximately
US$0.31 million; and (iv) restricted bank balances of US$$32,000.

The Group’s liabilities comprised: (i) trade payables, contract
liabilities, accruals and other payables of approximately
US$3.15 million; (ii) long-term and short-term lease liabilities of
approximately US$1.18 million; and (iii) long-term and short-term
bank borrowings of approximately US$20,000.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

BEERHATEBRGZ I m R

DEVELOPMENT OF FORTACIN™/SENTEND™ IN
DIFFERENT REGIONS

1)

2)

Expansion plan for Fortacin in Europe

The Group understands that the licensee, Recordati, will
continue to distribute, market and sell Fortacin™ in its key
markets in Europe, being France, Germany, Italy and Portugal
during 2024. Up to this moment, the Group has not received
the licensee’s expansion plan for its other markets in Europe.
An appropriate announcement will be made if available.

Commercialization of Fortacin/Senstend in PRC and
us

In respect of the progress being made with Senstend™ in the
PRC, the Phase 3 double blinded placebo-controlled studies
completed during the first half of 2023 and successfully
met all four co-primary endpoints of IELT. The Group, its
regulatory consultant and Wanbang Biopharmaceutical have
made significant progress in compiling the NDA dossier to
the NMPA with the aim of submitting the NDA to NMPA
in 2024, with approval expected 12 months thereafter.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group does
not receive any milestone payments. However, if the NMPA
grants an import licence for Senstend™, US$5 million (before
deduction of PRC withholding tax) shall be payable to the
Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical. In addition, upon
first commercial sale of Senstend™ in China, US$2 million
(before deduction of PRC withholding tax) shall be payable to
the Group from Wanbang Biopharmaceutical.

In respect of the US, the Group has continued its positive
discussions with the US FDA regarding the clinical protocol
for the Phase 3 studies and is continuing its discussions
into 2024 with the aim of formalising the clinical study
protocol, the study budgets, appointment of a clinical
regulatory organisation (to project manage/operate the
study) and estimated timelines. During the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group did not receive any milestone
income. If and when a license agreement is reached with a
US strategic partner, an appropriate announcement will be
made including details of any upfront, milestone and royalty
payments.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

DEVELOPMENT OF FORTACIN™/SENTEND™ IN
DIFFERENT REGIONS (continueD)

3) Sales progress of Fortacin in Taiwan, Hong Kong and
Macau, and the commercialization plan in Japan and
South Korea

During 2021 into 2022, Orient EuroPharma experienced
continued supply disruptions from Pharmaserve (North West)
Limited (“PSNW"), the first and previous manufacturer
of Fortacin™, which has significantly impacted on Orient
EuroPharma’s ability to supply Fortacin™ to Taiwan, Hong
Kong and Macau in 2H 2022 and 2023 when the first batch
of Fortacin™ received by Orient EuroPharma was sold out.

In respect of the relaunch of Fortacin™ in Taiwan, Hong
Kong and Macau, our licensee, Orient EuroPharma, is
in discussions with the new manufacturer on terms for
(i) regulatory support for submitting a variation to the
relevant health authority for the appointment of the new
manufacturer; and (ii) commercial terms for the manufacture
and supply of Fortacin™ for their respective territories in
South East Asia, including Taiwan, Hong Kong and Macau.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, no milestone or
royalty payments were received from Orient EuroPharma.
The Group is in discussions for”out licencing” the rights to
Fortacin™ to (i) a pharmaceutical company for the Japanese
market; and (ii) a pharmaceutical company for the South
Korean market. If and when a licence agreement is signed
between the parties, the Group will announce the terms of
the agreement in the appropriate manner.

For more information, please refer to the CEO's report in this 2023
Annual Report.

RIGHTS ISSUE

On 26 September 2022, the Company announced the proposed
Rights Issue to mainly (i) strengthen the financial status and
stability of the Group, (ii) enhance the Group’s liquidity and (iii)
lower the gearing level on the basis of one Rights Share for every
one existing Share held on the record date at the subscription
price of HK$0.0785 (or net price of approximately HK$0.076) per
Rights Share to the qualifying Shareholders as explained under
the prospectus of the Company dated 13 December 2022. On
the above announcement date, the closing price per Share was
HK$0.10. Subsequent to the passing of the proposed resolutions
in respect of the Rights Issue at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 24 November 2022, the Rights Issue
was completed on 12 January 2023 and 2,166,571,194 Rights
Shares, with an aggregate nominal value of approximately
US$21,665,000, were allotted and issued to the qualifying
Shareholders accordingly. Details are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 26 September 2022, 17 October 2022,
31 October 2022, 24 November 2022, 3 January 2023 and 11
January 2023, the circular of the Company dated 31 October
2022 and the prospectus of the Company dated 13 December
2022 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

BEERHATEBRGZ I m R

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue (before the Set Off
and expenses) were approximately HK$170.08 million (or
approximately US$21.67 million) and the net proceeds from
the Rights Issue (before the Set Off and after deducting the
estimated expenses of approximately HK$6.28 million (or
approximately US$0.80 million)) were approximately HK$163.80
million (or approximately US$20.87 million). As mentioned in its
announcement of 26 September 2022, the Company intended
to apply the net proceeds to (i) approximately 63.63% (up to
approximately HK$104.23 million, or approximately US$13.28
million) for the Set Off upon completion of the Rights Issue; (ii)
approximately 26.37% (up to approximately HK$43.19 million,
or approximately US$5.50 million) for implementation of business
development plan as described under the paragraph headed
“Business development” in the prospectus dated 13 December
2022; and (iii) the remaining 10.00% (up to approximately
HK$16.38 million, or approximately US$2.09 million) as general
working capital of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the Rights Issue
had been utilised as follows:

Proposed use of net proceeds
as disclosed in the announcement
on 11 January 2023

Actual use of net proceeds
up to 31 December 2023
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Expected
timeline of
full utilisation
of the balance

Unutilised net proceeds
as of 31 December 2023
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HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million HK$ million US$ million
BEAT BEET BEAT BEET BEET BEET
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OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
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STRATEGIC PLAN

The Board and the Company’s senior management play an
active role in the Company’s strategy development and planning
process. The CEO regularly interacts with the Board in respect of
the strategic plan and direction of the Company, during which
an agreed approach for the Company to generate and preserve
its long-term value was determined, while agreeing shorter term
priorities and objectives. In addition, the risks associated with the
current operations and strategy of the Company are currently
being tested by way of an internal audit process conducted
through an independent service provider, with the aim of
identifying ways in which the Company can better identify and
manage its risks.

In order to generate or preserve value over the longer term, the
Group is committed to:

° the divestment of non-core assets and investments to
enable the Company to pursue growth and opportunistic
investments in the life sciences sector;

e  utilising international and local expertise to tackle difficult
markets, deliver results and achieve global recognition; and

e employing the Company’s Hong Kong listing through strong
liquidity and access to international capital markets, together
with maintaining our corporate governance and social
responsibility standards in line with the policies set down by
the Stock Exchange and best practice.

The Company is committed to creating Shareholder value and
returns through accretive acquisitions and returning surplus capital
to Shareholders by way of an effective dividend policy and share
repurchase programme.

FUNDING

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately US$2.10
million in cash which does not take into account the Group's
holding of securities of FAFVPL that amounted to approximately
US$0.32 million.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

BEERHATEBRGZ I m R

GEARING RATIO

Due to the capital deficiency position as at 31 December 2023,
the gearing ratio calculated as a percentage of the Group’s long-
term debts over total equity became a meaningless figure (At 31
December 2022: 0.69%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023 (At 31 December 2022: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Gorup did not have any significant
investment in equity interests in any other companies and did not
own any properties (At 31 December 2022: nil).

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of a
subsidiary during the year ended 31 December 2023 (Year ended
31 December 2022: nil).

MATERIAL CHANGES FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2023

Save as disclosed in this 2023 Annual Report, there were no
significant changes in the Group's financial position and from
the information disclosed under Management's Discussion and
Analysis of the Group’s Performance in the annual financial report
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, a bank deposit amounting to
US$32,000 is a deposit held by the bank as security for the
corporate credit cards provided to a subsidiary of the Company (At
31 December 2022: US$32,000).

BFaEtEE

RN B =F+_"HA=+—HBMWEXE
AA BAREENRBEBRUEERN T
DEFENERAGEBLEEABERHT R
E__HF#+_H=+—H:069%) °

HAEE

REBR _E_=F+_"_A=+—HuEsS
AgRaER_E2E_—_F#+_BA=+—8 :

.
4iE) o
7y

EXGH

RIE_=F+_"_A=+—H > AEETER
EMEMATSEEENEARERE  INEHE
BEEFAYE (W2 =5+=-"8=+—8:

i) o

BERNEREEHEAT
KBE-E-=F+-A=+—BILEE &
EEMBEETEANBATDNERKERE
EH#HE_E__F+__RBA=+—HILEFE":
) o

BE-_E_-_=F+-A=1+—HIHF
EREKES)

BAEZZ_=—FFRAKEEIN ZEENM
BRAKRBE_Z-_=F+"A=+—81
FENFEVHERETEEENTERXR
ZH R D TPAIREERE R E K EE) o

BER

RIEZ=F+ZA=1+—H R1TER
32,000E T/ HIRITHRHBMUIER KRB M E
NREERELEERRNERZER (RZE
ZZHF+ZA=+—H :32,000%7T) °

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #§

69



70

MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

MANAGEMENT OF RISK

In 2023, the most significant risk affecting the profitability and
viability in respect of the Group is in respect of the Group’s interest
in Plethora and the continued success and revenue derived from
its listed equity portfolio. Key risks relating to the Group’s interests
include:

Equity Markets

Global financial markets are continuing to experience significant
levels of volatility, driven largely by the Russian-Ukrainian war,
the rapid increase in the price of commodities and other macro-
economic imbalances stemming from the sovereign debt problems
in Europe and the credit tightening in developing countries. As
such, the future returns from the Group's equity portfolio are
linked to the health of the macro environment for which the
Group cannot control.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates using US dollars. As such, the Group is
exposed to foreign currency fluctuations arising from operations
of its subsidiaries and associate. This exposure relates mainly to
the translation between US dollars and non-US dollar currencies.
Currency fluctuations may affect the revenues which the Group
realises from its subsidiaries and associate and, in particular, its
interest in Plethora. This exposes the Group to increased volatility
in earnings as reported in US dollars due to fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates. While foreign currencies are generally convertible
into US dollars, there is no guarantee that they will continue to be
so convertible or that fluctuations in the value of such currencies
will not have an adverse effect on the Group.

Interest Rate Risk

Other than the bank borrowings and shareholder’s loans with fixed
interest rates, the Group does not have any other operating lines
of credit and bank facilities. Therefore, the Group was not exposed
to interest rate risk in the financial year under review.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF THE GROUP’S PERFORMANCE

BEERHATEBRGZ I m R

MANAGEMENT OF RISK (conTinueD)

Risks Inherent to Plethora (the Company’s most
significant investment)

The timing and quantum of receipt of upfront, milestone and
royalty income from strategic commercial marketing partners,
which in itself is dependent on the successful partnering and the
commercial launch of Fortacin™/Senstend™;

The management of Plethora’s cost base and maintaining
adequate working capital and ensuring sufficient funds are made
available to complete the ongoing clinical work and regulatory
approval processes in the US and bringing Fortacin™/Senstend™ to
market;

The retention of key employees to complete the commercialisation
process;

Delays and other unforeseen disruptions to the manufacturing and
regulatory approval projects which could have an adverse impact
on the commercial launch of Fortacin™/Senstend™ and future
revenues; and

The exposure to competition from new generic entrants into the
market.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group will operate both equity market and currency hedges
from time to time. Investment is carefully controlled, in accordance
with parameters set by the Board, in short-term situations where
physical assets may be inappropriate. There is strict segregation
between the investment management and settlement functions.

In term of the total operations of the Group, activities of this
nature are of limited materiality.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Group had not taken out any currency hedge as the
management is not aware of any material foreign currency risk
against its investments in financial assets. Currently, the Group has
no material financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
other than US dollars.
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MANAGEMENT'’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OF THE GROUP'S PERFORMANCE
EREHTEEERZARE DN

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

For details of the segment information, please refer to note 8 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

EMPLOYEES

The Group, including subsidiaries but excluding associate,
employed 17 employees and 2 consultants at 31 December 2023
(At 31 December 2022: 17 employees and 5 consultants). The
remuneration policy is to reward key employees by a combination
of salaries, profit related discretionary bonuses and Share
Options, where appropriate. For employees below Board level,
remuneration will be determined by the Director(s) responsible
for the division whilst, for Directors, remuneration is determined
by the Remuneration Committee. In all cases, profit related
discretionary bonuses and grants of Share Options will be agreed
by the Remuneration Committee.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved not to declare a final dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (Year ended 31
December 2022: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Company has complied with the Code
Provisions set out in the CG Code. The Board is responsible for
performing the corporate governance functions as set out under
Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

THE CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted its own Securities Dealing Code
regarding securities transactions by Directors and relevant
employees on terms no less exacting than the required standards
set out in the Model Code. Reminders are sent to Directors and
relevant employees that they should comply with the restriction
on dealing of the securities of the Company as specified in the
Securities Dealing Code. The Securities Dealing Code is available
on the Company’s website.

Having made specific enquiries with the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors have complied with the required
standards set out in the Securities Dealing Code and the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company strives to maintain high standards of business ethics
and corporate governance across all our activities and operations.
A corporate culture across the Group is instilled based on its
commitment to strong ethics, quality and integrity.

The Company is committed to workforce development, safety
and health and is keen to develop its strategy in the business
development and management for long-term and sustainable
growth.

The Board plays a leading role to foster a corporate culture and to
ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business strategies
are aligned to it. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the required
standards are set out in various policies and procedures of the
Company, which are subject to review by the Board on an annual
basis. Continuous training is conducted from time to time to
reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and integrity.
With the oversight of the Board, workforce engagement and
training, legal and regulatory compliance, safety and health, value
and strategy of the Group are aligned with each other.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELHRS

THE BOARD

Board Leadership

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Group and ensures that the Directors devote sufficient time and
make contributions to the Group. Each Director has the character,
skill, experience, integrity and diverse expertise and is able to
demonstrate a standard of competence commensurate with
his/her role as a Director for discharging his/her duties in the best
interests of the Company.

The CG Code provides that the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive should be separated and performed by different
individuals. The Chairman leads and is responsible for running the
Board. The CEO leads the management team and is responsible
for running business and daily operations of the Company. The
two roles are separate and performed by different individuals. The
Board may delegate aspects of its management and administration
functions to the management by giving clear directions as to the
management’s power. In particular, the day-to-day management of
the Company is delegated to the CEO and his management team.

Board Composition

The Board currently consists of six Directors. The composition of
the Board during the year and up to the date of this report is set
out as follows:

Executive Director:
Jamie Gibson (CEO)

NEDs:
James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INEDs:
Mark Searle
Adrian Chan (appointed on 21 April 2023)
lhsan Al Chalabi
(appointed on 15 August 2023)
David Comba (retired on 1 June 2023)

Note: Julie Oates resigned as an INED on 15 August 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Composition (Continued)

All Directors, including INED, are clearly identified in all corporate
communications of the Company. A list of Directors is available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
biographical details of Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of the
2023 Annual Report and are available on the Company’s website.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, Adrian Chan was
appointed as an INED on 21 April 2023, David Comba retired as
an INED on 1 June 2023, lhsan Al Chalabi was appointed as an
INED and Julie Oates resigned as an INED on 15 August 2023.
Following the resignation of Julie Oates as an INED, Julie Oates
has ceased to be the chairperson and a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, and Adrian Chan has been
appointed as the chairperson and a member of the Audit
Committee, a member of each of the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee with effect from 15 August 2023.

The updated list of the Directors identifying their roles and
functions is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company and is set out below:
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Nomination Remuneration Investment Inside Information
Directors Audit Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee?
% ENEEY RL%EEE hHESE KREZEE AREEZEY
James Mellon M C M C -
e IE = &
Jamie Gibson - - - M M
=] &
Jayne Sutcliffe - - - - -
Mark Searle M M C - -
4=} & &
Adrian Chan @ M M - -
ETIN IE ME =]
Ihsan Al Chalabi - - - - -
C:  Chairperson of the relevant Board committee(s) C: I(FEEEEREGERE
M:  Member of the relevant Board committee(s) M: 1ERIEEZZEEZHE
#. Other members are not Directors of the Company o HMRBIWIFARRES
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELHRS

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Independence of the INEDs

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in compliance with
the requirement of Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board
consisted of three INEDs, representing at least one-third of the
Board, with at least one of the INEDs possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. Each of the INEDs has confirmed by an
annual confirmation that he/she (including his/her “immediate
family members”, as defined under Rule 14A.12(1)(a) of the
Listing Rules) complies with the independence criteria under
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and has undertaken to inform
the Company and the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if
there are any changes of circumstances which may affect his/
her independence. None of the INEDs held cross-directorships or
had significant links with other Directors through involvements in
other companies. Despite Mark Searle has served the Board as an
INED for more than 22 years, the Board considered that individual
independence should not be determined solely by the length of
service. The Nomination Committee and the Board have assessed
the independence of Mark Searle, Adrian Chan and lhsan Al
Chalabi and were satisfied with their independence with reference
to the criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. As each
of the INEDs has not been involved in the daily operation of the
Company nor in any relationship or circumstances which would
affect his independent judgment and he has been able to provide
independent and professional views to the Company's affairs,
the Nomination Committee and the Board are not aware of any
circumstances that might influence the independence of INEDs
and considers that all INEDs are independent.

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

Each Director has entered into a letter of appointment and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election by Shareholders
at annual general meetings. In accordance with Article 87 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at least once every three years. A
retiring Director is eligible for re-election and re-election of retiring
Directors at annual general meetings is dealt with by separate
resolutions.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

EEg e
BIAEHITERENRILY

REBEE_EZ=F+"H=+—HIEEE"
RBIE EmRAEI10AKNRE EETFAIE
—RBUFRTES LESFMEAYE
L=pz— HPED—ZBUIFENTES
BHEEEEXERN N ERAM B EIEE
R BBUFPNTEECEBFERIERE
o (BEAETEZREB (EE2R LEMHEL
E14A12(1)(K) FFE EHRAIE3AMRIET
MBI R wARMEIREATELE
HEIMNBERES SEYETTNER
TRERAE A A B R 3P o & L IFH
TEEHEETFHFREDEEHBENELES
HHMABMEAMEEFEARB - BE
Mark SearleEF R BIUIFAITTEERHFEEE
BRZ+ 5 EEEERABABILERE
EHRBERAE - RLEZEBTREEFFET
f&iMark Searle ~ BR5A & Kzlhsan Al Chalabiz %8
UM MRS E FHRAE3 3R E 2 2]
B EMREZE L AN ESBIIIERNITE
BEUESEANTHEEE TREIEMNS
HEHBTHE BRIER MEEN—F
HANBEBRHBULFEXRR BURRE
BgREEEUANT G EBIUIERITE
ENEUMENERIBER LR APTEEILIEH
TEEHBBILAL.

ESZE -EERRESE

REFEJUZAR UARKRRBFRG L
HBEREROARREE -REAASEEER
MAESE =2 —NEFARVB=F%K
BRE-R-BEEFNEGERNRREBFK
TLEEET EERTESFRLUBIURESR
i Ee



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinuED)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors
(Continued)

In accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of
the Company, the Directors shall have the power from time to
time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either
to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for
election.

Mark Searle has served the Board as an INED for more than nine
years, his further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. The papers to
the Shareholders accompanying that resolution stated why the
Board (and the Nomination Committee) believe that the Director
is still independent and should be re-elected, including the factors
considered, the process and the discussion of the Board (and the
Nomination Committee) in arriving at such determination. Also,
the length of tenure of Mark Searle was disclosed in the circular to
the Shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the 2024 AGM.

At the 2023 AGM held on 1 June 2023, James Mellon and David
Comba retired by rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the
Articles of Association of the Company and Adrian Chan retired
in accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of
the Company. James Mellon and Adrian Chan were re-elected
as Directors by the Shareholders by a separate resolution and
David Comba decided not to offer himself for re-election at the
2023 AGM due to his retirement. The papers to Shareholders
accompanying that resolution included the reasons why the Board
believes they should be re-elected. The Board considers that
James Mellon and Adrian Chan have the required character, skills,
experience and integrity and are able to demonstrate a standard
of competence commensurate with their position as Directors for
discharging their duties in the best interest of the Company. The
Nomination Committee and the Board also believes that Adrian
Chan will provide independent, balanced and objective view to the
affairs of the Company and bring valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning and diversity.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELHRS

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors
(Continued)

At the 2024 AGM, Jayne Sutcliffe and Mark Searle shall retire
by rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of
Association of the Company and Ihsan Al Chalabi shall retire
in accordance with Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association
of the Company. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election by a separate resolution in the 2024
AGM. The papers to Shareholders accompanying that resolution
included the reasons why the Nomination Committee and Board
believe that Mark Searle and lhsan Al Chalabi are independent and
should be re-elected. It is the opinion of the Directors that Mark
Searle and lhsan Al Chalabi are regarded as independent under
the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13(1) to (8) of the
Listing Rules and has proved to be capable of efficiently exercising
independent judgement. The Nomination Committee and the
Board consider that the long service of each of Jayne Sutcliffe and
Mark Searle has provided valuable contributions to the Company
and has demonstrated abilities to provide balanced and objective
view to the Company's affairs. The Board is also of the view that
Jayne Sutcliffe, Mark Searle and lhsan Al Chalabi would bring to
the Board their own perspective, skills and experience, as further
described in their biographical details as set out in the 2023
Annual Report, and can bring an invaluable insight to the Board.
Their extensive experience and expertise continue to provide
invaluable contribution and diversity to the Board. The Board
believes that the re-election of Jayne Sutcliffe, Mark Searle and
lhsan Al Chalabi as Directors would be in the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company has in place a Nomination Policy which sets out,
inter alia, the selection criteria and the evaluation procedures in
nominating candidates to be appointed or re-elected as Directors.
The Nomination Committee has considered the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
of Jayne Sutcliffe, Mark Searle and Ihsan Al Chalabi in accordance
with the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. Details on the
factors considered by the Nomination Committee and the Board
are set out in the circular to Shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the 2024 AGM.

When casual vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be
identified and proposed by the Nomination Committee to
the Board as set out in the paragraph headed “Nomination
Committee” of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinuED)

Non-executive Directors

All NEDs including the INEDs were not appointed for a specific
term but are subject to re-election by the Shareholders at annual
general meetings and at least every three years on a rotational
basis in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and the CG Code, and there are sufficient measures to
ensure the Company complies with the same level as that required
under this provision.

The letter of appointment of James Mellon (for the position as
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board) does not specify a term for
his appointment, however his appointment may be terminated by
either party giving 30 calendar days’ notice, and he is also subject
to the directors’ retirement provisions as set out in the Company’s
Articles of Association. Further, Mr Mellon’s advisory agreement
specifies that his appointment as an advisor of the Company may
be terminated by either party giving one year's written notice.
The letter of appointment of each of the remaining four NEDs
(including the INEDs) provides that his/her appointment may be
terminated by either party giving 30 calendar days’ notice and he/
she is also subject to the directors’ retirement provisions as set out
in the Company’s Articles of Association and the CG Code.

EXRERWRS

EEg e

EHITES

FrEIENITES (BEBIUIERITESR) HET
EEH HEEREARAAGAREZIRMA KX
EASTRHNKRREEAT FHKRREEE(E
WBERDE=FRERME UE EHIEEER
A ATESFAE X FFIRERHEREIKFE o

James Mellon (HEEEFIENTER) 2 &E
BRI IS TE B EHR AT EZE AR EM
—HEL=1TEEBBNET UL MER
BETANAABERMEAFAHESRER
X ZRE o 14 > Mellonst & 2 BE R 1 5% 45 BF
HHEARARBEBZZEAIRER—FE WY
—FEMMBENB T UK R TUAIIERNITE
= (BEBIFHTES) SBZZEREGR
B REZZAAIRERA—FEE=1T@EEH
BB TULILE MEFERBRETAREAM
ERMARREEBEATRMBESTREMBRX
ZHRTE

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £

79



80

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELHRS

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Directors’ Attendance at Meetings

Each of the Directors ensured that he/she gave sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors’ attendance
at the Board meetings, the Board Committee meetings and the
general meetings held during the year under review is set out
below:

EEg e
ERHEFETEER

REFHRARARHFBRBENEEELR
AEB - EFNEBRFENRTHNESS S
F EFELETERNRRAEGHEFERR
HIMNT :

Directors’ meeting attendance during the year (Meetings attended/eligible to attend)

FRESHEGHZEN WE SEREREZER)
Audit Nomination  Remuneration 2023
Directors Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
g3 Exg BRZEYE REZEE hMEEE RREFRE
James Mellon 6/610 373 3/30 22 n
Jamie Gibson 6/6 N/A N/A N/A n
ABA TEA ENENE
Jayne Sutcliffe 4/6 N/A N/A N/A 1"
NER ENENE ~ER
Mark Searle 6/6 3/3 3/3 2/29 17
Adrian Chan* 4/4 2/20 N/A N/A 1"
BRoh & TEMA ENENE
lhsan Al Chalabi* 212 N/A N/A N/A N/A
AEH NER NER AER
David Comba" 212 N/A N/A N/A n
B B ENENE
Julie Oates" 4/4 212 3/3 212 1"
Number of meetings held
BTEERY 6 3 3 2 1
C:  Chairman of the Board/Board Committee C: EFG /EFEEZEECIF
*. New Director(s) appointed during the year 2 ERNEREIZHES
»:  Director(s) retired/resigned during the year N ERBME/BEZES
Note: Article 116(2) of the Company’s Articles of Association provides that izt (AR B AHBERMAIE 116QERE  EFH

Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board by means of a
conference telephone or other communications equipment through
which all persons participating in the meeting can communicate
with each other simultaneously and instantaneously and, for the
purpose of counting a quorum, such participation shall constitute
presence at a meeting as if those participating were present in
person.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Directors Training

All Directors have confirmed that they have undertaken
continuous professional development and training programmes
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills as well as to
keep themselves abreast of the latest developments relevant to
their respective expertise and professions to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The
Company has arranged seminars conducted by professional
organisations and circulated reading materials to Directors to
provide them with the latest development and update relating
to the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices and relevant
legal and regulatory requirements relating to Directors’ duties and
responsibilities in the discharge of their duties. A summary of the
records of continuous professional development provided by the
Directors during the year under review is set out below:
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The Board is responsible for setting up the overall strategy and
reviewing the operation and financial performance of the Group.
The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year with at
least 14 days’ notice. Additional meetings with reasonable notice
will be held as and when the Board considers appropriate. During
the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board held six Board
meetings and also approved matters by way of written resolutions.

Draft agenda for each Board meeting is circulated to all
Directors such that all Directors are given the opportunities to
include matters for discussion in the agenda. Meeting agenda,
accompanying Board meeting papers, are given to Directors in
a timely manner and at least three days before the date of the
regular Board/Board Committee meetings (as far as practicable for

such other Board and Board Committee meetings).
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Board Process (Continued)

Draft and final versions of minutes of the Board/Board Committee
meetings were circulated to Directors for their comments and
records respectively within a reasonable time after the meetings
were held. Minutes of Board/Board Committee meetings recorded
in detail the matters considered by the Board/Board Committees
and decisions reached at meeting, including any concerns raised
by Directors or dissenting views expressed. All minutes of Board/
Board Committees meetings are kept by the Company Secretary
or duly appointed secretary at the individual meetings. Such
minutes will be made available by the Company for inspection
at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.
The Company Secretary shall circulate the minutes of meetings,
resolutions in writing and reports of the Committee to all
Directors.

Resolutions were also passed by way of written resolutions
circulated to and signed by all Directors from time to time when
necessary. Except for those circumstances permitted by the
Articles of Association of the Company and the Listing Rules, a
Director who has a material interest in any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other kind of proposal put forward to the
Board for consideration will abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution and such Director is not counted for the purpose of
determining quorum.

All Directors, especially NEDs (including INEDs) are provided with
sufficient resources to assist them perform their duties as Board/
Board Committee members, including access to independent
professional advice, if necessary, at the Company’s expenses.

Physical Board meetings, as opposed to written resolutions, will
be held to consider matters in which a substantial shareholder
or Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material.
At these physical Board meetings, INEDs who, and whose close
associates, have no material interest in the transaction will be
present. Directors who have a conflict of interest shall abstain
from voting on any Board resolution and shall not be counted
in the quorum on any resolution of the Board in respect of any
contract or arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she or
his/her close associates is materially interested in accordance with
Article 103 of the Articles of Association of the Company.

The NEDs (including INEDs) actively participated in Board meetings
and Board Committees meetings. The Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
comprise a majority of INEDs.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Time Commitments of Directors

All Directors have demonstrated a strong commitment to the
Board affairs and devoted sufficient time performing their
responsibilities to the Company effectively. All Directors have
also disclosed any changes in their number and nature of offices
held in public companies and organisations and other significant
commitments to the Company.

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Input
Available to the Board

The Board is committed to assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors annually and ensuring that
independent views and input are made available to the Board.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board considered
and established the mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are made available to the Board. A summary of which is set
out below:

1.  Structure of the Board and Board Committees

The Board endeavours to ensure the appointment of at least
three INEDs and to appoint INEDs representing at least one-
third of the Board as required by the Listing Rules from time
to time and the INEDs will be appointed to other Board
committees of the Company as far as practicable to ensure
independent views are available. There is a separation of the
role of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO to ensure
balance of power and authority.

2. Annual Review of Independence and Commitment

The Nomination Committee and the Board must strictly
adhere to the Nomination Policy and the guidelines for
assessing independence as set out in the Listing Rules with
regard to the nomination and appointment of INEDs.

The Nomination Committee and the Board assess the
independence of all INEDs at least on an annual basis by
reference to the independence criteria as set out in the
Listing Rules to ensure that they can continually exercise
independent judgement. Each INED shall confirm his/
her independence on a half-yearly basis in the Director’s
confirmation and inform the Company as soon as practicable
if there is any change in his/her own personal particulars that
may materially affect his/her independence.

If an INED has served more than nine years, such INED's
further appointment should be subject to a separate
resolution to be approved by the Shareholders. The papers
to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution should
state why the Nomination Committee and the Board
believes that the INED is still independent and should be re-
elected, including the factors considered, the process and the
discussion of the Nomination Committee and the Board in
arriving at such determination.
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THE BOARD (conTinueD)

Mechanism to Ensure Independent Views and Input
Available to the Board (Continued)

3. Sufficient Resources and Decision Making

All INEDs should be provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties. They can have direct access to the
Company Secretary and management of the Company and
should have access to independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense if necessary.

All INEDs shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving any contract or arrangement in
which such Director or any of his/her close associates has a
material interest.

4. Review of the Mechanism

The Board shall review such mechanisms and monitor its
implementation as appropriate from time to time so as to
ensure its effectiveness.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of INED and most INEDs were appointed to the
Board committees of the Company to ensure independent views
were available. Independent views and input from INEDs are
available to the Board during discussions at physical Board and
Board committees meetings as well as effective contribution and
exchange of views from time to time.

Board Evaluation

There is a strong independent element on the Board which can
effectively exercise independent judgement. During the year under
review, an annual Board performance evaluation was conducted to
conclude that the Board and the Board committees had performed
well with good processes. A culture of openness and debate is
also promoted by facilitating the effective contribution of NEDs
(including INEDs) in particular and ensuring constructive relations
between Executive Director and NEDs (including INEDs).

Directors and Officers Liability Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’
liability insurance policy in respect of legal action against the
Directors and officers of the Company. Such permitted indemnity
provisions are in force during the year under review and at the
time of approval of this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND CEO

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the CEO are
segregated with written terms of reference. James Mellon has
been the Non-Executive Chairman of the Board since October
2005 to provide leadership for the Board and ensure that the
Board works effectively and discharges its responsibilities and
that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board
in a timely manner. Jamie Gibson has been the CEO since May
2002 and is responsible for the day-to-day management of the
Company's business. The Chairman has delegated to the CEO to
draw up and approve the agenda for each Board meeting taking
into account, where appropriate, any matters proposed by other
Directors for inclusion in the agenda.

All Directors were properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. Any enquiries or requests from the Directors were
followed up and responded to by the management of the
Company in a timely manner. The Board papers in sufficient
details were circulated to Directors on a timely manner so that all
Directors were able to receive adequate information, which must
be accurate, clear, complete and reliable, prior to the meetings.

The Chairman takes primary responsibility for ensuring that
good governance practices and procedures are established. The
Chairman encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and takes the lead to ensure that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Company. The Chairman
also encourages Directors with different views to voice their
concerns, allow sufficient time for discussion of issues and ensures
that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.

The Chairman held a private meeting during the year under review
with all the INEDs without the presence of other Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

In the course of overseeing management and business
performance, the Board is assisted by the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, with
each operating under written terms of reference as approved
and reviewed from time to time by the Board. There are also an
Investment Committee and an Inside Information Committee
under the authority of the Board to oversee various matters,
including but not limited to compliance and disclosure.

Details of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee, including the composition,
duties and work performed during the year under review, are set
out in the following paragraphs of this report. The Investment
Committee, comprises the Board Chairman and the CEO, primarily
oversees the investments of the Group. The Inside Information
Committee, comprising the CEO and other members who are not
Directors, reviews and monitors the compliance of the Company
with its statutory disclosure obligations under Part XIVA of the
SFO, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations in
respect of disclosures of the Company on an ongoing basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions as set out under Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.
During the year under review, the key corporate governance
functions performed by the Board included, but not limited to, the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, and the compliance with
the Model Code, the CG Code and disclosures in this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is comprised of three members with the
current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Audit Committee:
Adrian Chan (INED)
(appointed with effect from 15 August 2023)

Members of the Audit Committee:
James Mellon (NED)
Mark Searle (INED)

Note: Julie Oates (INED) resigned as the Chairlady of the Audit Committee
with effect from 15 August 2023.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules,
which requires that the Audit Committee must comprise a
minimum of three members, at least one of whom is an INED with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise, and a majority of the members
being INEDs and must be chaired by an INED.

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for providing
an independent review of the effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting process, evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks the Board is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives and ensuring that
the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems; and overseeing
the audit process and performing other duties and responsibilities
as assigned by the Board. The Audit Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. Where necessary, the
Audit Committee may seek independent professional advice at
the Company’s expense to perform its responsibilities. The Audit
Committee is chaired by Adrian Chan (appointed with effect from
15 August 2023) and was formerly chaired by Julie Oates (resigned
with effect from 15 August 2023). Both of them have the
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise required under Rule 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules.

Details of the duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its
terms of reference, which is subject to reviewed regularly and
updated where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three
meetings and met with the external auditor twice in the absence
of the management of the Group. Duties performed included to
recommend the change of auditor of the Company from BDO
Limited to RSM Hong Kong with effect from 21 June 2023 for
Board approval, the review of the audited financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
interim financial statements of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2023, the semi-annual and annual review of
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and significant financial matters, the annual
evaluation of the external and internal auditors of the Company,
the annual evaluation of the Audit Committee, the annual review
of adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget for the accounting, internal
audit, financial reporting functions of the Group and those relating
to the Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance performance
and reporting. The attendance of each member of the Audit
Committee is set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’
Attendance at Meetings” of this report.

A separate paragraph headed “Risk Management and Internal
Control” is set out below in this report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy

The Board has adopted the Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-
Corruption Policy on 1 July 2022 for compliance with Code
Provisions D.2.6 and D.2.7 of the CG Code respectively. Employees
of the Group can raise to the Audit Committee, in confidence,
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or any other matters related to the Group. For
reported possible improprieties accepted for investigation, reports
of possible improprieties will be kept confidential to the extent
possible, consistent with the need to conduct an adequate
investigation. The Audit Committee should inform the Board of
the reports of possible improprieties and make recommendations
on the disciplinary and remedial actions to be taken. The Whistle-
blower should be communicated with the decision or investigation
results in a timely manner wherever possible. For reported possible
improprieties not to be investigated further, the reasons should be
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board.

In support of anti-corruption laws and regulations, the Company
reminds employees to observe the requirements of the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance and relevant anti-corruption laws. All
Directors, officers and employees of the Group, and the Group's
joint venture partners, associated companies’ representatives,
consultants, contractors, customers and suppliers are encouraged
to abide by the principles of the Whistleblowing Policy and the
Anti-Corruption Policy, both policies are available at the website of
the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is comprised of three members with
the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Nomination Committee:
James Mellon (NED)

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Mark Searle (INED)
Adrian Chan (INED)

(appointed with effect from 15 August 2023)

Note: Julie Oates (INED) resigned as a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 15 August 2023.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

The Nomination Committee is primarily responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board, assessing the independence of
INEDs, and nominating candidates for appointment and re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the Board Chairman and the CEO. The Nomination
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties. It is authorised by the Board to obtain, at the Company’s
expense, outside legal or other independent professional advice
on any matter subject to its terms of reference and to secure the
attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it
considers necessary.

Nomination Policy

Nomination of candidates to stand for election as Board members
must go through formal, prudent and transparent procedures.
The Company has adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out
the selection criteria in the determination of the suitability of a
candidate and nomination procedures and the process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee regarding selection and
recommendation of appointment of new Directors, re-election of
Directors and nomination from Shareholders.

The Nomination Committee shall identify and nominate
potential candidates to the Board for consideration and
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning as it
considers appropriate. The Nomination Committee shall have
regard to the selection criteria which include but is not limited
to qualifications, experience, skills, expertise, independence and
diversity of perspectives which contribute to the effective carrying
out of the Board responsibilities, time commitment and Board
diversity. The Nomination Committee shall conduct a review of the
Nomination Policy and monitor its implementation from time to
time to ensure its effectiveness.

The overall composition of the Board and the skills of each Director
shall be reviewed and evaluated on a regular basis to maintain
Board efficiency and facilitate smooth succession planning.
Potential Board appointment identified will be put forward to the
Nomination Committee for consideration. The recommendation
of the Nomination Committee will be put forward to the Board
approval. According to Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association
of the Company, all newly-appointed Directors have to retire for
re-election by Shareholders at the first annual general meeting
following his/her appointment. Induction to new Directors will be
arranged to ensure they are updated.

EXRERWRS

REEZEEE @

RLZESTZEERANEZTTHIRE  AH
R AERE (BLERAE ~ M8 K i i) ~ sTA B 1L Ik
HITESNEIE TRAEERENEEE
FUREE(LHEREF T ERTEEE) #&
FFENEEAN - RLZEGERETEER
DETHBS EFERBREREZEGTEHR
HEREREBEEEANTEASEEZLS
SINEBERFAHMBUEXRT R > W UEFE
BEEBAERMEMMBNIIBATEEERZS
CEH BERESATKE-

RABHE

REBEASEESENELRBBEN &
BRBERNEF AATERMRRLER B
PHINEERBEARSSBNRERERE
BREF UREREEENBREREZZERN
EX EEEERRREDMEANER RIZ

#o

RLZEGANBROESTTRABERE
AUHER TMEENEMEETESTRET
STEIMESEFRHERABENEBREEZ R
LEEERERNAEREQEERRRE
B KR RE-FENR - BUMEKRZTER
HMOAMREBEMBITEFERE REFEK
EFXEE b -RBRZEETRIFRTIRBE
RUBRABMBRL UEREAM M-

ESENERERASEFHIRERSERR
St e aTd » DUERT E R S X R e & IEF Ay
B -EVENEBEESTEZEAERRER
RBLZEGUHREE -RBLZETHEZRR
REEFEHE - REALTHBERZMAY
B8R FTAMEREEFANHEZERH
BERRBFAG LRETHRREESF-
AR BMEZLHEARIE > LERNS
ERERMEN-

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £

89



90

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELHRS

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conminuep)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Directors and make
recommendation to the Board in respect of the proposed re-
election of Directors at the general meeting. At the 2023 AGM
held on 1 June 2023, James Mellon and David Comba retired by
rotation in accordance with Article 87 of the Articles of Association
of the Company and Adrian Chan retired in accordance with
Article 86(3) of the Articles of Association of the Company. James
Mellon and Adrian Chan were re-elected as Directors by the
Shareholders by a separate resolution while David Comba decided
not to offer himself for re-election at the 2023 AGM due to his
retirement.

Details of the duties of the Nomination Committee are set out
in its terms of reference, which is subject to review regularly and
update where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee held
three meetings. Duties performed included, the review of the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board, the
independence of the INEDs, the review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy, the recommendation
of the nomination of Directors retiring by rotation and their
re-election and the appointment of new INEDs for Board approval.
The Nomination Committee recommended the following change
of Directors for Board approval: appointment of Adrian Chan as
an INED on 21 April 2023, retirement of David Comba as an INED
on 1 June 2023, appointment of Ihsan Al Chalabi as an INED and
resignation of Julie Oates as an INED on 15 August 2023 and the
change of respective Board Committees following the change of
Directors. The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee is set out in the paragraph headed “Directors’
Attendance at Meetings” of this report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having
a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Board Diversity Policy sets out the approach to diversity on
the Board. The Board will consider the benefits of all aspects
of diversity including, but not limited to the skills, regional and
industry experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
of Directors. All Board appointments are made on merit, in the
context of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.

As of 31 December 2023 and the date of this report, the Board
comprises of six Directors, of which 5 are male and 1 is female.
During the year under review, Adrian Chan was appointed as an
INED on 21 April 2023, David Comba retired as an INED on 1 June
2023, lhsan Al Chalabi was appointed as an INED and Julie Oates
resigned as an INED on 15 August 2023. The Board considers that
it has maintained a good and balanced gender diversity at the
Board level by having at least one member of either gender on the
Board in view of the current Board size.

The Company noted that a significant majority of the members
of the senior management of the Company are males and will
make its best endeavour to achieve a more balanced gender
diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
when opportunities arise. Currently, the senior management team
comprises of four members, of which 3 are male and 1 is female.
The Board considers that it has maintained a good and balanced
gender diversity at the senior management level by having at
least one member of either gender in view of the current size
of the senior management team. As of 31 December 2023, the
Company maintains a high gender diversity in workforce, 73%
of our staff were male and 27% were female. The Company will
continue with its endeavour to increase female representation in
our workforce. Further details on gender ratio in the workforce
are disclosed under the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” of the 2023 Annual Report.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conminuep)

Board Diversity Policy (Continued)

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
all measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given
time the Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of
its diversity and measure progress accordingly. In order to set
meaningful objectives, the Nomination Committee will assess its
current diversity levels and identify where gaps exist. Measurable
objectives will then be developed which are tailored towards
improving diversity in areas where most improvement is needed.
The Company acknowledges that there are a number of different
types of measurable objectives which may be implemented to
assist in meeting its diversity goals, including:

— procedural and structural objectives: for example,
implementing internal review and reporting procedures
or ensuring that candidates are interviewed by a diverse
selection/interview panel;

—  diversity targets: setting specific diversity targets, for example
setting targets for the number of women on the Board and
implementing timeframes for this to occur by; and

— initiatives and programs: for example, identifying appropriate
initiatives and programs and determining how the initiative
will operate, who will be responsible for implementing it and
setting a timetable for its introduction.

The Nomination Committee reviews the Board Diversity Policy and
its effectiveness annually and recommends revisions to the Board
for approval as appropriate. During the year under review, the
Nomination Committee and the Board reviewed and considered
the Board Diversity Policy, in particular gender diversity, was
suitable for the size of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (conTinueD)

Nomination Procedures and Process

The Nomination Committee identifies or selects potential
candidates for Board succession with consideration given to
the diversity of the Board, by engaging external independent
professional agencies if needed. The Nomination Committee may
use any process it deems appropriate to evaluate the candidates,
which may include personal interviews, background checks,
presentations, written submissions by the candidate or third-
party reference, then provides all relevant information and makes
recommendation to the Board, including the terms and conditions
of the appointment.

The Board approves the appointment of new Directors based upon
the recommendation of the Nomination Committee. A circular
accompanying the notice of the general meeting containing all
relevant information would be sent to the Shareholders where
applicable. A newly-appointed Director shall retire at the first
annual general meeting following his/her appointment but shall be
eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is comprised of three members with
the current composition as set out below:

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee:
Mark Searle (INED)

Members of the Remuneration Committee:
James Mellon (NED)
Adrian Chan (INED)

(appointed with effect from 15 August 2023)

Note: Julie Oates (INED) resigned as a member of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 15 August 2023.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continueD)

The Remuneration Committee is primarily responsible for
reviewing and approving the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the employees. The Remuneration Committee has
adopted the model referred to in Code Provision E.1.2(c) of the
CG Code where it should determine, with delegated responsibility,
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and
senior management. No Directors or any of their associates are
involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to perform its
duties. It is authorised by the Board to obtain, at the Company’s
expense, outside legal or other independent professional advice
on any matter subject to its terms of reference and to secure the
attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise
if it considers this necessary. The Remuneration Committee also
reviewed and approved matters relating to the Share Option
Scheme (2016) of the Company.

Details of the duties of the Remuneration Committee are set out
in its terms of reference, which is subject to reviewed regularly and
updated where necessary and is made available at the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings and also dealt with matters by way of
written resolutions. Duties performed included the review of
remuneration packages of the new INEDs appointed and the
employees, including the Executive Director, during the year ended
31 December 2023, the review and approval of matters relating to
the Share Option Schemes (2016) under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules, including the grant of Options to the eligible participants
for Board approval. The attendance of each member of the
Remuneration Committee is set out in the paragraph headed
“Directors’ Attendance at Meetings” of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (conTinuED)

During the year under review, the grant of 76,400,000 Options
under the Scheme on 3 May 2023 was reviewed and approved
by the Remuneration Committee and further approved by the
Board. All Options were accepted by the respective grantees. The
Remuneration Committee and the Board considered appropriate
to approve the grant of Options to the employees, including
members of the senior management, and/or a consultant of the
Group under the vesting conditions and the terms of the Scheme.
In view that (i) the grantees are employees and/or a consultant
of the Group who will contribute directly to the overall business
performance, sustainable development and/or good corporate
governance of the Group; (i) the grant is a recognition for the
grantees’ past contributions to the Group; and (iii) the Options are
subject to certain vesting conditions and the clawback mechanism
under the Scheme, which is designed (a) to safeguard the interests
of the Group, and (b) to allow the Group to retain and incentivise
its employees and consultants, the Remuneration Committee and
the Board are of the view that the grant without performance
targets is market competitive and aligns with the purpose of the
Scheme. The grant was subject to the clawback mechanism as set
out in the terms of the Scheme, which already cover situations
where the Options will lapse in the event that the grantees cease
to be an eligible participant under the Scheme and the cancellation
of Options at the discretion of the Board.

The Remuneration Committee and the Board believe that the
grant of Options can align the interests of the employees with
those of the Group through the potential ownership of the Shares
and encourage and retain the employees, including the members
of the senior management, to make contributions to the long-
term growth and profits of the Group. To promote retention,
the vesting conditions and the terms of the Scheme have further
provided for lapsing of the Options if the employees cease to
be employees prior to the vesting date. Also, the Remuneration
Committee and the Board consider that the grant of Options to
the Consultant is appropriate for recognition of the Consultant’s
past performance and is able to incentivise the Consultant for
its continued contributions to the growth and development of
the Group in the future, and such proposed grant of Options
to the Consultant aligns its long-term interest with that of
the Shareholders. Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 4 May 2023, 18 May 2023 and 1 June
2023.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continueD)

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration payable to members of senior management by band
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out as

follows:

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management were within the following bands:
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Number of individuals

A¥
2023 2022
—E-= B F
HK$1,000,001- HK$ 1,500,000 (US$127,735-US$191,603) — 1
1,000,001 7t — 1,500,0007%7C (127,735t —191,603%7T)
HK$1,500,001- HK$2,000,000 (US$191,604-US$255,470) 3 2
1,500,001 7t — 2,000,0007%87C (191,6043 75 —255,470%7T)
HK$2,000,001- HK$2,500,000 (US$255,471-US$319,338) 1 1
2,000,001 75— 2,500,000 7% (255,471% 75— 319,338%7T)
HK$4,000,001- HK$4,500,000 (US$510,941-US$574,808) = 1%
4,000,001 75— 4,500,0007 7T (510,941% 75— 574,808%7T)
4 5

* One senior management has resigned with effect from *

31 December 2022.

For further details of the remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2023 and 2022, please refer to note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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INSIDE INFORMATION REPORTING

The Company has adopted a policy and procedures on reporting
of Inside Information which set out the proper standards and
procedures for the handling, reporting and dissemination of Inside
Information in accordance with the Guidelines on Disclosure of
Inside Information issued by the SFC. Potential inside information
is escalated to the Inside Information Committee, comprising the
CEO who is the Executive Director and other members who are
not Directors, as soon as possible, which reviews and monitors
the compliance of the Company with its statutory disclosure
obligations under Part XIVA of the SFO, the Listing Rules and
other applicable laws and regulations. In the event that the Inside
Information Committee considers that certain possible or potential
inside information is in fact inside information, it will escalate the
matter to the Board for approval of appropriate disclosures. Any
public communication may only be made, or authorised to be
made, by the CEO or the Company Secretary and must be limited
to what information is already in the public domain. In addition,
Company presentation materials must not be released to the
market without formal and written approval from the CEO.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take
in achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining sound
and effective risk management and internal control systems
and reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard shareholders’
investment and the Group's assets, on an ongoing basis. The Board
acknowledged that management continues to allocate resources
for the internal control and risk management systems which are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The
Board has delegated responsibility to the Audit Committee to
review the Group’s risk management and internal control matters
semi-annually.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL(conTinuED)

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has reviewed the effectiveness and adequacy of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems as
set out in Code Provision D.2.1 of the CG Code. The Audit
Committee engaged an internal audit and business consulting
firm to undertake a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems on all material controls
for the year, including financial, operational and compliance
controls. The Board and the Audit Committee considered the
Group's risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate.

Risk management

Risk management is a standing process of the Group which assists
management and the Board in enhancing the transparency and
accountability of the major business risks encountered. During the
year under review, the Group conducted formal risk assessment
by the management on a semi-annual basis to identify and assess
enterprise risks (including environmental, social and governance
risks) with reference to the Group's business objectives and
strategies. A risk assessment questionnaire prepared, based on the
Group’s risk model, was circulated to senior management of the
Group, together with reviews of existing risk mitigation measures
and follow-up interviews as necessary, to facilitate the assessment.
Management then developed action plans to further enhance the
risk management capabilities of particular key risks as appropriate.

Internal control

The Group ensures internal controls are designed and
implemented in all major aspects of the Group’s operations and
details of internal control activities are included in the operating
policies and procedures of the Group. The Board reviews the
policies and procedures of the Group on an annual basis and
approves updates as and when necessary.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

(CONTINUED)

Internal audit function

The Group maintains an internal audit function assisting the Board
in maintaining an effective risk management and internal control
systems by evaluating its effectiveness and efficiency and by
promoting continuous improvement. The internal audit function of
the Group, which is independent of management, reports directly
to the Audit Committee regularly and has access to the Chairman,
or the former Chairlady, of the Audit Committee if appropriate
during the year.

To enhance the objectivity and competency of the internal audit
function, the Group outsourced the internal audit function to
an internal audit and business consulting firm. The internal audit
function performs regular reviews of the Group’s internal controls
based on a risk-based internal audit plan approved by the Audit
Committee. The annual audit plan is arrived at using a risk-based
approach to determine the priorities of the internal audit activities.
Findings and recommendations on internal control deficiencies are
communicated with management and action plans are developed
by management to address the issues identified. Post-audit
reviews are scheduled to ensure the action plans are executed as
designed. Key findings of each internal control review assignment
are reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee on a timely
basis.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the accounts of the Group to present a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment in annual and interim reports and
other financial disclosures required by the Listing Rules and in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
other statutory requirements. The Directors draw Shareholders’
attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
US$25,049,000, for the year ended 31 December 2023 and, as
at that date, the Group had net current liabilities and net liabilities
of approximately US$796,000 and US$1,551,000, respectively.
Together with other matters set forth in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, these events or conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The Directors note
the Auditors have not qualified their opinion on this matter but
have included a material uncertainty on going concern paragraph
in their audit opinion.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELHRS

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (conminuep)

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee, in conjunction with the Company’s independent
auditor, RSM Hong Kong. An explanation of the basis on which
the Company generates or preserves value over the longer term
(the business model) and the strategy for delivering the Company’s
objectives are set out in the paragraph headed “Strategic Plan”
under section “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the
Group’s Performance” of the 2023 Annual Report.

A report of the independent auditor with respect to the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year under
review is included in the 2023 Annual Report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by the independent
auditor, RSM Hong Kong. The independent auditor declares its
independence and objectivity and presents the scope of audit
to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviews and
monitors the independent auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process. The Audit Committee
also reviews and approves the independent auditor’s fee on the
basis that it was fair and reasonable for the size and operations
of the Group and in the best interests of the Group. The fees in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by
the independent auditor for the year under review amounted to
approximately US$157,000 and US$26,000 respectively. The non-
audit services mainly consist of agreed-upon procedures on interim
review.

The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the
Board on the appointment and retention of the independent
auditor. RSM Hong Kong shall retire at the 2024 AGM and,
being eligible, offers itself for re-appointment. More information
about the independent auditor’s responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” of the 2023 Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is a full-time employee
of the Group and reports to the Board and the CEO. All Directors
have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary
to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable law, rules and
regulations are followed. The Company Secretary had taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training which complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company adopts a dividend policy, pursuant to which it will
make semi-annual distributions in an aggregate amount per year
not to exceed 35% of the anticipated consolidated annual profits
of the Company, subject to certain criteria. The Company may also
declare special distributions from time to time in addition to the
semi-annual distributions. The Company will evaluate its financial
position, the prevailing economic climate and expectations
about the future macroeconomic environment and business
performance. The determination to make distributions will be
made at the discretion of the Board and will be based upon the
Company’s operations and earnings, investment requirements,
cash flow, financial condition, future prospects, capital and other
reserve requirements and surplus, general financial conditions,
contractual restrictions and any other conditions or factors which
the Board deems relevant. Any distribution is also subject to
compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and the
Articles of Association of the Company. Dividends will be declared
and paid in Hong Kong dollars, with an election offered to the
Shareholders to receive the dividends in US dollars. The Board
will continually review its dividend policy and adopt changes as
appropriate.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELHRS

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

With the approval of the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM, the
Company has approved the proposed change of Company name
from “Endurance RP Limited” to “Regent Pacific Group Limited”
and adopt the foreign name in Chinese of "Bi& AT ¥EE
BIR/AT]" to replace the Chinese name of the Company, S
EEABRAT", which was used for identification purposes only
(collectively, the “Change of Company Name”). Further details
are set out in the Company's announcements dated 29 March
2023, 27 April 2023, 1 June 2023 and 13 July 2023, the section
of "Directors’ Report” of the 2022 Annual Report and this report
and the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023.

The Change of Company name became effective on 6 July 2023.
The logo of the Company has been changed to "e§”. The stock
code of the Company on the Stock Exchange remains unchanged

s “575". The stock short name of the Company for trading in
the Shares on the Stock Exchange has been changed to “REGENT
PACIFIC” in English and “Bf& KF¥" in Chinese. The website of
the Company has been changed to “www.regentpac.com”.

CHANGE OF CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

With the approval of the Shareholders at the 2023 AGM, the
Company has approved the proposed amendments to the
Memorandum and Articles of Association and the adoption of
the new set of amended and restated Memorandum and Articles
of Association. Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 29 March 2023, 27 April 2023 and 1 June
2023, the section of “Directors’ Report” of the 2022 Annual
Report and this report and the Company’s circular dated 27
April 2023. An up-to-date version of the amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association is available at the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

General Meetings

The Company held its 2023 AGM on 1 June 2023. All Directors,
namely James Mellon, Mark Searle, Jayne Sutcliffe, Adrian Chan,
David Comba (retired at conclusion of the 2023 AGM) and Julie
Oates (resigned with effect from 15 August 2023) attended the
2023 AGM by video conference, and Jamie Gibson attended the
2023 AGM in person. The Company's branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, acted as the scrutineers at the
2023 AGM for the purpose of vote-taking. Representatives of the
then independent auditor, BDO Limited, also attended the 2023
AGM to answer questions relating to its audit and the auditor’s
report (if any). Procedures for conducting a poll and answered
questions arising therefrom (if any) were explained at the meeting.
All proposed resolutions were approved by the Shareholders. The
poll voting results of the meeting were published to the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at a General
Meeting

The Shareholders" Communication Policy (including the procedures
for Shareholders: (i) to requisition an extraordinary general
meeting; or (i) to put forward proposals at the Company’s general
meetings; or (iii) to put enquiries to the Directors) is available under
section “Corporate Documents” of the website of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ Communication Policy, including the
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene a General
Meeting and Putting Forward Proposals at a General
Meeting (Continued)

Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that the Board may whenever thinks fit call extraordinary general
meetings, and (i) a member or members of the Company (acting
together) holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company; or (ii) on a one
vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company, shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to
be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition and the foregoing Member or Members shall
be able to add resolutions to the meeting agenda; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionists themselves
may convene a Physical Meeting at only one location which will be
the Principal Meeting Place, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionists as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to communicate with the Company,
including: (i) to requisition an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company; (i) to put forward proposals at the Company's general
meetings; or (iii) to put enquiries to the Directors, should write
to the CEO or the Company Secretary at info@regentpac.com,
accompanied by the details of their proposals. The Company’s
address and telephone and facsimile numbers are set out on its
website.

During the year under review, the Board had conducted an annual
review of the Shareholders” Communication Policy and was of the
view that the Company had in place a compliant and effective
means of communication with the Shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION

(CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

The Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election
as a Director are available under section “Corporate Documents”
of the website of the Company.

Article 88 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person other than a retiring Director shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
as a Director at any general meeting unless during the period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the meeting and ending no later than seven days prior
to the date of such meeting, provided that such period shall be
at least seven days, there shall have been lodged at the registered
office or the head office of the Company a notice signed by a
member of the Company (other than the person to be proposed)
duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which such
notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election
and also a notice signed by the person to be proposed of his
willingness to be elected.

Accordingly, if a Shareholder wishes to nominate a person to
stand for election as a Director at the annual general meeting,
the following documents must be validly served on the CEO
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong within the period specified under Article
88 of the Articles of Association of the Company, namely, (i) the
shareholder’s notice of intention to propose a resolution to elect a
nominated candidate as a Director at the annual general meeting;
(i) a notice signed by the nominated candidate of the candidate’s
willingness to be elected; (iii) the nominated candidate’s
biographical details as required to be disclosed under Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iv) the nominated candidate’s
written consent to the publication of his/her personal data at
the corporate documents of the Company. The shareholder’s
proposal will be forwarded to the Nomination Committee as soon
as practicable for consideration. Upon recommendation by the
Nomination Committee, the Board will further resolve to approve
or decline the proposed election of the candidate as a Director as
appropriate.

On Behalf of the Board
James Mellon
Chairman

27 March 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRIF-HERERERS

OVERVIEW AND SCOPE

The Group prepares the Environmental, Social and Governance
(the "ESG") Report in accordance with Appendix C2 to The Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

BOARD OVERSIGHT AND ESG MANAGEMENT
APPROACH

It is of the Group's significant priority in promoting sustainable
practices in daily business operations with the aim to minimize
unfavourable impact on the environment and society in which it
operates. The Board has been aware of its overall responsibility
for the Group's ESG strategy and reporting and has ensured the
Management has implemented relevant measures during the
reporting period. The Group has established an ESG Working
Group, which reports to the Board, comprising members of senior
management and other staff members of relevant departments.
The ESG Working Group is delegated to perform various tasks in
relation to implementation of ESG strategies as well as reporting.
The major responsibilities for the ESG Working Group include the
following activities:

—  Conducting the annual ESG materiality assessment;

—  Defining scope of work and resources for the ESG reporting;
—  Collecting and compiling information and ESG data;

—  Preparing the annual ESG report; and

—  Monitoring the ongoing compliance in relation to ESG
matters.

The Board works closely with the ESG Working Group to
regularly evaluate the Group’s ESG-related exposure with the
consideration of changes in internal and external business
environment and monitor the Group’s ESG-related performance
as well as achievement of ESG-related targets that are set at
the management level. The ESG Working Group is responsible
to compile the ESG-related performance data for the Board's
review. Annually, the Board reviews ESG-related performance
against targets, and assesses appropriateness and effectiveness
of risk management and internal control system during the board
meeting. The Board has ensured that all relevant ESG principles
are being adhered to when conducting business. In addition,
the Group maintains the ESG policies to govern the respective
processes.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

As part of the ESG management approach, a materiality
assessment is conducted annually to identify the material ESG-
related issues to the Group. The identified ESG-related issues were
rated in terms of their relative likelihood, impact, adaptability and
recovery and rank-ordered. The results are reviewed and approved
by the ESG Working Group and the ESG-related issues with the
highest materiality to the Group are included in the ESG Report
and reviewed and approved by the Board. According to the results
of the materiality assessment, the items below are the top 6 ESG-
related issues, including:

No. ESG-related Issues

1 Exposure to litigation due to faulty or non-performing
products

Difficulty in talent attraction and retention
Unqualified/unethical suppliers and business partners
Infringement of Intellectual property rights and data leakage
Violation of anti-corruption policies and whistle-blowing
procedure

6 Unsuccessful investment in new technologies

u b W N

REPORTING BOUNDARY

Based on the Materiality Assessment result, the Board considered
the office area, the number of employees of each operation,
the relevant financial materiality of each operation and their
correspondence with the top 6 issues identified to determine the
scope of disclosure in this ESG Report.

The scope of this ESG Report covers the operations of the
headquarters in Hong Kong (covering “Endurance RP Limited”
and "Regent Financial Services Limited” and “Deep Longevity
Limited”), and the operations of Plethora (covering “Plethora
Solutions Holdings plc”, “Plethora Solutions Limited” and
"Plethora Pharma Solutions Limited”) in the United Kingdom for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “reporting period").

This ESG report covers the overall performance of the Group
in terms of the KPIs, policies and compliance in two subject
areas, namely, Environmental and Social. We are not involved
in producing air, water, land pollutants or hazardous wastes,
and have limited emission of greenhouse gas ("“GHG"), which is
generated indirectly from the electricity consumption and paper
usage for daily office administration purpose.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR ERERHRS

REPORTING PRINCIPLES APPLIED

Principles The Group’s Application

Materiality The Group has assessed the materiality of the
key ESG issues associated with its business
and operations. Details are disclosure under
“Materiality Assessment” section.

The Group has made quantitative disclosure
about Environmental and Social Key Performance
Indicators (“KPIs"), and reported on the emission
factors used to compile the KPIs.

The Group has ensured the consistency in
preparing this ESG report including the reporting
and calculation methods whenever possible and
will detail changes to the methodologies adopted
when such changes arise to allow meaningful
comparisons of the ESG data.

Quantitative

Consistency

ENVIRONMENTAL

We are committed to conducting our business in an
environmentally responsible manner. In particular, all employees
are required to comply with all applicable environmental laws and
regulations and to conduct business in a manner that protects
the environment, conserves resources and promotes sustainable
development.

The Group continues to monitor ESG related issues, including
the climate-related issues, which may impact the operation
by performing materiality assessment on an annual basis. The
identified ESG-related issues were rated in terms of their relative
likelihood, impact, adaptability and recovery. Given our relatively
small operational size, the Management has considered that
the impact of any climate-related issues on our current business
operations to be very low. In case of extreme weather events, the
Group has developed the emergency guidelines and measures in
accordance with the relevant extreme weather guidelines issued
by the local government to ensure the safety of all employees. The
Group reviews its policies on climate change regularly to ensure
their relevancy and effectiveness.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s headquarters in Hong Kong
occupied 5,479 square feet, while Plethora’s office in the United
Kingdom occupied 344 square feet. Deep Longevity adopts home-
working practice and does not have a physical office. Relevant KPls
in connection to our business are disclosed below (Note 1):
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTinuED) IRIE @
KPIs 2022 2023
MR ENIER =t =¥_=
A1.1 Air Pollutants Emission N/A (Note 1)
A1.1 ERISRMBEN NBR (r321)
A1.2 GHG Emission
A12 BE RN
Direct emission of GHG N/A (Note 1)
ERHIRERE NEBR Wt
Indirect emission of Carbon Dioxide (“C02") resulting from:
RENTHEREERN a6k (Za(bhk)
> Electricity purchased (Note 2) 29.56 tonnes 29.36 tonnes
> BESS (i22) 29.560 293601
> Paper waste disposed at landfills (Note 6) — tonnes - tonnes
> WIEREERM (Hite) —E — g
> Business air travel by employees 7.88 tonnes 22.02 tonnes
> EEBBRITRE 7.88M 22,020
37.44 tonnes 51.38 tonnes
37.44%8 51380
COz emission per employee 2.50 tonnes per employee  3.43 tonnes per employee
BLESHH AN §4R82.500 BHEE343M
CO2 emission per square feet of office premises 0.01 tonnes per sq. ft. 0.01 tonnes per sg. ft.
BYARMAEYEL R MK S 5RR0.010H S HR0.01H
A13 Hazardous waste produced N/A (Note 1)
A13 EXAEEN B (Hzt1)
Al4 Non-hazardous waste produced
A1.4 EXEBZEY
Paper waste disposed at landfills (Note 3 & 6) - tonnes — tonnes
IR EERER (Wi23k6) — M —E
Paper waste produced per employee (Note 6) —tonnes per employee - tonnes per employee
FREESELER (Hite) SLEE-E SREE—H
A2.1 Energy consumption
A2.1 HFERETR
Direct energy consumption N/A (Note 1)
BHFERR AER Hist1)
Indirect energy consumption from electricity purchased (Note 3) 41,638 kWh 41,352 kWh
REBEEBINBHELR (1723) 41,638 F FLES 41,352 F FLBY
Energy consumption per employee 2,776 kWh per employee 2,757 kWh per employee
BREBHESR B4E52776TRE BRES2757TRE
Energy consumption per square feet of office premises 8 kWh per sq. ft 7 KWh per sq. ft
FYARPAEYEHFERER ST HRSTRE FYHRITRE
A2.2 Water consumption N/A (Note 4)
A2.2 E:7/9 NBR (Hriz4)
A25 Packaging material used for finished products N/A (Note 5)
A25 NREmERaRYE TR (Hz25)
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continuep)

Notes:

1.

The Group does not have production or involve in activities that:
> Emit air pollutants;
> Directly generate GHG;

>  Generate hazardous wastes as defined by national
regulations; or

> Directly consume energy.

Unless otherwise specified, the environmental emission and energy
consumption data only includes the headquarters in Hong Kong
and Plethora's operations in the United Kingdom. The emission
and energy consumption data for Deep Longevity operation is not
available since this business adopts home-working practice and does
not have a physical office.

The figures only include the headquarters in Hong Kong. Electricity
consumption data in Plethora's office is not available since electricity
supply is managed by the Landlord.

With consideration of limited paper waste volume, the Group
disposes of the waste to landfills through the waste disposal
channel managed by the building’s management service provider.

The water consumption data is not available as our business
operates in leased premises with the supply and discharge of
water controlled by building management. The Group has not
encountered any issues in water sourcing.

Commercialization partners of the Group are responsible for the
marketing, distribution and manufacturing of all products. The
Group is not directly involved in the use/purchase of packaging
materials and does not have a physical office.

Paper was recycled through the recycling disposal channel managed
by the qualified third-party service provider.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (conTinuED)

Due to the nature of the business operations, the major source
of greenhouse gas emissions generated by the Group is mainly
from the consumption of purchased electricity and business air
travel undertaken by employees. Various measures have been
undertaken to manage and reduce the greenhouse gas emissions.
Detailed procedure of reducing electricity consumption, paper
usage and waste management are further discussed below.

As purchased electricity accounts for the major source of energy
consumption, the Group implemented measures in energy
conservation and pollution reduction, for example, switching
from the use of florescent light to energy efficient lightbulb and
switching off the lights and air-condition when not in use.

To keep greenhouse gas emission and waste disposal related to
paper to a minimal, the Group encourages its employees to adopt
double-sided printing, use recycled paper for internal documents
and use digital copies rather than hard copies.

Although the waste generated by the Group is limited to the
minimal amount of general office consumables, the Group still
attaches great importance to the management of solid waste. We
dispose of the toner cartridges and paper waste by recycling them
through the recycling disposal channel managed by the qualified
third-party service provider.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continuep)

The Group understands that precious water resources are crucial
to the earth and the environment, and continue to improve the
awareness of saving water via internal communication. During the
reporting period, there was no difficulty in sourcing water during
operation. The water consumption data is not available as the
business operates in leased premises with the supply and discharge
of water controlled by building management.

We have been adhering to ESG principles in the way we conduct
our business. We are pleased to report that we have achieved the
FY2022 environmental targets in this reporting period. Considering
our small operation size and the various measures adopted by
the Group to keep the impacts on the environment minimal, in
continuation of our FY2022 targets, we strive to maintain the
current level of emissions, non-hazardous wastes produced and
energy consumption in the coming three years. The three-year
target is also consistent with the latest risk assessment result where
the climate-related risk is considered low to the operations. The
Group will continue to assess, record and disclose greenhouse gas
emissions and other environmental data on an annual basis, which
will help to formulate further emission reduction targets in the
future.

Despite the notable increase in business travel due to the global
economy's recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, resulting in
a corresponding rise in CO2 emissions, the overall level of CO2
emissions is considered to be reasonable taken into account the
Group's size and operation. Throughout the reporting period, there
was no reported case of non-compliance with the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance of Hong Kong, Climate Change Act 2008 of
the United Kingdom and other applicable environmental laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.
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SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment

The Group strictly complies with applicable labour standards,
health and safety and employment laws and regulations of its
respective major operating locations. We believe an inclusive
culture is critical to running a sustainable and successful business.
The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities
throughout recruitment and employment and combating all forms
of discrimination in the workplace.

The Group has developed internal policies and guidelines on
employment, dismissal, working hours and leave entitlement,
working conduct, safety, welfare and benefits as well as training
and development. Employee handbook is distributed to all
employees as a vital communication medium between the
company and the employees. During the reporting period, there
was no reported case of non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance, Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination
Ordinance, Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, and Race
Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Equality Act 2010
of the United Kingdom, as well as other relevant employment
regulations or violation of employees’ rights during the reporting
period.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the engagement of any child and
forced labour. The Group has observed the requirements of the
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the United
Kingdom, including the Employment of Children Regulations of
Hong Kong, Modern Slavery Act 2015 of the United Kingdom,
and other applicable regulations.

We conduct stringent employee due diligence as part of the
onboarding procedure to ensure the age verification is performed
and the candidates are coming to work on their own free will.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
related to recruitment of child labour or forced labour practices.
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SOCIAL (conTINUED) g @
Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) EERSIER @
Labour Standards (Continued) B THEA @

KPI B1.1 The distribution of workforce are as follows (Note 1 & 2):  FABERISEBI NS BN AD MU T (Wat1K2) -

Number of Employee by Gender Number of Employee by Employment Type
RiENA S ESHE RERFEEEISESHA
0

11
@ Vale B @ Female M @ rull Time 28 @ Part Time FH;
Number of Employee by Age Group Number of Employee by Geographical Region
BRERANE S EEHE wER T ESHE

@ Below 40 years old 406~ @ Above 40 years old 40E L4 & @ Hong Kong &3 @ United Kingdom ]
@ India ENE @ Others Hfth
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RIE-HEREGHRS

KPI B1.2 The employee turnover rate are as follows (Note 2 & 3): RARAEMIEIRB 2B B MR T (B5t2%3) !

Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate Employee Turnover Rate by
by Gender by Age Group Geographical Region ™o ¥
RERNE S EEREE RERENB S EERIRE R E R e 8 ik v
G 2 ® o%
Q@ 0%
@ o G ::
G ;7 -
0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100% 0% 50% 100%
@ Vale B @ Female 21 @ Below 40 years old 405t L T @ ndia E1EE @ United Kingdom
@ Above 40 years old 405% L _E Hong Kong &%
Notes: PfEE

1. Asat 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 15 employees. 1. R _E_=F+-A=t+—H K&EEEHA

15%fES -
2. Employee representation data includes regular employees and 2. (EERREZGCIEALAEREEZEMBEGRN
consultants who are in a direct employment relationship with the BERERER - UTITAEIBERERBITH
Group. The following types of workers are excluded from this TEMME RFREMAAWALLIRES
disclosure due to the nature and scale of work they perform:
> Consultants, agents, contractors and vendors hired to deliver > SERMEIEISRFRERSRE A
work or services and their employment decisions, including 7 Fe (e S R 18 5 BV R (B VR E (B35 #i
compensation and benefits, are made by the third-party k@) HE=ZFREEESL
employer;

> Directors who act in an advisory or mentorship role or who > BAEMSNEEACHEATBESN
are solely the office holders. BEo

3. Employee turnover rate data covers the number of employees who 3.  {BERAREIECITIRE 29 B FEREH o A2
leave employment voluntarily or due to dismissal, retirement or e~ RIS IE R SE C M A B S 808 -
death in service during the reporting period.

4. The employee turnover was mainly attributable to the planned exit 4. BERATIEBHERNAEMAERSRRSEE
of employees due to a change in the Group's business strategy. MRS 5t BB o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ §§

115



116

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR EREAHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Health and Safety

The Group strives to provide a safe work environment, and all
employees will get assistance from the Group to succeed. The
Group has implemented practical safety management to eliminate
occupational hazards and has provided health and accidental
insurance coverage to eligible employees. Our approach to
occupational health and safety relies on the implementation of the
following policies in the workplace, including:

Personal Health

e Demand the management company to clean the air-
conditioner system regularly;

e Provide daily office cleaning service; and

e Prohibit smoking in all indoor areas of workplaces and public
places

Work Safety
e  Provide adequate and neat sanitary facilities; and

e Develop a management system with procedures for
employee to voice opinions and file complaints effectively

Fire Safety

e  Demand the management company to check the fire exits
frequently; and

e Perform fire drill every year.

During the reporting period, there was no material accident or
labour dispute with employees, and no reported case of non-
compliance with Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
of Hong Kong, Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 of United
Kingdom, as well as other relevant laws and regulations relating to
employees’ health and safety.
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R ERERHRS

SOCIAL (conTiNuED) tew

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued) EERSIER @

Health and Safety (Continued) BFEHEZLE @)

KPI B2.1 & 2.2 2021 2022 2023
A B4R Ie1RB2.1K2.2 —S_—F _"—®__ =y _=
Work-related fatalities (person) AT T (N - - -
Lost days (day) E=PN=EE(=)) - L -
Development and Training BRRIE

Staff training and enhancement guidelines are in place to ensure
appropriate support to enhance their knowledge, skills and
competencies needed for their work duties. Education allowances
and leaves are offered to the employees for attending training
courses, conferences and examinations organized by recognized
professional institutions. Relevant KPIs in relation to Aspect B1, B2
and B3 are disclosed below:

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained classified by different
categories are as follows:

rEEBEETHIIRREAES BEHET
RATIFEAPAFNE  REKRENDRHE
EXF -EESMBAUFEXEHBEMZ FIR
B -g2MaTAERHEBEEERBH -BH
JEEB1 - B2 B3R A8 B B A IS R IR E N
T

B3. 1A REFEI NN RIEET AL T ¢

Percentage of employees trained by Gender Percentage of employees trained by Employee Category

BUENBSZINEETS L

36%
50%

rESENASZIIEREESLE

zsr
57%

@ Vale B @ Female @ senior Management S4REEE @ General Staff —fiRE T
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Development and Training (Continued)

B3.2 Average training hours completed per employee are as follows:

Average training hours per
employee by Gender
BN D ERES

IG5 2L

g w

BERFIER @

BRRIEIN )

B32E % EE AN FHEEINFEHRUT !

Average training hours per
employee by Employee Category
RESSHENESSHES

IG5 2L

G 5 G 775
CEE .75 G - 75
20.00 30.00 40.00 27.00 28.00 29.00

@ Vale B @ Female &%

@ Senior Management S 4R EIRE

@ General Staff —f#g 2T

Supply Chain Management

The Group engages with its suppliers and business partners on a
fair and ethical basis and expects that they adhere to high social,
ethical and environmental standards. Our management takes
reasonable efforts to understand and ensure the Group’s business
partners comply with environmental protection regulations and
advocate good manufacturing practices and quality standards
on a continuous basis. The Group lays emphasis on promoting
efficient communications and cooperation with business partners
to jointly maintain the quality and safety of products and services.
The Group firmly believes that the solid business relationship with
its suppliers can facilitate long-term business development and
growth.

In addition, the Group has developed a set of well-defined
standard procurement management procedures on evaluating,
screening and monitoring suppliers to ensure that the
environmental and social risks associated with the supply chain
are identified and mitigated. A series of audit procedures are
conducted to comprehensively examine prospective suppliers’
performance in terms of quality, environment and safety before
engagement.
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Supply Chain Management (Continued)

The Group also selects suppliers based on the principle of
environmentally preferable purchasing to satisfy the procurement
needs after sufficiently considering the price, quality and safety of
the products and services.

Environmentally preferable products are products or services that
have a lower impact on human health and the environment than
the competing products or services that serve the same purpose.
The Group continues to ensure that ESG considerations are part of
business decision-making processes.

The Group conducts an evaluation for key suppliers on a yearly
basis to assess their overall performance. If suppliers are found
to materially violate their agreed responsibilities and operating
procedures, the Group may terminate the cooperation with them
to ensure that the performance in terms of quality, environment
and safety along the supply chain is in line with the Group's policy.

During the reporting period, we engaged with 57 suppliers all over
the world. Currently, there are 19 key suppliers selected under the
above requirements.

B5.1 The distribution of suppliers by geographical region are as
follows:
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Distribution of suppliers by geographical region
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility

As an investment company focusing on bio-pharmaceutical, the
Group's core value is to prioritize and assure quality and safety
of the Group’s products. The Group has regularly and closely
monitored the safety of all its medicine products, including
reviewing safety data from clinical studies and reviewing reports on
probable adverse drug reactions through its regulatory consultant.
The Group does not manufacture any pharmaceutical products.
However the Group monitors the manufacturers’ compliance with
Good Manufacturing Practice, Good Distribution Practice, Good
Pharmacovigilance Practices and other relevant regulations. Should
there be any misconduct and product recall, investigation will
be conducted, and results will be reported to the Management.
During the reporting period, there were no product recall, quality
issues or adverse events reported and no products and service-
related complaints received.

The Group is devoted to protecting both internal and external
intellectual property and patent rights. IT Department is
responsible for obtaining proper licenses and permits for using the
software, hardware and information in the business operation.

In case of any identified acquisition opportunity, the Group
conducts due diligence process to ensure the acquiree has
measures in place to protect its confidential information, trade
secrets, know-how, inventions or other propriety information.
The access to the documents related to intellectual property are
restricted to authorized personnel only.
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SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Product Responsibility (Continued)

The Group also emphasizes the importance of data privacy. It
strives to protect the privacy of its customers, business partners
and employees in processing their business or personal data
and the data collected is restricted to the intended use. Any
information related to customers or suppliers, including contact,
guotation or working terms, are kept confidential in accordance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Data
Protection Act 2018 in the United Kingdom, and other applicable
laws and regulations on data protection. It is the individual and
collective responsibility of the employees and business partners to
report privacy incidents/concerns promptly following the whistle-
blowing mechanism detailed in the section below. During the
Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any material non-
compliance on data privacy issues. In case of a breach, a zero-
tolerance policy is adopted.

Anti-Corruption

Honesty, integrity and fairness are our core values which have
been communicated to all directors and employees through the
Code of Conduct, employee handbook and internal policies. The
Group requests our employees to follow the Code of Conduct
to eliminate corruption such as bribery, extortion, fraud and anti-
money laundering in any circumstance. On a bi-annual basis,
all directors and employees are required to attend training on
business ethics to reinforce the awareness of anti-corruption. In
the fourth quarter of 2023, training on ethics was provided to the
Directors and Senior Management.

The Group strives to maintain a system with moral integrity and
an anti-corruption mechanism, which is the cornerstone for
sustainable and healthy development. To effectively strengthen
the Group integrity, it continues to improve the internal
supervision and anti-corruption management in accordance
with local and national legislation strictly, such as the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong, Bribery Act 2010 of the
United Kingdom as well as other relevant regulations. During the
reporting period, there was no reported case of non-compliance.

R ERERHRS
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IR EREAHRS

SOCIAL (conTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Anti-Corruption (Continued)

In addition, a whistle-blowing mechanism has been established
to provide a confidential channel for employees to report any
concerns or malpractice in confidence and without fear of
recrimination. The whistle-blower has the option to contact the
Chairman/Chairlady of the Audit Committee by email. The Group
is committed to ensuring that any allegation is immediately
dealt with and followed up by Chairman/Chairlady of the Audit
Committee with due care. The mechanism is closely monitored
and reviewed on a regular basis to ensure its design and
operational efficiency. The Group is committed to conducting all
businesses in the absence of any undue influence and prohibits
any form of corruption or malpractice including bribery, money
laundering, extortion and fraud.

On Behalf of the Board

James Mellon
Chairman

27 March 2024

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED Bl R A F ¥ EEBERAE

HZT @
BEREIER @®
RES @

5 FEE BRI BHREG > BESRMRF
BRE UREARNEREFAEINFAET
70 MBAEORRIET - BRAPTEZUE
FHHEBEABREZEE IR AEEBME
REMEZEILINGIHEZEZEEIRLER
BT IR o % MBI B R ) BE TR R T B ARG
URFRERS REENXR - AEBRONES
REMBEXEBERTNETHAER BILE
WREAZE SRR fIHERE AERE
RREGFE N ET Ao

REEEE

FE
James Mellon

T WFE=-B”"_+tH



Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

MBI ERE

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREGHRS

Governance Structure

il

Reporting Principles

HERR

A statement from the board containing the following elements:

(i)  adisclosure of the board’s oversight of ESG issues;

(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the
issuer’s businesses); and

(i) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related
goals and targets with an explanation of how they relate to
the issuer’s businesses.

REFSRHNER BRHA TIAR

() HEEZEHRRE - HEREAEENEGE

(i) EZEGNRE-HEREAR é@ﬁ’ﬁ& B% » BLAEET
BRI REEEENRIE - A REAERAER
(BEHBEITAEBNER 812 ; &

(i) BEEFUWAIRIRIE ﬁ@&a/uj‘ﬁﬁagﬁ el EE 0
T MINFEEIT AERARE

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG
report:

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the process to
identify and the criteria for the selection of material ESG factors;
(ii) if a stakeholder engagement is conducted, a description of
significant stakeholders identified, and the process and results of
the issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

Quantitative: Information on the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, and source of
conversion factors used, for the reporting of emissions/energy
consumption (where applicable) should be disclosed.

Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG report any
changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any other relevant
factors affecting a meaningful comparison.

B BEERERE S RERARTFRNAER T
RIRA]

2t RE-HEREABRERIKE ()R ERRIE 1T
RERREB %E&iﬁT%Ltbl%‘iiE’\JEﬁU (n)ﬂl]’é*ﬁ/\a
ETRNESR ERNEZFNENELRETAFN
2HERBIERER

gﬂ: E%ﬁ[%ﬁﬁﬁ&g/ ERFER WMER) PRAREE 7
ENRR R/ HEAELANER WRFMEANEBIRARDN
J!E/J_FE%W%O

—EM BT ARTRE - HEREARSTPRERT A
SR RAERIEIRMEE WA) WEMEMEEE SR LR
ERAEZE -

Page 106

$£106E

Page 108

$£108H
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RIR- g RERERS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEBITEIR R E

Reporting Boundary

A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG
report and describing the process used to identify which entities
or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is a change
in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference and reason
for the change.

RRERE e NERARSHNERDE REMIERLES
BHEBWARRE HEREARSTNER SERBESR
Fred & 1T ANBBERR Z E R EBREA -

Page 107

$£10782

Subject Area A: Environment
FTEHEA RS

Aspect A1: Emissions

HA1 B

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Page 108 to 109

—RR I B BERBRERERBEN  mAKRLt MBS - EERESE F108E1098
BEEYINELEZR !
@ HR;,&x
(b)) BTFHTETABEAZENERERRROIBEL
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Page 109
RARAEMIEIRAL BEnp e da s AR R BRI B © %1098
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Page 109
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per
unit of production volume, per facility).
RAR A IS IRAL.2 Bi#Z (BEN) RREE @EE2) RERBEIME CUIEsE) $1098

& WBR) BE (MUASESEN BERKME) -

KPI'A1.3

RASRAEISIRA1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FRESXESBEEYMEE UEHE) k (ER) BE WUE
EEB 8ERHAE) o

Not applicable

NER

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED Bl R A F ¥ EEBERAE



Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREGHRS

SEHM B RE

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Page 109
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

RASRAR IS IRA1 .4 FREAEZSEEYRE UWEE) k (ER) ZE WUE $1098
ESE - BIERMH) o

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Page 110 to 111

RASRAEISIRA1.5

them.

HHLFrET MBI E B IR AR L B IRFTERENBY B o

F110E111E2

KPI'A1.6

R AE WIS 1ZA1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HRIBEAEABEEEYN G L RMFs]1Z80REEE
B A3 E R E L B IRFTERENRY P BR

Page 110 to 111

E110E111E2

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 . ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water Page 109
and other raw materials.

— RN BEREAER (BIEER K REMERMED) BOBER %1098

KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Page 109
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

RASRAR RIS IRA2.1 BB DNERKHEEER GE - RICH) LFES (UL 51098

TETERFHS) RBE MUSEEEN -BERMH) °

KPI' A2.2

RESR B WIEIEA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

MIEKEREE MUSEEE 8BRS °

Not applicable

TIEF

KPI'A2.3

R R AE R IEIRA2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken
to achieve them.
PR 5T LAY A
By BR o

ERERNmBERRAEEREEBREATRE

Page 110 to 111

£110E1118

KPI'A2.4

RERAEWIEEA2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

SR EGE R /KOR E R B ERRERE » DURFRET LB A KM
B AEDELEBZPTEREEI D 5

Page 110 to 111

E110E111E
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEH MR TR E

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) Page 110
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

RASRAR WIS IRA2.5 SR P A EEMRINARE CIESTE) k (NER) BLEEE $1108

IfE&-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 | IRIERRAER

General Disclosure

— AR ER

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

REETAHNRBERRABEREMNERTZ ERBR-

Page 108 to 112

$£108E1128

KPI' A3.1

RS A IS IZEA3.1

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

M EBESNHIRIEARABRNEAZEREHRNEIR
BRI ENTH -

Page 108 to 112

$£108E1128

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EEAS : RIREE

General Disclosure

—

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.
HAREHEERIEEHBFTAEELENERRIEE
S ERIEER

Page 108 to 112

$£108E1128

KPI A4.1

B SR RFEIRAAL.T

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

F BRI EHETAEERENEARGEBEZE
R EH1TE

Page 108 to 112

$£108E1128
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RIE-HEREGHRS

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

MBI ERE

Subject Area B: Social
TREEEB: (1

Employment and Labour Practices

EBREKRFLIER
Aspect B1: Employment
[E®EB1 : B

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

Page 112 to 113

— R iR EE BRI R BEREA  TERECBE FSERE $11221138
Zib s RIEFUREMFEREF :
@ BR, &
b) BTHETABEAZENERERZERANEE
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full or Page 114
parttime), age group and geographical region.
RA R AE RIEARB 1.1 R EEELE 2B R - FRENRMER 2K F1148
(SR
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical Page 115
region.
BRI AR XIE1EB1.2 MR FEAER R EE D EE MR F1158
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmEB2 : EFREZE
General Disclosure Information on: Page 116
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.
— iR ERRMZETIHRRERREREEBEHEIEGER $1168
@ BR, &
b) BTHETABEAZENRREZRRANEER
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of Page 117
the past three years including the reporting year.
R AN 51EB2.1 ME=F (BEERFE) SFRITHAABKIER B1178
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Page 117
SR AERFE1EB2.2 HAITGEETIIFEHC B1M78
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, Page 117
and how they are implemented and monitored.
R BN T51EB2.3 PR ER AN BV B 2 (R R B 22 248 > URABRIFIT B R s 1178

ke
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEBITEIR R E

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : R EE

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Page 117
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

— R iR R BRIRAEERIT LEB BN B KR AENEER c #WiiFsll $1178
EE) e

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Page 117
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

A SRAR N5 1EB3.1 U REELER WSREEE PRREERE) 0T F1178
BEBDLE-

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender Page 118
and employee category.

RASRAB RIS 1RB3.2 BHRREELEREID  BREETMRIIN TR $1188

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EERS : ¥ T #8|

General Disclosure

—RINE

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

BRAMIEETEEHI% T -

@@ HZE; &

(b) BTFTHETABERZZNEREZRERRAGNER -

Page 113 to 115

$£113E1158

KPI B4.1

R A 5 1EB4.1

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
Hotii ST 1B BB ARV FE TR LU o & T Kz 5@l 25 T o

Page 114

$£1148

KPI B4.2

B RIE1EBA.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
I IRERIB R EIRE BB P EREX AT 8%

No such practices
were identified.

F 4 3% 35 L 48 4
P

Operating Practices
SEE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[BTEBS : HIEEEIE

General Disclosure

— RIS

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.
EEHEENIRER TG AR

Page 118 to 119

$£118E 11982
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HEREGHRS

SRR BN E

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Page 119

R R AR A5 1RB5. 1 it DR HEREE - %1198

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number Page 118 to 119
of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

RS4RI 15 7285.2 it A B BE PR AR A 0B ) > ML BT R B MUV (AR RS 251181198
B MR BRI T R B g A

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social Page 118 to 119
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

AR AR XI5 1EB5.3 M A R AR RS ERANIRIE KL AMRAVES > UL 11821198
FARR AT REER %

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Page 118 to 119
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

RA SR AR AN F512B5.4 B EREHERRRESRRREMKIRGFNED > Lk F118E1198

HEARITRERT A

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

Page 120 to 121

— RN ERPFFIEHERMRBHRREEZE - EBS REKENES $12081218
HUKEHFEN
@@ BR; &
(b) BTFHETABEAZENEMERZRRFANER

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Page 120
safety and health reasons.

A SR AR X35 12B6. 1 EERCEXERBHPRZ 2 EERIEAMARWNE $1208

kL.
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

SEFITEIR BN E

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and Page 120
how they are dealt with.

A R 4R XI5 1%B6.2 BERANEDRIRFE BB UREE L 51208

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Page 120
intellectual property rights.

AR AE XI512B6.3 5 2t B e 5 e R PR KL 58 EE R AR B B o 51208

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.  Page 120

R AN I512B6.4 i E SmE B R EmEIIZRE 51208

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, Page 121
and how they are implemented and monitored.

RA R BN T51EB6.5 HLHBEERRBERAMBEER  URBRAATRERRS H1218

ko

Aspect B7: Anticorruption
[EHEB7 : R&J5

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Page 121 to 122

— AR B BRAM LEFRRS 1R ERFF R B 8800 - FI21E1228
@ BR, &
b) BTHTBETABEATZENEREIERRANER

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Page 121 to 122

R A 5 1ER7.1

brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

JINE =Rl AYEEE%&IE% S ED
(ERINESESPSEIEIN TS

EEEAES

F121E1228

KPI B7.2

BRI RNIEIRBT .2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

AL SIS BRI U ARRR T R B R 5 A

Page 121 to 122

F121E1228

KPI' B7.3

RSB AEIS1EB7.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.
HhREERETRENRETE

Page 121 to 122

$£121E1228
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Mandatory Disclosure Requirements

MBI ERE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[BHEBS : H & E

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs Not applicable
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities” interests.

—RR I ER BERUte2ERTHESEMTHEETENRRAXSET ~EH
HeE B EN @B

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental Not applicable
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

AR AR XI5 12B8. 1 EIEMEE WHE RREEE - HIER - BE -8B ~ER
7)o

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Not applicable

R SR A RN I512B8.2 FEIHRABAER W REE) AER
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

B EEHENR S

29th Floor, Lee Garden Two, 28 Yun Ping Road,

N I

RSM Hong Kong EREEEER
EHEEERTE_1/\5K

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong FEZH -+ FE
T+8522598 5123 EEE +852 2598 5123

F+852 25987230 {#H +8522598 7230

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF REGENT PACIFIC GROUP
LIMITED (FORMERLY KNOWN AS ENDURANCE RP LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Regent
Pacific Group Limited (formerly known as Endurance RP Limited)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) set out on pages 138 to 256, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

www.rsmhk.com www.rsmhk.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss
of approximately US$25,049,000 during the year ended 31
December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group has net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately US$796,000 and
US$1,551,000, respectively. As stated in Note 2, these conditions
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole and, in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. Other than the matter described in the “Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section of our report,
we have determined there are no other key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

VRS T

FRFAREEZEXRTHRERR

%# DEJ

BTEFREUHRKRMT2 Z
MizEREE BEERBEZE_Z_=F+°A
=+ —HIEFE#HRSEE4925,049,000%E 7T
kiRZH> B£EEZRBEEFERERT
KD B4 %796,000% 75 K 1,551,0003 7T © &
W sE2 P4t > L2 1B R REAFEE K THEA
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AEE - BEREEEZ R R EE] o

FREZEIR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
| EERS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
| EERS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yu Kwok Keung.

RSM Hong Kong
Certified Public Accountants

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GelimRkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE_ZT_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—EZ= BT HF
Note US$’'000 Us$'000
Mzt FEr TFE5T
Revenue Weim 8 291 114
Other income Hmlg A 8 26 109
Exchange gains/(losses), net FERWE, (58 11 169 (109)
Fair value loss on FAFVPL FBBmIREANEE
BRI HRIEE
ZARBEBE 11 (38) (353)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of FAFVPL HEFZBEBEREZE AR
BEEEZSMEE
z Wz, (B518) 11 91 (3,781)
539 (4,020)
Expenses: S
Employee benefit expenses BEEFER 12 (2,969) (3,227)
Rental and office expenses MEMBAEER (132) (119)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEITE (460) (468)
Information and technology expenses B &% & (170) (161)
Marketing costs hiZEEE R (33) (50)
Professional and consulting fees BEREHER (670) (652)
Research and development expenses A E25E (1,379) (1,221)
Impairment loss on an intangible B EERERE
asset 11,18 (1,518) -
Impairment loss on FRAREEREERE
right-of-use assets 11,17 (1,152) -
Amortisation of intangible assets m B E 11, 18 (22,184) (24,951)
Other operating expenses HhZEZ H (255) (126)
Loss from operations EiEEE (30,383) (34,995)
Finance costs BB A 9 (80) (1,013)
Loss before tax PRI AIE 1R (30,463) (36,008)
Income tax credit/(expense) Friefiigse (%) 10 5,414 (419)
Loss for the year FNEE 11 (25,049) (36,427)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GElEnkEMEEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZ—Z-_=F+_"_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E=HF =1 as
Note US$’'000 Us$'000
liok3 FEr FE5T
Other comprehensive income: Hfth2EWA :
Item that may be reclassified to A EMAEEREZ
profit or loss: IHH :
Exchange differences on translating MEBINERZ
foreign operations PEf = RE (203) 25
Other comprehensive income FRHME2EWA
for the year, net of tax NpRIRIE (203) 25
Total comprehensive income FAZEKBALLE
for the year (25,252) (36,402)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTREIEEMEE :
Shareholders of the Company KABIRER (25,049) (36,427)
Total comprehensive income UTEGEANZE
for the year attributable to: YA 4EEE :
Shareholders of the Company KANBIIRER (25,252) (36,402)
Loss per share attributable to FTATIRRELERZ Restated
shareholders of the Company FhiREE KET
during the year US cents US cents
15 e A
— Basic —&x (11.13) (30.36)
— Diluted —#8 (11.13) (30.36)
HK cents HK cents
=311 A
— Basic —&R (87.12) (237.72)
- Diluted —#8 (87.12) (237.72)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EEaMBRRR

As at 31 December 2023 W ZE_=F+"_A=+—H
2023 2022
Fy_= =
Note US$'000 Us$'000
Kzt FRIT S
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y2~ RS I s8 1 16 10 27
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17 - 276
Intangible assets mIEE 18 - 23,702
Interest in an associate R—EMEA AT ZEm 19 - 1
Financial assets at fair value through  3ZA A EEEH A H M
other comprehensive income PEWAZEREE 20 = =
Total non-current assets JERBN S ELREE 10 24,006
Current assets RENEE
Financial assets at fair value through BB EBEHIRIZ A NEE
profit or loss RIEZEHMEE 22 318 1,097
Trade receivables e E 5 BRFR 23 39 23
Prepayments, deposits and other TENRIBEFE R HM
receivables €= 298 851
Restricted bank balances 2 IR&IIRIT 45 BR 24 32 32
Cash and bank balances IB& MIRTTASER 24 2,097 309
Asset classified as held for sale NEAFELEEE 25 1 =
Total current assets MENEEREE 2,785 2,312
Current liabilities Bt )=k
Trade payables, contract liabilities, e B S ERF
accruals and other payables BHEaE EHR™M
R ELAth FE{ T8 26 3,151 4,604
Bank borrowings IR1TREE 28 8 8
Shareholder’s loans RREER 31 = 13,402
Lease liabilities HEaRE 29 422 302
Total current liabilities TENB(ELEEE 3,581 18,316
Net current liabilities RENBEFEE (796) (16,004)
Total assets less current liabilities EEAERBRHAE (786) 8,002
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A, \ Iy
EFEaBIKRER
As at 31 December 2023 W ZE_=F+_"_A=+—H
2023 2022
—g-= o g
Note US$'000 Us$'000
K&t =78 = 2= o
Non-current liabilities JERBEE
Bank borrowings IR1TEE 28 12 18
Deferred tax liabilities R IEEE 32 - 5,387
Lease liabilities HEaE 29 753 =
Total non-current liabilities JERBEEHETE 765 5,405
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (Bff) BEZRE (1,551) 2,597
EQUITY R
Share capital [N 27 228 24,004
Reserves =X 36 (1,779) (21,407)
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)/ (RRAE5HR) HREm4REE
TOTAL EQUITY (1,551) 2,597

Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 and are

signed on its behalf by:

James Mellon
Chairman

ZE

KEFER _Z_WNEF=ZR_+tHAYAEL

HUTALIARRE

Jamie Gibson
Executive Director

HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

R

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &

SEE

e —

F+RA=1+—HLFE

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

FAFRRMEL
Foreign
Investment Share-based Capital Statutory currency
Share  Accumulated Share revaluation payment redemption and other exchange
capital losses premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve Total equity
PEairt-t EER
2 iR BipEE REEMHHRE mitREE  RAREMRE i SMBERERE ERaE
(note 36(b)(i))  (note 36(b)(ii))  (note 36(b)(iv))  (note 36(b)(v))  (note 36(b)(vi)) (note 36(b)(vii)) (note 36(b)(vii))
(fEE360)))  (HEE360)G))  (MEE3e(b)iv)  (fEE36b)v)  (HE36b)v))  (EE3e(b)wi))  (HisE36(o)viii)
2023 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 USS'000 US$'000
ZEC= TER TFER TER TER TE7 TER TE7 TER FER
At 1 January 2023 RIZ-=fF-A-A 24,004 (326,933) 294,331 (1,500) 74 8228 215 3,538 2,597
Loss for the year ERiE - (25,049) - - - - - - (25,049)
Other comprehensive income Hitt2ERA - - - - - - - (203) (203)
Total comprehensive income for FR2ERALE
the year - (25,049) - - - - - (203) (25,252)
Capital Reduction RAHIE (45,450) 45,450 - - - - - - -
Issue of shares through Rights Issue BRERETRN 21,665 = (774) = S s S = 20,891
New shares issued for share awards RRORBRTHRND 9 10 - - (19 - - - -
Equity settled share-based payment MURELHNRAHTRS
transactions (note 34) (BtzE34) - - - - 213 - - 5 213
Share options lapsed BRELN - 83 s o (83) S s - -
(23,776) 45,543 (774) - 1m - - - 21,104
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=F+ZA=1-H 228 (306,439) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8,228 215 3335 (1,551)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FEEmEEBR

—=EtCA=t—ALEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HZE_Z

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

SOARRE
Foreign
Convertible Investment Share-based Capital Statutory currency
Accumulated Share notes equity revaluation payment redemption and other exchange
Share capital [osses premium resenve esenve reserve feserve reserves eserve Total equity
THRRR DR AR EER
iz ZitER BAVEE B REEEEE NEUREE  RARDEE Hiti  NEERGEE Enes
(note 36(b)i))  (note 36(b)i))  (note 36(b)il)  (note 36(b)iv))  (note 36(b)v))  (note 36(b)(vi)  (note 36(o)(vii))  (note 36(b)viii)
(3ol (rsE3elo)i)  (RaEs6(oii) — (RaE36(bo)iv) — (&E36(o)w)  (aEe(bol) — (Mfa3elbvi))  (FifsE3e(b)vii)
2022 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
k- Jenfent FEn FEn T#n TEn TEn T£n T#n RE7 TEn RET
At 1 January 2022 it St = R 23,99 (291,716) 294,326 1,092 (1,500) 617 8228 215 3513 38,769
Loss for the year FREE - (36,427) - - - - - - - (36,427)
Other comprehensive income Ht2EHRA - - - - - - - - 25 25
Total comprehensive income for FRRERALE
the year - (36,427) - - - - - - 25 (36,402)
Equity-settled share-based payment URBEENROARRS
transactions (note 34) (H3E34) - - - - - 230 - - = 230
New Shares issued for share awards ARDRBBTHRN 10 5 5 - = (20) = = = =
Share options lapsed BIRELY - 113 - - - (113) - - - -
Repayment of Convertible Notes ERITRRERE (1:30)
(note 30) - 1,092 - (1,092) - - - - - -
10 1,210 5 (1,092) - 97 - - - 230
At 31 December 2022 RIEZZE+ZB=+-H 24,004 (326933) 294,331 - (1,500) 714 8228 215 3538 2,597
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GalEHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZZ-_=F+"A=+—HI-FE

2023 2022
EE_= BT HF
Note US$’'000 Us$'000
iz FEr TFE5T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHZMNERE :
ACTIVITIES:
Loss before tax PRIRAIE 1R (30,463) (36,008)
Adjustments for: NS IEFH AR
Finance costs E=YD%:N 80 1,013
Depreciation of property, plant and MR REEITE
equipment 11,16 16 17
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEITE 11,17 460 468
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWME -BEMSRE
and equipment Z k518 11 2 1
Amortisation of intangible assets m B EEH 11,18 22,184 24,951
(Gain)/loss on disposal of FAFVPL HEFBERIREZA D
BEREZSHEE
z () /518 11 (91) 3,781
Impairment loss on an intangible B EE BB
asset 11,18 1,518 S
Impairment loss on right-of-use FEREEERERIE
assets 11,17 1,152 -
Fair value loss on financial assets at FRBEmREANEE
FAFVPL RIEBEZETHMBEY
NRBEEEBIE 11, 22 38 353
Equity-settled share-based MigEmEEN
payment expenses AR TR Z 12, 34 213 230
Operating loss before SEBEAEFAICEE
working capital changes E518 (4,891) (5,194)
Increase in trade receivables FEUL B 5 AR T 0 (16) (13)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, BRI #FE R HEHM
deposits and other receivables FEUS R IR
(= hm) 553 (400)
Decrease in trade payables, contract B EZERFT - 5HNE
liabilities, accruals and other & BT ERR R H A
payables FE (I RIE RV (36) (347)
Proceeds from disposal of FAFVPL HEFBBERKRERAR
BEREZSHEE
ZFR1G=IA 832 6,485
Cash (used in)/generated & (FrA) /FiiSiRE
from operations (3,558) 531
Interest on lease liabilities HEaEF S (59) (39)
Income taxes refund RIRFTIEIR 27 14
Net cash (used in)/generated from s EE FRA) /s
operating activities REFEE (3.590) 506
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #HEZ—Z-_=F+_"_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—¥=-= S LT s
Note US$’'000 Us$'000
Ktz FEr FE5T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BREEHZAERE .
ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property, BAYE - -BEREE
plant and equipment 16 (2) (12)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - KEMEE
plant and equipment FriS=RIE 1 5
Net cash used in investing activities KREEEPTRARE 3 (1) 7)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RMEESZRAERE
ACTIVITIES: 37
Proceeds from shareholders’ loans REREMR 2 FR1EFIE - 2,520
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIRTEE (€] 9)
Interest paid on bank borrowings EMIRITEEZFR
(note) (M5%) 3 y
Repayment of Convertible Notes BRI =R - (2,650)
Interest paid on Convertible Notes ENAHBRRERZTIE - (175)
Principal elements of lease payments ~ FAERIEZ K& I (461) (481)
Net proceeds from Rights Issue HARFTIS IR 25 6,051 =
Net cash generated from/(used in) REVEBIFTS S FTA) =
financing activities REFEE 5,582 (795)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash IR&KRIRSHEYIL N,
equivalents CRiZL) %8 1,991 (296)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January M—B—HZR&K&
REEEY 309 581
Effects of foreign currency fluctuations — 4MNEE R 8 2 228 (203) 24
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT »+=-B=+—Hz
31 DECEMBER HERREZEY 2,097 309
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERREEEMZ
EQUIVALENTS: SR
Cash and bank balances RE MIRTTAEER 24 2,097 309

Note: Interest paid on bank borrowings for the year ended 31 December iz HE T _=F+_A=+—HILEFE Ef
2023 is less than US$1,000 (2022: less than US$1,000). IRITEEZMEDIN,000ETT (CEZ2F !
D FA1,000%7T) ©
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability. The address of its registered office is at P.O.
Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business is 8th
Floor, Henley Building, 5 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and are also traded on the Open Market
(Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The Company is engaged in investment holding. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries consist
of investments in biopharma companies and other corporate
investments.

In the opinion of the Directors, Mr. James Mellon is the
ultimate controlling party of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs issued by HKICPA.
HKFRSs comprise HKFRS; HKAS and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the
disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION (conTinueD)

The Group incurred a loss of approximately US$25,049,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had net current liabilities and net
liabilities of approximately US$796,000 and US$1,551,000,
respectively.

These events and conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

Nevertheless, the Directors had adopted the going concern
basis in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements of the Group, based on the measures including
but not limited to the following:

(@ The Company entered into a loan agreement with
Galloway on 27 March 2024 (the "Effective Date”),
which made available to the Company a US$ loan
facility in an aggregate amount of US$2,000,000
with an interest rate of 8% per annum and repayable
within 18 months of the Effective Date (the " Galloway
Loan”). On the same date, the Company has drawn
down US$400,000 from the above facility; and

(b) The Group will seek to implement operational plans
to control costs and generate sufficient operating
cash flows to meet its current and future obligations.
These actions include cost control measures, and timely
collection of outstanding receivables.

The Directors have estimated the Group’s cash requirements
by preparing a Group cashflow forecast for the 15 months
ending 31 March 2025. The Directors are of the opinion
that the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements, that is for 15 months ending 31 March
2025. Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that it is
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
these consolidated financial statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION (conTiNUED)

Notwithstanding, material uncertainty exists as to whether
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern would
depend upon the following:

(@)  successful draw down of Galloway Loan as and when
needed; and

(b) successful implementation of measures to effectively
control costs and expenses and timely collection of
receivables.

Should the Group fail to achieve the above-mentioned plans
and measures, it might not be able to continue to operate as
a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities
that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contract
Amendments to HKAS 8  Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to
Assets and Liabilities
Avrising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS Disclosure of Accounting
1 and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial
statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies” for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1
"Presentation of Financial Statements” is amended to
replace all instances of the term "significant accounting
policies" with "material accounting policy information".
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included
in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users
of general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material.
If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure
material accounting policy information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies” (Continued)

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the "Practice Statement") is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
"four-step materiality process" to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no
material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance but has affected the disclosure of the
Group’s accounting policies set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS
12 “Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 12
“Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction” for the first time in the
current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exemption to exclude transactions
that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary
differences — e.g. leases.

The application of the amendments has had no

material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)

(b) Revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective:
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Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RTSEAxRZE
MRz EsHiRER
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024
ERAGFENF IS BFTHR) —RBBERBEEDE —EmME—F—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
BEEGHENFE IR (BT —NEZENIERBEE “EImMFE—HF—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1 January 2024
BEEUBREERE165E (BT —ERLEZHEERE “EmME—RF—H
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2024
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause
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Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 — Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
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Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BEEGSENFE215 (BFT4A) —RZ I “E_HF—HA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or Contribution of Assets To be determined

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

by the HKICPA
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The Directors anticipate that the application of all
amendments to HKFRSs will not have material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

EEHANTRRERRERREE
BUMBREENZETEHGEEY
BRERBIEENERTE-

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 &£ 151



152

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. The Group has power over an entity when
the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its
potential voting rights as well as potential voting
rights held by other parties. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to
exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in
that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net
assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill
and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’'s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that
is classified as held for sale). Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investments. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received or receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(c)

Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint
control over those policies. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by
other entities, are considered when assessing whether
the Group has significant influence. In assessing
whether a potential voting right contributes to
significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial
ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable
amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

4.

BEXEHHREH @

(c)

BEAE

=

BEARIEAERHEAEATE
NZEBRE -BEARENE2HERE
R A E SRR R B I R =Y
HEEGZERRZET - BEH
thEERFAEZBEEREREANNE
ReJ TR A R 2 BER TR
HEARZERNTLAERFS
BEARXENKTUEE - T FEE
EREBEEGEATER FAA
TREIRRZEN BRI R FE
NAEEREA-

a1

REMEABDZREDNERAREDAR
REMBRRIR WA IFE
)L HESR o FT UL BB B ' A B) Z A o
MEERGENDNZANBEERZ
NABEFE - HREMETBHE
EEREMEATDZURIEER
BEZANBEFE EBRFF
BB Tt AREZIREE
NeMAEEBGEARIEERE
Bz RAnBEFESCUWEBE
AIEEBER N RERmAES -

FAEBRNEREATRERBNG
BMEATNE@m A EHRERE S
FHEEAEERSER  RENEZH
FREE (BERE RERE—BE
REEB Gt ER|E365ETRIE
A HEERE U E S B
REEEAABEREENEZR
5%) BHREEETLER - EAE
ERBREBETIEOEERMIR
EREE—HONERNESE (B84
BE) - ZRERBEZ EFELHR
BEBESHERBIRIEREZ T
Wy [o] & BE H AR 1R AN R ST o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EXGHHEEM@
INFORMATION (conTinueD)
(c) Associate (Continued) (0 KEAT @

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate), the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits,
the Group resumes recognising its share of those profits
only after its share of the profits equals the share of
losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration
of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that associate and (ii) the Group's entire carrying
amount of that associate (including goodwill) and
any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve. If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture, the Group continues to
apply the equity method and does not remeasure the
retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(@)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in United States dollars, which is the
Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary
assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items that are
measured at fair value in foreign currencies are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EBEARTHHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (conTinueD)
(d) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (d) SMEBE @
(iii) Translation on consolidation (iii) 4REAREFFIRE

The results and financial position of all foreign
operations (none of which has the currency
of hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the Company’s
presentation currency are translated into the
Company's presentation currency as follows:

—  Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

—  All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign currency
translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold,
such exchange differences are reclassified to
consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the supply of services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual values over the estimated useful lives on
a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are as
follows:

Furniture and fixtures
Computer and other equipment

5 years
3-5 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

U]

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed
where the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of
the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-
value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise
the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments
associated with those leases which are not capitalised
are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments to be
made under reasonably certain extension options are
also included in the measurement of the lease liability.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

U]

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group:

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing
conditions since third party financing was
received;

e uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases
held by the group entities, which does not have
recent third-party financing; and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the
lease, then the group entities use that rate as a starting
point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

U]

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in
an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group's
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of
the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

U]

(9)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case, the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are any
rent concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In
such cases, the Group took advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent concessions
are lease modifications, and recognised the change in
consideration as negative lease payments in profit or
loss in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the rent concessions occurred.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately — patent and
IP

Patent and IP are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Patents and IP
acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Patent (Fortacin™)
IP (Deep Longevity)

8 years
7 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(h) Contract liabilities

0]

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

0]

()

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group's obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace. All recognised financial
assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at
either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

()

(k)

Financial assets (Continued)
Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an election to
designate the investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") (non-recycling) such
that subsequent changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may
only be made if the investment meets the definition
of equity from the issuer's perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the investment
revaluation reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve
(non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI, are recognised in profit
or loss as other income.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right
to receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they
are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the
trade receivables with the objective of collecting the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

U]

Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than
through continuing use. This condition is regarded
as met only when the sale is highly probable and the
asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale
in its present condition. The Group must be committed
to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from
the date of classification.

Non-current assets or disposal groups classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of the assets or
disposal group’s previous carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell, except for assets such as deferred tax
assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial
assets and investment property that are carried at fair
value and contractual rights under insurance contracts,
which are specifically exempt from this requirement.

Non-current assets (including those that are part of
a disposal group) are not depreciated or amortised
while they are classified as held for sale. Interest
and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a
disposal group classified as held for sale continue to be
recognised.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the
assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale
are presented separately from the other assets in
the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group
classified as held for sale are presented separately from
other liabilities in the balance sheet.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

(o)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed
for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and
equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption amount
is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(o)

(p)

(a)

Borrowings (Continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Convertible notes

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert
the notes into a fixed number of equity instruments
at a fixed conversion price are regarded as compound
instruments consisting of a liability and an equity
component. At the date of issue, the fair value of the
liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt.
The difference between the proceeds of issue of the
convertible notes and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the embedded option
for the holder to convert the notes into equity of the
Group, is included in equity as convertible notes equity
reserve. The liability component is carried as a liability at
amortised cost using the effective interest method until
extinguished on conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability
and equity components of the convertible loans based
on their relative carrying amounts at the date of issue.
The portion related to the equity component is charged
directly to equity.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

4, MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EBEARTHHEEEHR®
INFORMATION (conTinueD)
(s) Revenue and other income (s) WHEREMITA

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or
service is transferred to the customer, at the amount of
promised consideration to which the Group is expected
to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on
behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added
tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

The Group enters into licence agreements for
development, supply and commercialisation services.
The terms of these arrangements typically include
payments to the Group of one or more of the
following: signature payment, milestone payments for
development and regulatory application and royalty on
net sales of licenced products. A milestone payment
is a variable consideration which is constrained until it
is probable that the revenue is not at a significant risk
of reversal in a future period when the uncertainty is
resolved. The contracts into which the Group enters do
not include significant financing components.

Revenue from signature payment is recognised when
customers have ability to use the underlying IP of the
license.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(s) Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from milestone payments is recognised
when the Group evaluates whether the milestones
are considered probable of being achieved and
estimates the amount to be included in the transaction
price using the most likely amount method at the
inception of each arrangement that includes milestone
payments. If it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue would not occur, the associated
milestone value is included in the transaction price.
Milestone payments that are not within the control
of the Group, such as regulatory approvals, are not
considered probable of being achieved until those
approvals are received. The Group evaluates factors
such as the scientific, clinical, regulatory, commercial,
and other risks that must be overcome to achieve the
particular milestone in making this assessment. There
is considerable judgement involved in determining
whether it is probable that a significant reversal of
cumulative revenue would not occur. At the end of the
subsequent reporting period, the Group re-evaluates
the probability of achievement of all milestones subject
to constraint and, if necessary, adjusts its estimate of
the overall transaction price. Any such adjustments
are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which
would affect revenues and earnings in the period of
adjustment.

Revenue from royalty income for a sales-based royalty
in exchange for a licence of IP is recognised when
(or as) the later of the following events occurs: (a)
the subsequent sale occurs; and (b) the performance
obligation to which some or all of the sales-based
royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially
satisfied).

Revenue derived from contracts for providing age
prediction and recommendation services include
revenue from application programming interface
("API") implementation service, platform subscription,
support service and provision of biological age reports.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(s)

®

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Revenue from APl implementation service is recognised
when the APl has been implemented.

Revenue from platform subscription and support service
are recognised in profit or loss over the service period.

Revenue from provision of biological age reports
is recognised when the biological age reports are
delivered to customers.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling) that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit
impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate
is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
(i) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by
the Group and employees are calculated as a
percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The
retirement benefit scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(t)

(u)

(v)

(w)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of the dates when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits, and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs and
involves the payment of termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding
the effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of
the equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair
value determined at the grant date of the equity-settled
share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted
for the effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the
Group receives the services and is recognised as an
expense.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(w) Government grants (Continued)

(x)

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match
them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit and at the time of transaction
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(x) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associate except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(x)

(y)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends either to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable
that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain
tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual
group entities in their income tax filings. If it is probable,
the current and deferred taxes are determined
consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax
filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the
effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either
the most likely amount or the expected value.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is
written down as an expense through the consolidated
statement of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the
case, recoverable amount is determined for the CGU
to which the asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal of the individual asset or the CGU.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of the asset/CGU. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset/
CGU whose impairment is being measured.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(y)

(2)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses for CGUs are allocated pro rata
amongst the assets of the CGU. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in
estimates are credited to profit or loss to the extent that
they reverse the impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade
and other receivables, restricted bank deposits and
cash and bank balances. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition of the respective financial
instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if
the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. Forward-looking
information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and
other similar organisations, as well as consideration
of various external sources of actual and forecast
economic information that relate to the Group's core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk for a particular financial
instrument;

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

—  significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor;

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i)  the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(i) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating
of "investment grade” in accordance with the
globally understood definition or if an external rating
is not available, the asset has an internal rating of
"performing”. Performing means that the counterparty
has a strong financial position and there is no past due
amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable.

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by
the counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

—  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

—  the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
counterparty a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

— itis becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

—  the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over one year past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(2)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information as described above. As
for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is
represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are
due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount
through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve, and does not reduce
the carrying amount of the financial asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

(aa)

(ab)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditures expected to settle
the obligation. The discount rate used to determine
the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is
remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group's position at the end of
the reporting period or those that indicate the going
concern assumption is not appropriate are adjusting
events and are reflected in the consolidated financial
statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the Directors are required to make
judgements (other than those involving estimations) that
have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to
make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
Directors have made the following judgements that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

Going concern basis

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
(i) successful draw down of Galloway Loan as and when
needed; and (i) successful implementation of measures to
effectively control costs and expenses and timely collection
of receivables. Details are explained in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Deferred tax asset

As at 31 December 2023, no deferred tax
asset has been recognised on the tax losses of
approximately US$119,488,000 (2022: approximately
US$113,668,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or
taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future, which is a key source of estimation uncertainty.
In cases where the actual future taxable profits
generated are less or more than expected, or change
in facts and circumstances which result in revision of
future taxable profits estimation, a material reversal or
further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition
takes place.

Impairment of intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at costs less accumulated
amortisation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to
exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly
in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any
indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether
the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the
recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3)
the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the assets belongs.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the recoverable
amounts.

The carrying amount of intangible assets as at 31
December 2023 were nil (2022: approximately
US$23,702,000).

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

5.

BA 2 FIEh B E E b5t @

st FHEMERRNEERE @

(a)

(b)

BERELE

S = o e =EE—E| ) B
B SR B F) 7 B9 - BT FBORU 14 o R
FIEE51849119,488,000% T (&
— T4 :#9113,668,000%E 7T) FESR
FIERIEEE - SIIRLERIBEE
FERFE RS BAARK AT H A
A HA BN ERREREZEEM
BT ES AR RNEER
Ho M EENRRERERR EF
DR ZHRE AHEERER
BEEBME N BIE] R EEER
wmAMEE S AIEIERMIEEEN G E
TEAREEIE—DHESR > LEE
SEAOENE - SREDBNVEBRL
B ST

EREERE
BICEET AR R 5B KR
BWA) IR REEEESS A
B 55 A< & B 7R 1F 1 ) B ke fil 5t
LHEHFGE (MESEEHEZEEN
BEERERAIEZEEEEE Q)
EERBEER SN IO
A EREE X5 RREE
ERBEEGANARARREREZF
RE; RQRWERRES AW EE
EHNEEFARRR (BREETRE
FRARBENMIRE) - HWEEGLE
R—BRBEEZAREOEER QI
EENBEEMBZREELEBAUMN
I E|EFREITEE - EURR
st (BERBEERERAANARL
REFERER) GHDKRESERE
FERTE-

W_E_=F+"_H=+—H &
FEERBEAS(CE__F 4
23,702,000%7T) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(c) Fair value of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was calculated
using the Binomial Model which requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions, including the volatility of
the share price. Continuous estimation is required for
the calculation of cumulative share-based payment cost
at the reporting date until vesting, including estimate of
the number that will vest.

During the year, approximately US$193,000 (2022:
approximately US$210,000) of share options expenses
was charged to profit or loss.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has certain exposure to foreign currency risk
as its certain business transactions, assets and liabilities
are denominated in A$. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The
Group monitors its foreign currency exposure closely
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

e MBRRMEE

5. FRAEREEMT @

At FHEMERNEERE @
(c) BREBREZAAEE

ERBREZADBENZIRINE
BB 2R AEFEBASEETER
ZR& BEREZRE - FNERSE
Bt E R URMDAEROMR
REBEERAGS EERBS
2 OGRS TRENHE-

FN BERERS49193,000% 7T
(T4 :210,000ZE7T) 5t A

Bame

6. MFERAKEIER

FEBZEBAZRIBMBAR SN
R EBRER FEAR ABELA
BRHERER AEEERRRERE
SEHNEMHEZENBEAN S
KRB REBMBRBENZEERF

TERERMK-

(@) SMEREBE

FEEETEFRZ BEREBR
LORTTEHE ) AMARE T INER
o AEBBERITEMIERS
BEERBEHEINEL IFEER &
SRR BERHEIMNE AR WAF R
REREZBHPTERINEAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ §§

185



186

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

6.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continuep)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, if the A$ had weakened 5%
against the US$ with all other variables held constant,
consolidated loss after tax for the year would have been
US$42,000 (2022: US$54,000) higher, arising mainly as
a result of the foreign exchange loss on cash and bank
balances and FAFVPL denominated in A$. If the A$ had
strengthened 5% against US$ with all other variables
held constant, consolidated loss after tax for the year
would have been US$42,000 (2022: US$54,000) lower,
arising mainly as a result of the foreign exchange gain
on cash and bank balances and FAFVPL denominated in
A$.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment in equity securities. The
management manages this exposure by maintaining
a portfolio of investments with different risk and
return profiles. The Group's equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity securities quoted on the
Australian Securities Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the end of
the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 20% (2022: 20%) higher/
lower, loss after tax for the year ended 31 December
2023 would decrease/increase by US$59,000 (2022:
US$215,000). This is mainly due to the changes in fair
value of held-for-trading investments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (conTinuED)

(c)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet
its obligations under a financial instrument or customer
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is
exposed to credit risk from its operating activities
and from its financing activities, including deposits
with banks, foreign exchange transactions and other
financial instruments. The Group's exposure to credit
risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited
because the counterparties are banks with acceptable
credit-rating assigned by international credit-rating
agencies, for which the Group considers to have low
credit risk.

Trade receivables

Customer credit risk is managed by each business
unit subject to the Group’'s established policy,
procedures and control relating to customer credit
risk management. Individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within 30
days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances
that are more than 1 month past due are requested
to settle all outstanding balances before any further
credit is granted. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 38%
(2022: 55%) and 69% (2022: 99%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer
and the two largest customers respectively. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continue) 6. MBRAMEE®
(c) Credit risk (Continued) (0 EEARE @®
The Group measures loss allowances for trade NEBBRLERNEHATBHREERKE
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, ZERIERKRE SR BH18E
which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the HOHLEREEEEETSE
Group's historical credit loss experience does not HRAEEZBFEEBBLREL
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different KETFRAER D2 BEEERE
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past FREERE ERNBAREZEE
due status is not further distinguished between the BEFGE—PHRAEBRTAER
Group’s different customer bases. EWoBE—FEDo
The following table provides information about the TR#HINK Z-ZZEZ=Z=F+AH
Group's exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade =+—HAXEEMMEREERRELU
receivables as at 31 December 2023: KREWEZER FBMEERIBEZ
B
2023
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FRRARSIRE REAE SR
% US$'000 Us$'000
% FEr FEx
Current (not past due) BPEA R fp) 0% 39 -
2022
B CF
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
L) SEES FREARE BiEa A
% US$'000 US$'000
% FE7T FE7
Current (not past due) BPHR CGR#A1HER) 0% 23 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (conminuep)

(c) Credit risk (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past history. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Financial assets at amortised cost

All of the Group's investments at amortised cost
are considered to have low credit risk, and the loss
allowance recognised during the period was therefore
limited to 12-month expected losses. Other instruments
are considered to be low credit risk when they have a
low risk of default and the issuer has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term.

e MBRRMEE

6. MBRABERw

(0

EEAER @

FHREBRXRDERBEELZER
EREREH ZFLEXREFLH
EURBMBWERELBIREZ BEZ
OB BRI AR EE R
Wy TR T T8 A 4F HR 2 AR IR O 2 B RS
ZHERER

BMHR LA EZEHEE

FEBGBIBNSFEZABERE
HRRAEBREERAR  BULR
HAM S Z BB R B ERM2(E A
FEEE - BEHMITAZENRR
BEZTARBREANBTHSGH
RERBEEZRYENR &L
ARGAHEBEREERR-

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ §§

189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

6. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continue) 6. MBRAMEE®
(d) Liquidity risk (d) REEZRME

FEBNHRDEMERERIRE
HRBHEERE  URREERRE
WRSRE BAEEHARREN
NRBETEE

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term.

AEBRFTESRMEBRRGHRAE
RIS REMNIIHEDFTWMT :

The maturity analysis based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities is as follows:

Lessthan  Between  Between
1 year or 1and 2 2and 5
on demand years years Total
D —E
ZEEXR —ERE WMELF oh
US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
TET TER TERT TER
At 31 December 2023 MRZEZ=
+-A=+—-H
Trade payables T B Z RN 102 - - 102
Accruals and other payables FESTAR A S A E (I 7RIE 3,039 - - 3,039
Bank borrowings RITEE 9 8 3 20
Lease liabilities HEEE 523 517 295 1,335
3,673 525 298 4,496
At 31 December 2022 n-g%-Z
+ZRA=+—-H
Trade payables eI B 78R 75 - - 75
Accruals and other payables FEst IR H A 1B 4,529 - = 4,529
Bank borrowings RITEE 8 8 11 27
Lease liabilities HEER 308 - - 308
Shareholder’s loans BREREEM 14,819 - - 14,819
19,739 8 11 19,758
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBRRMEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (conminuep) 6. MERAKEIR @
(e) Interest rate risk (e) FIZEREPS

U]

(9)

The Group’s bank borrowings and shareholder’s loans
bear interests at fixed interest rates and therefore are
subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group's bank deposits also exposed to interest-rate
risk. These deposits bear interests at variable rates that

vary with the then prevailing market condition.

The Group has minimal exposure to interest rate risk.

AEBERTEERRRERZE
ERXRGFE > AR AAREBENX
JeR\ B2z P A8 BR ©

AEENBETERTEENRE
Beo-REEMEIBANXAE A

RAF) RGBS R &t o

7 5= B [ R RO A R EL B AR ) o

Categories of financial instruments (f) =MIRER
2023 2022
—¥°= BT F
Us$’'000 Us$'000
FEr F=ET
Financial assets EMEE
FAFVPL: ZiBEnRRANBERE
ZEMEBE
Mandatorily measured at BEIE BB mRIEANEE
FVTPL — Held for trading RIEBst=—I1F1EES 318 1,097
Financial assets measured at B At EC SRIEE
amortised cost 2,333 1,061
Financial liabilities THaE
Financial liabilities measured at BEHN At EC EMEAaR
amortised cost 3,161 18,032
Lease Liabilities HESRE 1,175 302

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost as
reflected in the consolidated statement of financial

(99 2anfEE
FEBNRGEUH RN R RRIZ
BHENASEZEREERERE
BZREEREEZEEZANEBEME

position approximate their respective fair values. Ho
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the
measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or
change in circumstances that caused the transfer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTinueD) 7. KnEEHAE®
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at () M-®R-_=F+"_A=+—HzZ2
31 December 2023: AEEBRIESE :

Fair value measurements using
ERATIBAEZAREEHE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—EBR BFIEBR F=EX Het
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000  US$'000
FEx FERT FER FER

Description Mk
Recurring fair value measurements: KEERARNEETE .
Financial assets TREE
FAFVPL EPBEmREANE
BEREZEMEE
~ Unlisted club debenture —JELMEMES - 19 - 19
— Listed equity securities — bWk AES 299 - - 299
Total a5t 299 19 - 318
Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 R-ZE--_#+-BA=+—H
December 2022: ZAREEEBRIEE :
Fair value measurements using
FEATIHMABZANBENE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—BX FEBX F-EX Mt
US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000
TEx FTExT FTET O FTER
Description Hat
Recurring fair value measurements: A& EMAAEEE
Financial assets EMEE
FAFVPL EBEEREARE
BEREZEMEE
— Unlisted club debenture —JELEmEPMES - 19 - 19
~ Listed equity securities — LR AE 1,078 - - 1,078
Total AR5t 1,078 19 - 1,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continuep) 7. QAREEE®
(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value (b) REFZERBRA/LEGBEHAEZE
based on level 3: EHER
Derivative
financial
instruments
Description o fTESmMTA
Us$'000
F=T
At 1 January 2022 RN_ZE-_"HF—F—H 1,202
Transfer to FAFVPL ERESEEGREREAABEREY
TREE (1,202)
At 31 December 2022 RIZ2EZ-F+Z“H=+—H -
(0 WMZEZ=FH+"B=+—H%&E

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used
in fair value measurements at 31 December
2023:

The Group’s chief financial officer is responsible for the

BFrxANEERFRAREES
EFfRANGERTREBAEZR

Bz .

FERENERUFEEEMTHR

fair value measurements of assets and liabilities required SETABNEERARNANE
for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair Bt & (BES=ERAAEE
value measurements. The chief financial officer reports &) HRMBEERATANBEE
directly to the Board of Directors for these fair value EERNESIER-
measurements.
Level 2 fair value measurements Fair value
BIERAREENE QsEE
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2023 2022
fisi dt fH{E R BAE —EZ= - ==
US$’000 US$'000
FEr FE7T
Unlisted club debenture  Market comparable Market price 19 19

approach

FELTEFRES MIZLEECA HIBER

During the two years, there were no changes in the
valuation techniques used.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

INFORMATION

Revenue of the Group consists of royalty income, income
generated from the IP, corporate investment income and
other income. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year

Wans » E Ut A B B SR E#

AEEZBmSBREENERBERA B
MBERELENRA BEREWAL
REMBA - FREERZ WD

is as follows: TS s
2023 2022
—ZET-= —E e
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FE5T
Royalty income HRERAEWA 171 35
Income generated from the IP B 138 Z #(Deep Longevity)
(Deep Longevity): EERWA
— Implementation service —BHARS 12 10
— Subscription and support service — 5] B B ST AR 68 26
— Provision of biological age reports —REEYFRERS 40 43
291 114
Other income HARA
— Over-provision of long-service payment —REBRFE (T2
FBRERE A - 85
— Government grants (note) — %8B (FEE) - 22
— Sundry income —HEIEIA 26 2
26 109
317 223
Note: PisE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, a Hong Kong
government grant of HK$176,000 (or approximately US$22,000)
was received by the Group under the “Employment Support
Scheme” launched from second round of the “Anti-epidemic
Fund”.

There were no unfulfilled conditions relating to these grants.

BE_SE -+ -HA=+—HIEEE K&
EREBFENEES E_HIELNMRRE
38 W EIE BB #BIA176,0008 7T (B4
22,000 7T) ©

RS BB R RIERF M o
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the CEO for his decision about
resources allocation to the Group's business components and
for his review of the performance of those components. The
business components in the internal financial information
reported to the CEO are determined following the Group's
major product and service lines.

For management purpose, the Group's two product and
service lines are identified as operating segments as follows:

Research, development,
manufacturing, marketing and
sale of pharmaceutical products
and development of Al system for
the field of biological aging clocks

Biopharma

Investment in corporate entities,
both listed and unlisted

Corporate
Investment

These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of segment operating results.
There were no sales between the reportable segments.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in
its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except that:

o Income tax credit/(expense)

is not included in arriving at the operating results of the
operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets except for right-of-use
assets, interest in an associate and asset classified as held for
sale.

Segment liabilities exclude lease liabilities, shareholder’s loans
and deferred tax liabilities.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

8.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

s s HtU A B2 S E# @
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K IE L)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 8. Wm -HtPRARSEHER @
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments is set BRIAEEZ®KR DB 2ERFIINT !
out below:
For the year ended 31 December 2023 §E—_T-_=F+-"A=+—HLEE
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
SR TERE Mt
US$'000 US$°000 US$°000
FE7T FET FEr
Revenue from external customers ZRESMEE S 2 I 291 - 291
Segment loss or consolidated loss 493 2B 518 & BRFF 180
before income tax credit BRAI AR EREE (25,290) (5,173) (30,463)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 8@E—_FT-_=F+"A=+—HLEE
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
SR TERE st
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEr FE FEx
ltems included in arriving at HADEEENEE
segment results or assets: MIEE :
Depreciation e (6) (10) (16)
Amortisation i (22,184) - (22,184)
Finance costs B A —* (80) (80)
Fair value loss on FAFVPL ZEBEMmREANE
BREZEMEE
ZAnBEEBE - (38) (38)
Gain on disposal of FAFVPL HEFBBERRERA
NEEREZ TR
BEZ W& - 91 91
*  Amount is less than US$1,000. * £ %E/ DM 000 TT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

8. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

As at 31 December 2023

8. W -HtWIARSEBER @

R-®_=F+"A=+—H

Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
S YEe aE TERE 4act
UsS$’000 US$'000 US$'000
FEx FErx FEx
Segment assets DEEE 270 2,524 2,794
Asset classified as held for sale  DiEAFIELEBE 1
Consolidated total assets EEEMERE 2,795
Segment liabilities DEEE 252 2,919 3,171
Lease liabilities HEas 1,175
Consolidated total liabilities readMEs 4,346

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_T__F+-_A=+—HLEE

Corporate

Biopharma Investment Total

Sy TERE wast

US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000

FET FE7T FET

Revenue from external customers R BIMEE B Z W@ 114 - 114
Segment loss or consolidated loss 73 ZBE5IB I PRFTIFR

before income tax expense HXZ A S E1E (26,607) (9,401) (36,008)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

8. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT

INFORMATION (conTinueD)

8. W -HtWIARSEBER @

HE-—g-=

F+ZRA=+—HLEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022 EF T
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
W) Bk TERE #Est
Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
M- =78 =T T=7%
ltems included in arriving at STADEEEREE
segment results or assets: HIEE :
Depreciation e 8 9) (17)
Amortisation iy (24,951) - (24,951)
Finance costs =N —* (1,013) (1,013)
Fair value loss on FAFVPL HRBEmREARNE
BREZEREE
ZARBEEBE - (353) (353)
Loss on disposal of FAFVPL HEZBERERER
RNEEREZESR
BEZEIE - (3,781) (3,781)
*  Amount is less than US$1,000. *  2FE/DFM,000E T o
As at 31 December 2022 RW-os-——g+-A=+—H
Corporate
Biopharma Investment Total
Gaty/L= TERE 4mst
Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FE= F=7T F=T
Segment assets DEEE 23,900 2,141 26,041
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 276
Interest in an associate R—EBE QT2
Em 1
Consolidated total assets EEEBEEMAE 26,318
Segment liabilities NEERE 234 4,396 4,630
Lease liabilities HESRE 302
Shareholder’s loans REER 13,402
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIIBE S 5,387
Consolidated total liabilities reBaEEEE 23,721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

8. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT 8. Wm -HtRARSEHER @
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

The Group's revenues from external customers and its non- REBREIMEIRRA Z WG KIERBE
current assets (other than financial instruments) are divided E GEMITARN U THES 5 !

into the following geographical areas:

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
ShiHE P I i ERENEE
2023 2022 2023 2022

US$'000 US$'000 US$000 US$'000
FEr T=r FER T=xT

Europe BUM 243 61 3 21,815

us ESE 35 29 - -

Asia Pacific DARIME 13 24 7 2,191
291 114 10 24,006

The geographical location of revenue from external SMEERRmoHEHEREAEREY

customers is based on the location of customers of the BEOXEXRMEME FFRBEEZ

Group's Biopharma segment. The geographical location of MEDBENRBEEBRMATME-

the non-current assets is based on the physical location of

the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (conTinueD)

Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from the Group's Biopharma
segment and timing of revenue recognition are as follows:

8.

e MBRRMEE

Wras » HtUMA R 2B EH @

Wz 40 53

FEFREMBES LR mZ DA KRE
W

7
a

I3

2023 2022
—E" = — e e
US$'000 Us$'000
F=r FE=T
Timing of revenue recognition B 5% Y5t 20 5 il
At a point in time FAFEBF A
Royalty income SRERERA 17 35
Provision of biological age reports REEYFERRSE 40 43
Implementation service E AR 12 10
223 88
Over time BEBF 7
Subscription and support service 518 R ST R ARTS 68 26
291 114
Information about major customers ERETEERZEH

Revenue from customers of the Group’s Biopharma segment
contributing 10% or more of the Group’s revenue is as

REFTEEENBES LR DBEEBER

WEH10%3 U L2 ER Z W ¢

follows:
2023 2022
—FT-= —EFTF
UsS$’'000 Us$'000
F=ET FET
Customer A EBA 171 11
Customer B ZEB - 24
Customer C ZRC - 40
Customer D ZED 37 -
Customer E =FE N/A BB 28

Note: N/A represents those customers have revenue that contributes

less than 10% of the Group's revenue.

W A EREZERAEREM R DN
10% 2 &R 2 Wt o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BB
2023 2022
—ET= - =
US$'000 Us$'000
FEr F=T
Imputed interest expense on interest-free st BRREERZ HEFIS
shareholder’s loan (note 31) Bz (FI5E31) - 32
Interest expense on shareholder’s loans RREBEERZFI B
(note 31) (M$5E31) 21 561
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEERZFMERX
(note 29) (F¥5329) 59 39
Implicit interest expense on Convertible FIIAKREEZ ZEF B
Notes (note 30) (M5£30) - 381
80 1,013
10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE 10. FRiGH (E%) X%

The amount of income tax (credit)/expense in the

reBEmAHMER R RAYFER

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other (5%) HxIE:
comprehensive income represents:
2023 2022
—E-= TEITHE
US$'000 Us$'000
FEr FE7T
Current tax BNERTR I8
— Credit for the year —FRIE% (27) (14)
Deferred tax (credit)/expense (note 32)  iEIEFRIE (K R) Hx
(FF5E32) (5.387) 433
(5,414) 419

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
financial statements since the Group has sufficient tax losses
brought forward to set off against current year's assessable
profit for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (conminuep) 10.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the
financial statements since the Group has no assessable profits
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the UK,
subsidiaries of the Company in the UK are subject to UK
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at 25% (2022: 19%) during
the year ended 31 December 2023.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the
product of loss before tax multiplied by UK CIT is as follows:

e MBRRMEE

FRiS#8 GBE%R) HXZ @

AR AERRBEE_E__4F+_4
—t+—HIEEETERERRERN W&
EHMBRRITAMES BN ERIEL &
o

RERENARERER RRESD
S=E+ZA=+—AILEE FAT
REEN B AR ARRESY% (28
SR 19%) MAREL RIS (R
$FIEH) -

Hithth 75 RS 2 IRBRA R A E
BREMERR2RTRE WiREAR
MzRAZR ERKREMHE-

P45 10 7 B BR A A 65 $E SR DA SR B 1 32
PRSI Z RARHIRAT ¢

2023 2022

—E-= —EB__F

Us$’'000 Us$'000

FEx FET

Loss before tax BRI AIES1E (30,463) (36,008)
Tax at the UK CIT tax rate of 25% BRI EFSRIRE25%
(2022: 19%) SEZMEBE(CE !

19%) (7.616) (6,842)

Tax effect of income that is not taxable BZEEIRUIA Z IRIEF £ (49) (848)

Tax effect of expenses that are not Aoz 2 MIBEEE
deductible 1,421 2,839
Tax effect of research and development W25 HRIBIR G 2 R FE R £

tax credit (27) (14)
Tax effect of tax loss not previously BERERREBRB 2R

recognised B - 13
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary ~ KR ERFEZREZ B E

differences (10) =
Tax effect of utilisation of tax loss not ~ EhFBEFRMERIRIBRIE

previously recognised MG E (5) =
Effect on deferred tax balance resulting @ RSt Sh$HRIERR IBLE R 2

from a change in tax rate & - 5,155
Effect of different tax rates of B AN FERE 2

subsidiaries 872 116

Income tax (credit)/expense FTiSi (&%) Rz (5.414) 419
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 1. FAEHE
2023 2022
—F== SR
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx TE5T
The Group’s loss for the year is arrived at ZZEBFENEER
after charging/(crediting): Mg~ GEA)
Auditors’ remuneration % BB AN &
— Audit services —IZBARTS 157 174
— Non-audit services —IERZBUR TS 26 61
Depreciation of THRBEZITE
— property, plant and equipment —WE BB R E
(note 16) (Ftzz16) 16 17
— right-of-use assets (note 17) —fERAEEE (IsE17) 460 468
Amortisation of intangible assets \mEEEN (:E18)
(note 18) 22,184 24,951
Impairment loss on an mEERERE
intangible asset 1,518 -
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets R E ERERE 1,152 -
Short-term lease expenses HEES W 14 13
Low-value assets lease expenses REEEEHEESZY 3 3
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BEMEREZ
plant and equipment 518 2 1
Fair value loss on FAFVPL (note 22) HEERREANEE
BRIEZEMEEY
AnBEBE (iEE22) 38 353
(Gain)/loss on disposal of FAFVPL HEFBBERE
NAEBEREZER/M
BEZ (k) /#i8 (91) 3,781
Exchange (gains)/losses, net FER (K@) E5i8 (169) 109
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 12. RERFER

2023 2022
—EZ= = e
USs$'000 Us$'000
T3 SEESE
Employee benefit expenses (including EERNER BEEFK
directors’ and chief executive’s FETBRAEMRE) :
emoluments):
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e 1 RoER 2,724 2,964
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R REF] 52 H=h 32 33
Equity-settled share-based payments MRmAERZREEE 2
(note 34) I (MzE34) 213 230
2,969 3,227
(a) Pensions — defined contribution plans (a) BkE—EFEMREE

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement plans which are available for eligible
employees in Hong Kong and the UK.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485
of the laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong). The
MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and the employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.

FEERBEBENAEGEREEF
i TE R RUR IR ET BI R

REBBRIBEE B EHIFHA485E R T
HABEFAAEAATERE LS
STESRREBEAEEZAEAEE
TEZREER LA AEEE

(EREE)) - RBEEHE R —
BEARBISTEATENTEEEIR
et BloRiZaBERE  EER
BEHEAT B /EH MR HREE
AEEBBWAZSY%  HEEHERM
WA EBR%A30,0008 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continueD)

(@) Pensions — defined contribution plans (Continued)

For the Group's subsidiaries operating in the UK,
pensions to certain employees are provided through
contributions to individual personal pension plans. A
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which
the UK subsidiaries pay fixed contributions into an
independent entity. The UK subsidiaries have no legal
or constructive obligations to pay further contributions
after payment of the fixed contribution.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group had no forfeited contributions under the
MPF Scheme and individual personal pension plans in
the UK and which may be used by the Group to reduce
the existing level of contributions. There were also
no forfeited contributions available at 31 December
2023 and 2022 under the MPF Scheme and individual
personal pension plans in the UK which may be used by
the Group to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M HRRMIEE
12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continueD) 12. EERMER »
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) THz=EFMAL
The five highest paid individuals in the Group during REBFRNAELREHBATEE
the year included one (2022: one) director whose — % (CE__F: - &EEH

emolument is reflected in the analysis presented in note
13. The emoluments of the remaining four (2022: four)
individuals are set out below:

#EN R BRFEFY SE132 5 Z D1 © BR
THR (C2I 24 0a) A2
M= &HMT -

2023 2022

—E-= S

US$'000 Us$'000

FEr F=T

Salaries and allowances e oL 801 1,105

Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 31 -
Retirement benefit scheme BIRERIFTEIHR

contributions 9 3

Share-based payments MURAD AERNR 72 82

913 1,190

The above emoluments fell within the following bands:

UEMEBTHIEE :

Number of individuals

A#

2023 2022

—E-= “EIHF

HK$1,500,001- HK$2,000,000 (US$191,604-US$255,470) 3 2
1,500,001 7c—2,000,000/8 75  (191,6043 75— 255,4703 7T)

HK$2,000,001- HK$2,500,000 (US$255,471-US$319,338) 1 1
2,000,0017&75—2,500,000/87C (255,471%75—319,338% 1)

HK$4,000,001- HK$4,500,000 (US$510,941-US$574,808) - 1
4,000,001 75—4,500,000/ 75 (510,941 575 —574,8083% 7T)

4 4

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office in respect of the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

BE_B =R B__F+7
A=+—HLEFE  x&EBELER
FAELEEHMATZOME
DERISIMARER I AZE
BBz SIFA BB E-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

13. EEEMN RER

ESME

BREENEE_S=F1+=A8
=+—BLEFEZHMEHNOT :

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a)

The remuneration of every Director for the year ended
31 December 2023 is set out below:

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REATARFEMBARNEEZ ALRBEAHEKME

Contribution  Equity-settled
Salaries and to a retirement share-based
benefits  Discretionary benefit payment
Fees in kind bonus scheme expenses Total
HER HBGET  MUEESEN
s BRI BRETEd  sEMMR  RECREX Eh
Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
Name of director EEft4 FET FERT FER FER FERT FET
Executive Director HiTES
Jamie Gibson Jamie Gibson
(CFO) (TEAEH) - 1,250 75 - 19 1,344
Non-Executive FHTES
Directors
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 9 - 2 139
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 - - - 2 16
Independent Non- BUHTES
Executive Directors
Chan Wan Tsun Adrian ~ [g3Af&
Alan (appointed on (R_B_=F
21 April 2023) mA—+—H
EZ) 20 - - - - 20
Ihsan Al Chalabi Ihsan Al Chalabi
(appointed on MZB—=F
15 August 2023) NB+EH
EZ) 1 - - - - 1
David Comba (resigned  David Comba
on 21 April 2023) (RZFZ=F
mE-+—H
BHE) 12 - - - - 12
Julie Oates (resigned o Julie Oates
15 August 2023) (RZFZ=F
NB+EH
BHE) 17 - - - 1 18
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 - - - 2 30
Total for 2023 “EC=F 120 1,360 84 - 26 1,590

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

e MBRRMEE

13. EERAIKRIEDR @

(a)

EEME ®

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of a person’s services as a director,
whether of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

BERAARREMBADEEZ ALRFENNERME

Equity-settled
Salaries Contribution share-based
and benefits Discretionary  to a retirement payment
Fees in kind bonus  benefit scheme expenses Total
ek HREN  MEREEN
kA il WIETEA SERMER ROCTEX @zt
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Name of director e x5 FEn FEx x5 TEx FExn
Executive Director HITER
Jamie Gibson Jamie Gibson
(CEO) (FTE#E%) - 1,075 - - 51 1,126
Non-Executive FRITEE
Directors
James Mellon James Mellon 18 110 - - 5 133
Jayne Sutcliffe Jayne Sutcliffe 14 - - - 5 19
Independent Non- BUSTES
Executive Directors
David Comba David Comba 28 - - - - 28
Julie Oates Julie Oates 28 - - - 5 33
Mark Searle Mark Searle 28 - - - 5 33
Total for 2022 = 116 1,185 - - Al 1,372
Neither the chief executive nor any of the Directors METXFEITHAEREMESN
waived any emoluments during the year (2022: nil). FAREEFAME (CTEZZ
) o
Directors’ material interests in transactions, (b)

arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in these consolidated financial
statements, and contracts amongst group companies,
no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company was a party and in which a Director and
the Director's connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

EENX5 RHNAGHZERHE

m

FRERCVBRRAERARM
WEHNFTMEEN S RABHES]
VEMAERES BEERES
ZEAELSRHATERSIBEERSE
A m IR F AR S F R A R
FBZERR G 2 RERA-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31
December 2023 nor since the end of the reporting period
(2022: nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to the shareholders for the year and on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

14. g2

15.

BE_EBE_=—F£+-HA=+—HILEE
EREARUE BEEIRKCHES
RKERE (CE-—

. =
4iE) o
AEVARNY

TR

EREFABEERREARREEEERR
FREBETEBRZINEFHHE -

the year.
2023 2022
—E-= BT TF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FET FE7T
(restated)
(&)
Loss attributable to shareholders of the 7/ &) B8 51 FE (L &5 18
Company (25,049) (36,427)
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ BE31TZ @R 2 MNHEFHE
shares in issue (note) (M35E) 225,102,963 119,992,768
Basic loss per share (US cents) SREAREE EW) (11.13) (30.36)
Note: As at 31 December 2023, after the Share Consolidation, the Wer RZTEZ=F+ZA=+—H ' KHE

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue was
adjusted to 225,102,963 Shares from 4,502,059,285 Shares
(At 31 December 2022: adjusted to 119,992,768 Shares from
2,399,855,352 Shares).

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 respectively in respect of a dilution as the impact
of the share option scheme had an anti-dilutive effect on the
basic loss per share amounts presented.

On 12 January 2023, the Company completed its Rights
Issue to its existing shareholders at a subscription price
higher than its market price. Therefore, there were no bonus
elements for this Rights Issue and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares were not adjusted for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

R BETEBRZMETHEA
4,502,059,285/% 1% 17 3% #225,102,963

H : H2,399,855,3528 B 1A HEA
119,992,76888 i 15) °

BE_Z_-—FKR_ZE__+_A1
=+—HIEFERRZINERELRES
BERURMBEFELAE RAZE
REFENTERZ2INERERNER
THARRBEXE-

RIF_=F—RA+ZH > xQFUS
KRHENREBETHAMREREME
It > R RAAR I MALFIRL 7> B EHE
BE_T-__F+-_A=+t—HILEE
MEERME T IELRE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e MBRRMEE

16. ME - -BER=E

Computer
Furniture and other
and fixtures equipment Total
BRREE BERHMRE st
UsS$'000 UsS$'000 US$'000
FER TER FE£n
Cost 223
At 1 January 2022 R_E__F—HF—H BE7 288 620
Additions HE - 12 12
Disposals HE ~ (12) (12)
At 31 December 2022 and R_E-__F#+"A=+—H
1 January 2023 R-_EBE_=F—H—H 332 288 620
Additions hE - 2 2
Write-off 63 - (9) 9)
Disposals HE - (15) (15)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+"F=+—H 332 266 598
Accumulated depreciation RitinE
At 1 January 2022 R_E-__&#—-HF—H 332 250 582
Charge for the year FREHR - 17 17
Disposals HE = (6) (6)
At 31 December 2022 and R_E_"HF+°"A=1+—H
1 January 2023 RZEZ=F—F—H 332 261 593
Charge for the year FRER - 16 16
Write-off b6 - (9) 9)
Disposals HE - (12) (12)
At 31 December 2023 R_E=F+ZA=1+—H 332 256 588
Carrying amount fRE(E
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+_A=+—H - 10 10
At 31 December 2022 R_E2__F+"RA=1+—H - 27 27
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. EREEE
Leased
properties
HEME
Us$'000

FE5T
At 1 January 2022 B —&E—F—H 746
Depreciation e (468)
Exchange difference PE =R )
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 N_E_"HF+"HA=1+—HkK

—E-=—f—HF—H 276

Additions = 1,334
Depreciation e (460)
Impairment loss (note) BEEE (D) (1,152)
Exchange difference ERELR 2

At 31 December 2023

S _EB_=F+"_HA=+—H -

Note: The Group carried out a review of the recoverable amount EEaN

ZRIBE_Z=F+ZRA=+—H

of its right-of-use assets in 2023, having regard to the
financial results during the year ended 31 December 2023
of the Group and a 31-month cash flow forecast up to 31
July 2026. These assets were corporate assets and treated as
unallocated assets in segment information. The review led
to the recognition of an impairment loss of approximately
US$1,152,000, which has been recognised in profit or loss.
The recoverable amount of nil has been determined by
referring to a 31-month Group cash flow forecast, which
covered the entire leasing terms of the office and the
warehouse.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

LEEENMBEEREE_T - RFL
B=+—HE31ERRERETRAR &
EER 2 -_FHHACHAREENT
WEICHEETEE ZSEERLESE
B> BERDEMEMPRRBRDEEE
KED FEBREREEL1,152,000%
7o B Em P s O EST
TS BAEE3ERNRERETRR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (conTinueD)

Lease liabilities of approximately US$1,175,000 (2022:
US$302,000) are recognised with related right-of-use assets
of nil (2022: approximately US$276,000) as at 31 December
2023. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that are
held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes.

e MBRRMEE

17. EHESE®

R-ZEBE_=F+_"_A=+—H 'BEER
HE&EX1,175,000E T (T2 -
302,000%7m)  HEERAREEAS (2
T T4 1 #9276,000%E7T) o BREFA AT
ENHEEENRRERI HEHE
AW BERNZE - HEESEASHE
BEER

2023 2022
- — kSt -
US$'000 Us$'000
F=7r FE7T
Depreciation expenses on FREEEITERS

right-of-use assets 460 468
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEEEZFMERX 59 39
Expenses relating to short-term leases CHATH Gz 2 W 14 13

Expenses relating to lease of low REEEEHEERERAZzZH
value assets 3 3

Details of total cash outflow for leases are set out in note
37(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

For both years, the Group leases various office premise and
warehouse for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for a fixed term ranging from 2 years to 3 years (2022: 2
years to 3 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the
length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which
the contract is enforceable.

EAAENERSRE 2 BEHNES
AR TR MIEE37(c) ©

RWEFE  xEBEAEZERREY
EREEFREERR - HEGHNTEN
2ERIF(CEIF 2EE3F)NE
EHIMREI I - AAE MR ZERER > 16
SEETRANBERKRFEF - REEEE
HARR K sH T AT BUEH A 2 SF Ay >
EERAANZER LEEHNSHNH
SEHIBATRIHARR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. BCEE
Patent IP (Deep
(Fortacin™) Longevity) Total
M ERE
=7 (Deep
(Fortacin™) Longevity) 4zt
US$’000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FE7T FE7T
Cost BN
At 1 January 2022, N2 "F—HF—8-
31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 TECF+ZA
and 31 December 2023 =+—BA-ZZ”_=F
—B—HRZEZ=%
+=A=+-8H 216,000 2,660 218,660
Accumulated amortisation and F T B R (ERS1E
impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 M- - _F—H—H 169,624 382 170,006
Amortisation for the year FERNEH 24,572 379 24,951
Exchange differences ERERR - 1 1
At 31 December 2022 and N_E_"_F+_"_B=+—H
1 January 2023 ER-_EBE-_=%—H—H 194,196 762 194,958
Amortisation for the year FAEEH 21,804 380 22,184
Impairment loss BERE - 1,518 1,518
At 31 December 2023 RZE2EZ=F+Z"H=+—H 216,000 2,660 218,660
Carrying amount IREE
At 31 December 2023 N_E_=F+ZA=+—H - - -
At 31 December 2022 ATE T THF+"A=+—H 21,804 1,898 23,702
The average remaining amortisation period of the patent R e K o8 A= M B9 T a9 R B 85 B 0 )
and IP is nil (2022: 1 year) and 4 years (2022: 5 years) AT CEHF F) RMFE(CECZ
respectively. FI5F) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (conTiNnUED)

IP (Deep Longevity)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group assessed the
FVLCOD of the IP (Deep Longevity) using the discounted cash
flow method. The fair value measurement is categorized
in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The asset is used in
the Group's Biopharma segment. In assessing the FVLCOD
of the IP (Deep Longevity), the directors reviewed cash
flow projections based on financial budgets prepared by
management for the four-year period to 31 December
2027 and applied a discount rate of 15%. Having regard
to the financial results of the Biopharma segment during
the year and the difficult and uncertain market conditions
the recoverable amount of the IP (Deep Longevity) was
determined to be nil and a full impairment loss of US$1.52
million was recognised in profit and loss.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group engaged
Armanino LLP, an independent professional valuer, to
perform assessment of the FVLCOD of IP (Deep Longevity),
which was determined using the discounted cash flow
method based on a ten-year forecast prepared by
management. The key assumptions underlying the valuation
was a post-tax discount rate of 55% (which was based
on venture capital rates of return used for new start-ups
and early-stage growth companies) and a terminal growth
rate of 4% based on the consideration of both inflationary
and overall economic growth factors taking into condition
that the Company cannot outpace total economic growth
into perpetuity. The forecast also assumed a dedicated
information technology (IT) R&D team would be present
throughout the forecast period because as explained above,
it is expected the underlying software developed by DLL
will be continuously updated, enhanced and improved. As
a result of this exercise, the recoverable amount of IP (Deep
Longevity) was determined to be greater than its carrying
value and accordingly the Group concluded no impairment
provision was necessary at 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the management
believes that any reasonably foreseeable change in any of
the above key assumptions would not cause the carrying
amounts of the CGUs to exceed the recoverable amounts of
the respective CGUs.

e MBRRMEE

8. HIEEE®»

KI5 Z 1 (Deep Longevity)

R E_—_S-_=F+_-_A=+—
HIEFEZHREMBRRE KEER
FARIRIR & M E AT A A # E#E (Deep
Longevity) N AR BEBREERE AR
BEIEEGEALABEBRANE=
EBR -BERRAEBRNEYEESEL-
A SR &0 38 Z #(Deep Longevity)BYA 7
BERHERAFR EEREEEEM
RENEE_Z_tHE+_HB=+—H
IFMEEEHENMEEENRERE
TERETES WA I15%NAIRE-
EZRINAFEEMBEDTNGHEES
MR MR B E 5 & Ao E M R E
(Deep Longevity) NI [Cl £ XBIEE E S
T MR8 m P 21,520,000 T &
AR EESIE-

REREEE_T_—_F+_A=+—H
TFEEZREUBRET AEEEE
FEIE 1 E (B {ERMArmanino LLPRLAD
E#(Deep Longevity)BIA A BERHEE
MAETT G FEARBEEERR
W+FEEAERAMBRESENEEIET
SR Tk 45 B9 BE SR R 3% TH 55 % MU AR 18 Al
WE (WHERARVAAEREHERK
RAERBINAEREARBIIRE) 4% R
BIERE WHERHBERRNER
REEBERZNEE LEBEAQNF
TRE KR BBELERE - BTN RR
EREFRANPHEE —EEMNNERRNE
HEBER RAW M BeHRES S
P MAER B N IR R X
EERGER M ERE(Deep Longevity)
Hea el EEEAES N EREE
hEAERDBABENR S "F+8
=+—HEHRERE-

BE_T__F+_HA=+—HL#F
o EEEMERE R EMARRKRE
HEENRREHIITEERFEESE
BAUMNREEBAESFEEELEEMNA
WelElE 58 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. R—HBE AT ZED=
2023 2022
—E=HF B
US$°000 US$'000
FEr FET
Unlisted investment: JFLEHRE :
Share of net assets LB ETRE - 1
Details of the Group's associate at 31 December 2022 are as RZB__F#+”"RA=+—H'&&
follows: ZHRERBIFIRWT
Particular
of issued Percentage
Place of and paid of ownership
Name incorporation up capital interest
B#Tk AT
g SE ALt RS BRRAHE BALL
West China Coking & Gas Company Limited PRC Registered capital of 25%
RMB319,640,000
HEASECHERERAD e AMERS
AE1319,640,0007T

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. #AaAEESAHMEEVRAZ

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ERMEE
2023 2022
ZEZ=HF BT
US$'000 US$'000
FET FE7T
Unlisted equity securities JEEMRAFES - -
Equity securities which are not held for trading and which RAZFEFLIIFFFEE BAEEBELR
the Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to O (o] #5210 ) 5 e s B i LB 4R B AR
recognise in this category. These are strategic investments R ILEBREREEAERDARZ
and the Group considers this classification to be more DHRE AR
relevant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are as

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

21. REMEBATE

RZBE_=F+"_HA=+—H ' WEA

follows: BZERWT :
Country/Place of
incorporation/ Issued and
continuation/ fully paid Percentage of equity interest
Name operation share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AT 1
a8 REER M ERTRYRRT sRARAEGERSEZESL FERB
Directly Indirectly
E# %
Deep Longevity, Inc Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
of US$0.0001 each
FEEE 1REREE0.0001% REER
A=Y ]
Regent Coal (Holdings) Limited ~ Cayman Islands 1 ordinary share 100% - Investment holding
of US$1 each
REHS \REREEIZTZ REER
EER
Regent Financial Services Hong Kong 5,000,000 100% - Provision of management
Limited ordinary shares services
BRUBERARAT &8 5,000,0008% & &A% RIHEERH
Endurance RP Limited Hong Kong 5,000,000 100% - Provision of management
(formerly known as Regent ordinary shares services
Pacific Group Limited)
TER MEBRATFEE &8 5,000,000 & &A% RUEERS
BRAR)
Plethora Solutions Holdings plc  United Kingdom 894,497,686 ordinary 100% - Development and
shares of GBP 0.01 marketing of products
each for the treatment

by
G4
=

894,497,686/ &R EE
0.013 8% 7 ZERK

and management of

urological disorders
AR ABEREEBRA

w2 EmAER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (conminueD) 21. BEMBAR @
Country/Place of
incorporation/ Issued and
continuation/ fully paid Percentage of equity interest
Name operation share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AT 1
g BEER M ERTRERRET rAREERTEZESLE FERH
Directly Indirectly
E# %
Amerinvest Coal Industry British Virgin Islands 10,000 ordinary shares - 100%  Investment holding
Holding Company Limited of US$1 each
HERUES 10,0008 5 R EE REZRK
1ETZ EER
Deep Longevity Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares - 100%  Developing Al systems
to track the rate of
aging at the molecular,
cellular, tissue, organ,
system, physiological
and psychological levels
REFFERAT B 10082 & &A% REATEEAR T
DF M AEE 2
B R4 £EMLE
HEHRENRE
Plethora Solutions Limited United Kingdom 152 ordinary shares = 100%  Development and
of GBP 1 each marketing of products
for the treatment
and management of
urological disorders
EigE] 152 EBREEIEFZ ARARREEBRA
Ep el R EmfER

218 REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED B R K F¥ ERBEMRAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continuep) 21. REMBAE @

Country/Place of

incorporation/ Issued and
continuation/ fully paid Percentage of equity interest
Name operation share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
AT 1
a8 BEER ME ERTRYRRET FAFRGRAEZEALE FERH
Directly Indirectly
Ei# %
Plethora Pharma Solutions Ireland 100 ordinary shares - 100%  Development and
Limited of EUR 1 each marketing of products
for the treatment
and management of
urological disorders
ERH 100 EREEIETZ ARABRREEBRR
EEk HIRmZ EmfER

The above table contains the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the
Group.

FRESEREFERXER EENER
ERERTEZNBRATER -

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22. #EBEEREAABHEHEIREZS
PROFIT OR LOSS WMEE
2023 2022
—g== - F
Us$’000 Us$'000
FExT F=5T
Held for trading — overseas, at fair value HEEE -8 B RANEE
— Listed equity securities — RS 299 1,078
— Unlisted club debenture —JELETERES 19 19
318 1,097
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 22.
PROFIT OR LOSS (conTiNUED)

23.

Movements in FAFVTPL are as follows:

BRRmREAARBEREZSE

MEE®

EREmREANBEREZSHMEE

HEHMT :
2023 2022
== B F
US$'000 Us$'000
FEr FE7T
As at 1 January r—A—H 1,097 10,514
Additions wE = 1,426
Disposals HE (741) (10,490)
Change in fair value (note 11) naBEES (HEE1) (38) (353)
As at 31 December rn+=—A=+—H 318 1,097

The carrying amounts of the above financial assets are
mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss in

accordance with HKFRS 9.

The investments included above represent investments in
listed equity securities that offer the Group the opportunity
for return through dividend income and fair value gains. They

have no fixed maturity or coupon rate.

The FV of listed equity investments was based on last quoted
market prices at the reporting date. The FV of unlisted club
debenture was determined by reference to the recent market

price at the reporting date.

titEREEZREEREEBYHR
HEAFSERGZBEDRIZANEE

CES

EXFBENRERE ETREAZBSFZR
B HEBREWARRAAEERD
AERRHOEHE -ZEFERELERE
TEHHHRNRERER-

EHRAREZ ARBEERKS B
Rk mBE-FLMEAMESFZA
AEBESERSAMVEHHEERE

TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. [EINE ZERFR
2023 2022
== BT TF
Us$'000 Us$'000
FET FE=7T
Trade receivables FEUN & 5 BRFR 39 23

The Group applies credit policies appropriate to the particular
business circumstances concerned generally requires
outstanding amounts to be paid within 20 to 30 days (2022:

20 to 30 days) of invoice.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

AEEHHBTERBRLREXBEEN
FEEHSR —RANZEZEHEB - +ZE
=t+tACE_—fF._+EFE=+H)RKX%

FREERIE



23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuep)

24,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice dates, was as follows:

23.

FEUE B R @

[ [ = E = i = H

=+—H BREZRR (RERE M

B) REDFOT -

2023 2022

=== e

Us$'000 Us$'000

F5R7T ===

Within 1 month —EARN 39 23

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are

FEERWEZRMANKREERUTE

denominated in the following currencies: B 5t1E !
2023 2022
—E-= TEITHE
US$'000 US$'000
FEr FET
EUR BRIt 12 13
us$ ETT 27 10
Total Amst 39 23

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND  24.

ZIRHIRITERUARIRE R IRTT

BANK BALANCES LR
2023 2022
—ZE-= 2 e
Us$'000 Us$'000
FExT FTET
Restricted bank balances TR IRTTAS ER 32 32
Cash and bank balances IB& MIRTT4SER 2,097 309
2,129 341

As at 31 December 2023, a bank deposit amounting to
approximately US$32,000 (2022:US$32,000) is a deposit
held by the bank as security for the corporate credit cards

provided to subsidiary of the Company.

R-ZE_=F+_"_B=+—H #R17%F
F#932,000%% 7T (ZE T 32,0003
70) ThHIRITIRBEUEARABNB AR
EiRHECEEAENERZER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

25. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 25. DHEARBEHESE

2023 2022
—E-= — 2
Us$’000 Us$'000
3870 S
Asset classified as held for sales NEAFEHESE
— Interest in an associate (note) —R—EBE AT 2 Em
(FF5E) 1 _
Note: sk -
In October 2023, the Group decided to sell the 25% equity interest RIBZ=F+A FEBRATHEWRIEARS

ELHEIERAT Z25%KE FRE—F
S5 F2REREMBRERMETL2 -

of West China Coking & Gas Company Limited. For further details,
please refer to note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, CONTRACT LIABILITIES, 26. BHEBIRM -SHNEE EHER

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AR H {th FE {3 FR1E

2023 2022

- 2 T F

US$'000 Us$'000

FEx FE7T

Trade payables INP=ZLE N 102 75

Contract liabilities — aHNaE-—TElEE

Deposits received in advance 10 -

Accruals and other payables FESTER AU H At I FRIB 3,039 4,529

3,151 4,604
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. TRADE PAYABLES, CONTRACT LIABILITIES, 26.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTiNUED)

e MBRRMEE

B8 BRMR - AN AR EEHIR
R Bz Hfth F& {3 7R IR o

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the ageing analysis
of the trade payables, based on the invoice dates, was as

follows: &) RRES DT ¢

g = o ST e |- T

=+—B B ESRR BB E AP

2023 2022

—E-= -

UsS$'000 Us$'000

F5=7T T =0

Within 1 month or on demand R—EB R EEK 81 43
After 1 month but within 3 months R—ERBENR=ERR 18 2
After 3 months but within 6 months R=EBBENRNMEBR 30
Over 6 months NMEA L E 1 =
102 75

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables are

FEERRNEZRMIRE B U EE

denominated in GBP. Eo
Movements in contract liabilities: S E BB
2023 2022
—g_= TEICF
US$'000 Us$'000
FEr FE7T
Balance at 1 January R—HA—Bi4EER - -
Increase in contract liabilities as a result  IEAIFIZ B &4 S E L0
of billing in advance 10 -
Balance at 31 December R+ZR=+—HBREER 10 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. RS
Ordinary shares Undlassified shares* Total
EiEh KR b
Number Number Number
Note of shares US$'000 of shares USS$'000 of shares US$'000

i RiA#E & RiABE &R RiABE &

Authorised: A
At 1 January 2022, ;2 SR = N
31 December 2022 “ECE
and 1 January 2023 +ZR=1+-8k
_E_=&-fF—H 14,300,000,000 143,000 55,000,000 550 14,355,000,000 143,550
Share Consolidation RiAEH (©  (13,585,000,000) - (52,250,000) - (13,637,250,000) =
Share Subdivision R () 142,285,000,000 - 547,250,000 - 142,832,250,000 -
At 31 December 2023 S
+-B=1+-H 143,000,000,000 143,000 550,000,000 550 143,550,000,000 143,550
Issued and fully paid: BRTRAR
At 1 January 2022 R_E__#-F—H 2,399,421,215 23,99 - - 2,399421,215 23,99
Shares issued under share awards 1R BRI BYETRRID @ 926,666 10 - - 926,666 10
At 31 December 2022 and S 2 Sy =
1 January 2023 =+-ARZE-z%
—A—-H 2,400,347,881 24,004 - - 2,400,347,881 24,004
Rights lssue #& (b) 2,166,571,194 21,665 - - 2,166,571,194 21,665
Share Consolidation R ©  (4338573,122) - - - (4,338573,122) -
Issue of shares under share awards  RIERR(NERETRG (d 46,333 9 - - 46333 9
Capital Reduction RAENE () - (45,450) = = = (45,450)
At 31 December 2023 s
+-B=1+—H 228,392,286 228 - - 228,392,286 228
* These are unclassified shares of US$0.001 each (2022: * SREEIET (CE__F S8HE
US$0.01 each), which may be issued as ordinary shares or E0.01%70) 2 KD ERM  I#THAE
as non-voting convertible deferred shares of US$0.001 each BREE0.00IET (CE -4 SREE
(2022: US$0.01 each). 0.01%7m) 2 E B IR = AR IE
JERR AR o
(@ On 14 July 2022, the Company issued and allotted (@ MNIBE__F+tA+WB > &xAT
926,666 shares for the share award granted to Dr. Eric RIEEFERGZ SR — RS
Verdin, MD and Dr. Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD under FLEEric Verdint@ =+ > MD&Vadim
the then general mandate pursuant to the relevant N. Gladyshevi®d > PhD¥E H Y B (5
consulting agreements. Further details are set out in the BN 1T R EC35926,666 AR 1H ©
Company’s announcements dated 14 July 2021 and 26 E— S HEERRAATHEBEA S
July 2021 and 2022 Annual Report. _—FtHAtHUHEZE_—F+
BZ+ARABZAMUKR_E_—
o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. SHARE CAPITAL (conTinuED)

(b)

On 12 January 2023, the Company issued and allotted
2,166,571,194 new Shares under the Rights Issue by
way of rights on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for
every one (1) existing share at the subscription price of
HK$0.0785 pursuant to the prospectus documents?.

On 5 June 2023, every twenty (20) issued and
unissued shares of par value of US$0.01 each has been
consolidated into one (1) Consolidated Share of par
value of US$0.20 each?.

On 14 July 2023, the Company issued and allotted
46,333 new Shares for the share award granted to Dr.
Eric Verdin, MD and Dr. Vadim N. Gladyshev, PhD under
the then general mandate pursuant to the relevant
consulting agreements. Full details are set out in the
Company’'s announcements dated 14 July 2021, 26 July
2021, 29 March 2023 and 1 June 2023, the Company's
circular dated 27 April 2023 and note 34(2) to the
consolidated financial statements.

On 3 August 2023, the Group completed the Capital
Reduction whereby the par value of each Share reduced
from US$0.20 to US$0.001 by cancelling the paid-up
capital to the extent of US$0.199 on each Share*.

On 3 August 2023, the Group completed the Share
Subdivision whereby immediately following the Capital
Reduction, each of the authorised but unissued
Consolidated Shares with par value of US$0.20 each
be subdivided into 200 Adjusted Shares with par value
of US$0.001 each. Forthwith the Share Subdivision
becoming effective, the authorised share capital of the
Company be increased to US$143,550,000.00 by the
creation of such number of additional Adjusted Shares
as shall be sufficient to increase the authorised share
capital of the Company to US$143,550,000.00 divided
into (a) 143,000,000,000 ordinary Adjusted Shares and
(b) 550,000,000 unclassified Adjusted Shares*.

e MBRRMEE

27. g7 @

(b)

it = = eSS I el = I/
BREBEEREEXHREFE—
(MEBRERMDESZE—(1)BRERER
Mz B2 B EE0.07858 T
DA g 75 =048 15 i AR 85 47 Ko B 32
2,166,571,194B8 3 215"

R-EBE_=/,"AER 8=+
(200 B REE0.01EXTHEETT
RREGTROHEEHA—(NRER
E80.20E T & AR (7"

RIE_=FtB+HHE>&ARQ
BIRIEEFAEMNPECER —®&
B MAEric Verdintd+>MDE
Vadim N. Gladyshevi#= > PhD#%
BIRZ 15 B BN 3517 R B 346,333 88
Bpe 2B FHBHN AR BHAS
“E—FtRAtHHZEZ—
F+tB-+AB-ZE-=%F=A1
_t+hEHEZE_=F,A—HZ
NE-AABHBEAZEZ=4N
B+t HZBRUMRRETHR
RMIFE34(2) 0

RIZEZ=F)/\A=H x&£EE
SERRAAE EEEERKMD
0199 T HERATMES KK
72 EEH0.205= T HI K ZE0.001
EiTho

RIEZ=FN\B=H &&H
SEAR AR D IR AR > FRIE 0 BREEARASHI
BB SREE0.20ETHERE
EEREBITEHBRMDRIFMEZ200
IE S REE0.001E T 2 K B/ER
B FRMIFMEN R KA
EERAEBIBILRHE BRUFEA
NEETERAIEZE 143,550,000.00
ETMNBEICEEROMIEE
143,550,000.00% 7T D A&(a)
143,000,000,000% & 48 &L 22 G
5 F(b) 550,000,0000% 7k 9 $8 4538

Bt

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #§

225



226

27. SHARE CAPITAL (conTinuED)

(9) Save as disclosed above, there were no changes in the
authorised and issued share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

i Full details on the above movement and changes in the
share capital during the year are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 26 September 2022, 17 October
2022, 31 October 2022, 24 November 2022, 3 January
2023, 11 January 2023, 29 March 2023, 1 June 2023,
2 August 2023, the Company’s circulars dated 31 October
2022 and 27 April 2023, and the Company's prospectus
dated 13 December 2022, if applicable.

The Group’s management objectives are:

—  To ensure the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

—  To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

—  To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the
Group's risk management capability.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and
shareholder returns, taking into consideration the future
capital requirements of the Group and capital efficiency,
prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating
cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected
strategic investment opportunities. The Group has not
adopted any formal dividend policy.

The externally imposed capital requirements for the Group is,
in order to maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange, it has
to have a public float of at least 25% of the shares.

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company is continuing compliance with the requirement of
public float of at least 25% of the shares throughout the
year.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

27. g7 @

(9 KBREXFRWREEIN RBEE_ZF
_:EE—I— B=+—HLEE =&
ABNEEREETRABELS
o

L BREARAREAFEEN L EH KRS

uBu¥\a%ZEC$/&TE,HH%_T__
FAEZ+AREB-Z2ZZF+A+t
A ZS-—#+A=+-A 28
E+—B-_+mOA-—B_=Z£—HF=
H\ZE-=F—FA+—H ZZ2°-=F
=B-_t+thB-ZEBE-_=ZF,A—HK
TEI=FNBZHZAM-EAEH
WA “F+BA=+—HBKZZE
T—FOEAZHEHZBER URAER
TEIHH%_EZZE—F_H-F_EIE’M#
RER EA) °

KrEEZEEHER:

- BRASEZFEEEED EH
FE A IR R MR KRR E A
ERMEAMN @ ;

— HRFREEZRBEMREER K

- ~ERTEEEREEEDIEMHE
Zs o

EREAEBZRAREEBZERRELY
m RERBAEANED FBEAKLER
TREB -RAEEARIKRBARBRE
B rEERBERRS REERA
FRBUBRTENEARBRRERD
o AEEHRRMEMERXRBER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. BANK BORROWINGS

In May 2020, the Group’s wholly-owned UK based subsidiary
borrowed bank borrowings through the Bounce Back
Loan Scheme launched by the Government of the UK,
which was designed to support small and medium-sized
businesses affected by COVID-19. The Government of the
UK guarantees 100% of the bank borrowings. There is no
repayments and interest charges in the first twelve months
of the bank borrowings. The bank borrowings, which is
denominated in GBP, is unsecured, interest bearing at 2.5%
per annum for the following five years and repayable in May
2026.

The amounts payable based on the maturity terms of the
bank loan is analysed as follows:

e MBRRMEE

28. SR1TIBE

NZEZEFRA AEBMUPEEMN
BB A B % B H 5B AT H
TEE#ESFtE|(Bounce Back Loan
Scheme)BARTEE  FHEIEEZ/H=Z
20198 ImE R BRI R/NE (b FE o1
BB AZERTEEREZEER
ERRTEENRE T _ERILEER K
MEER BREEUREE BEIE
HOHBRFREMNE25%E > WA
MBI RERAERE

RIFRITERN B HAPR B RIB D AR
LI

2023 2022
—_ZE-= BT HF
UsS$'000 Us$'000
FEr FE5T
Within one year —FR 8 8
More than one year, but not exceeding £ —F B BB M E
two years 8 8
More than two years, but not exceeding Z I MEENBBAE
five years 4 10
20 26
Less: Amount due for settlement BT TER REARIE
within 12 months G REIBEIET)
(shown under current liabilities) (8) (8)
Amount due for settlement after + @R BEMRIE
12 months 12 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES 29. HE&AR

Minimum Present value of
lease payments minimum lease payments
RIEHEHIE RIEAEFIEZRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
== BT ZBZE= = =4
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FErx FET FEr FET
Within one year —FR 523 308 422 302
In the second to fifth years, E_EERE (B
inclusive BEEMF) 812 - 753 -
1,335 308 1,175 302
Less: Future finance charges 8 | RARHUEE (160) (6) - =
Present value of lease HESERE
obligations 1,175 302 1,175 302
Less: Amount due for BT ZERR
settlement within 12 months ~ ZIHRE [ ZZI8
(shown under current GIRREaRs
liabilities) BT (422) (302)
Amount due for settlement + BB B EHEN
after 12 months 28 753 =

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
range from approximately 10.6% to 12.4% (2022: 7.5%)

per annum.

All finance lease payables are denominated in HK$.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 30. AR ERE
The Convertible Notes recognised in the consolidated BRRGETBERRRAZ AR KR ER
statement of financial position is calculated as follows: ZETHEAT
2022
S -
US$'000
=TT

Equity conversion component: R EREs

At 1 January w—A—H 1,092

Reclassified to accumulated losses on repayment  (EiERFEHDIEE RetEiE (1,092)

At 31 December K+=ZHA=+—H -

Liability component: BRES :

At 1 January n—B—H 2,338

Implicit interest expense FARER 2B EHEZ

recognised for the year (note 9) (f$5£9) 381

Interest payable FETF] 2 (69)

Repayment Big (2,650)

At 31 December Br+—A=+—H =

The interest expense on the Convertible Notes is calculated MR ERAMEZTHFEBERAX

using the effective interest method by applying the o RBEENE25 6% EEEE

effective interest rate of 25.16% per annum to the liability e

component.

(@) As detailed in the announcement and circular issued (@) HUARRBRRNNR-ZE—ILERAR
by the Company on 29 May 2019 and 11 July 2019 “+hHEZE—HhELtRB+—H
respectively, the announcement issued on 23 August HENAMRBR ZZ2—NEN
2019 on the updates and this note 24, on 23 August BZ+=HYENERZHMER
2019, the Company issued and allotted the Convertible B A R AR M sE24FT 550> R 2
Notes, pursuant to two conditional subscription —NENBZ+=8>REXAF
agreements entered into by the Company on 29 R_E-NERB-+hHEZH
May 2019 with various subscribers (including certain RN (BIEETES) 5] LMD
Directors) (the “Subscription Agreement(s)”). BEAREGZE (BBHE) > K

ANEBITRECHE PR ER -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ #§

229



230

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

30. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (conTinueD)

()

(Continued)

On 28 December 2020, two noteholders converted
the Convertible Notes with a principal amount of
US$3,800,000 into 139,482,353 ordinary shares of the
Company at a conversion price of HK$0.2125 per share
with the carrying amount of the liability and equity
components of the Convertible Notes of approximately
US$2,778,000 and US$1,565,000 respectively at the
date of conversion.

During the period up to the maturity date of the
Convertible Notes on 23 August 2022, none of the
noteholders converted their Convertible Notes and
subscribed for the Shares.

As at the maturity date of the Convertible Notes on
23 August 2022, the maximum number of conversion
shares to be issued and allotted upon full conversion
of the Convertible Notes (assuming that all Convertible
Notes were converted on the maturity date and that
any and all interest that would accrue was capitalised
for the remaining period from 1 January 2022 to 23
August 2022) remained at 99,786,335 conversion
shares, representing approximately 4.16% of the then
issued share capital of the Company and approximately
3.99% of the enlarged issued share capital of the
Company after the issue and allotment of the said
maximum number of conversion shares.

The FV of the liability component and the equity
conversion component were determined at the
issuance of the Convertible Notes based on the
valuation conducted by Grant Sherman on the
Convertible Notes as at 23 August 2019. The FV
of the liability component, included in financial
liabilities, was calculated using a market interest rate
for an equivalent non-Convertible Notes. The residual
amount, represented the value of the equity conversion
component, is included in equity as Convertible Notes
equity reserve. The redemption option of the Company
is not separated from the host debt because its
economic characteristics and risks are closely related to
those of the host debt and accordingly, is included in
the liability component of the Convertible Notes.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

30. ATIREE @

(a)

(&)

ATE_ETEFE+ "B -+N\H>
MEEBEREARELEEES
3,800,0003 7t B9 AJ # iR = 4% 1%
FH0.2125B TR EEKRS
139,482,353 R AN B EER >
RERBHA TRREENEE
MERFDPZEAEEIINOS
2,778,000% 7T K 1,565,000 7T ©

RESTRRERIEN @S
——ENBT+=R) LR B
TR A A SR AR R
B 1A o

R MR EREIEEE B 222
E/\E:Jr:El) Re e E%

BHERBERFETRREEZ
T@Hxﬁxfﬁﬁu_‘_gg (B FrE i
CEEREAHES R BRZF
—THF—HBA—REZZE"H)N\AH
T+ HIEZBRTHB IR AR
BEMMEHERER) MEFRH
99,786,335 AR5 HER A
REIBFREETRAMN4.16% 0 UL
RRETREE RSB 21k
RERDBZEARNBRLIBEBADETR
ZA5493.99% ©

BEMBIRERBIRE D 2 ARE
EEE%"GT%@EQ%‘;}FWE%FEPag
A TE-AFENBIZ+=HR AR
RERETZHEEE - S8BHD
ZRAREE GtAZMEE) JhE
ARSI IR R IHHIZE
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HeoR ARz BRI EZERT BT
BN RRAEKSERERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

31. SHAREHOLDER'’S LOANS 31. RERER

2023 2022
= s — a8
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx TE5T
Loans from Galloway (unsecured) K B Gallowayz Bt GEIEIF) - 13,402

Shareholder’s loans are repayable as REERNERPOT !

follows:

Within one year —FR - 13,402

The movements in shareholder’s loans during the year are set REREMRZERNEEFHIIWNT :

out below:

2023 2022

—E-= B F

Us$’000 Us$'000

FExT FET

At 1 January »w—HB—H 13,402 10,850
Loan advanced from shareholder REBANER - 2,520

Imputed interest expenses on interest- A5t BB ERZHH

free shareholder’s loan (note 9) ) BRI (BdsE9) - 32
Interest expense (note 9) M 2R (EE9) 21 561

Interest payable eI F] 2 (21) (561)
Set Off Al (13,402) -
At 31 December R+=—B=+—H - 13,402

REEINHB LR B2 ERER
A T5.000%E6.457% (B
5.000%E6.457%) ©

During the period up to the maturity date, the effective
interest rates of the loans were in the range of 5.000% to
6.457% (2022: 5.000% to 6.457%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

32. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 32.

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised by the
Group.

BERIERR
UTAFEERDZEEREAE-

Fair value adjustments on
recognition of intangible asset
arising from the acquisition of

subsidiaries
ERWEEB AT FIEEZ
EBNEEZAREERE

2023 2022

—ET= B HF

Us$'000 Us$'000

FEx TFE5T

At 1 January n—B—H 5,387 4,954

Credit in respect of amortisation of MEEBEEZ#H

intangible assets (note) e (s (5.176) (4,722)
Credit in respect of impairment of an ~ BB EEZ BEZIER

intangible asset (211) -

Effect of change in tax rates MR E - 5,155
(Credit)/charge to profit or loss R GrAER) Bigx

for the year (note 10) 0B (F¥5E10) (5,387) 433

At 31 December Kn+=—A=+—H - 5,387

Note:

The amount credited to profit or loss relates to the amortisation
of intangible assets of the patent (Fortacin™) and the IP (Deep
Longevity) for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately US$119,488,000 (2022:
approximately US$113,668,000) available for offsetting
against future profits. No deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE
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st AR 2 FIAEZ R (Fortacin™) K &0 38 B 1
(Deep longevityREE_ T _=F KR _F__
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

Obligation to pay Long Service Payment (“LSP")
under Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to long service
payments in accordance with the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance under certain circumstances. These circumstances
include where an employee is dismissed for reasons other
than serious misconduct or redundancy, that employee
resigns at the age of 65 or above, or the employment
contract is of fixed term and expires without renewal. The
amount of LSP payable is determined with reference to the
employee’s final salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years
of service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits
derived from the Group's contributions to MPF scheme
(see note 12(a)), with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per
employee. Currently, the group does not have any separate
funding arrangement in place to meet its LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the Amendment
Ordinance, which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits
derived from employers’ mandatory MPF contributions
to offset the LSP. The Abolition will officially take effect
on the Transition Date (i.e., 1 May 2025). Separately, the
Government of the HKSAR is also expected to introduce a
subsidy scheme to assist employers for a period of 25 years
after the transition date on the LSP payable by employers up
to a certain amount per employee per year.

Under the Amendment Ordinance, the Group’s mandatory
MPF contributions, plus/minus any positive/negative returns,
after the transition date can continue to be applied to offset
the pre-transition date LSP obligation but are not eligible to
offset the post-transition date LSP obligation. Furthermore,
the LSP obligation before the transition date will be
grandfathered and calculated based on the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the transition date and the
years of service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment Ordinance
primarily impacts the Group's LSP liability with respect to
Hong Kong employees that participate in MPF Scheme
and the impact on the consolidated financial statements is
immaterial.

33.

e MBRRMEE

BAEANRE

RIRE B EREGFS (B57%) (T RARK
BEMAR ((RIBRHE R (A0R) NEH

RESEREGA RETFTBRT &
BSREVEENEEREASRENE
HRB AR -ZEBEREE  BEEREE
ERETARZEUIINNRERRRE ;
BEMR6SHRIMNU ERERE ; EENRE
RBENBER B REIBESE E
TRIRBECRSELL2ZRENR
%% (EFRA22,500%T) RRFEER
BET UNRAERERE S EH
METEENTEESEF S8 (BT
12(a)) » B2 EEIEFE LR 4390,000
Ao BR AEETETHEBNES
ZHBTERPRBGHRER-

“ETTFERA BN RAMIESTIRA - B
BRLUE 85 1t B AR EST 2R
185 = B BR 75 1 R BYUE o BEBRIR B 18
EHRMEBIZ2-HFRA—H) EX4&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

(1) Share Options

The Share Option Scheme (2016) was adopted by the
Company on 10 June 2016, followed by the grant of
listing status of Shares to be granted under the Scheme
by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 10
June 2016.

(a)

()

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide the
Company with a flexible means of either
retaining, incentivising, rewarding, remunerating,
compensating and/or providing benefits
to the eligible participant(s) (the “Eligible
Participant(s)”) or such other purposes as the
Directors may approve from time to time, subject
to any necessary consent or approval being
obtained from the Shareholders or any INEDs
or the Stock Exchange as required. The Scheme
may, at the discretion of the Directors, be used in
conjunction with any cash-based compensation,
incentive compensation or bonus plan.

Participants of the Scheme

The Directors may at their absolute discretion,
and subject to such terms and conditions as they
may think fit to, offer to grant to any Eligible
Participant(s) (including any Director (either
executive, non-executive or INEDs), executive,
employee, consultant or service provider (as the
Directors may think fit with reference to their
respective contribution to the Group) of the
Company or of any Subsidiary) an Option at the
Option Price in respect of such number of Shares
as they may determine.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

34. RiEmSERRBINRE S

(1

Rt
BRESE (CT—7) HERAFN

— =
—=

—NFERBTERW 2B

R ETMEEER _E—RERA
THRERES IR FRERNDZ
Lo

(@)

(b)

g /4 =1:1}

SEIZENABEATEE
iR B8 ~ BN ~ BLRD BN GH - 1
B/ HREERATFEER
20E ((GEB2HRE) =
BEREETHAENEME
BY o 1R R SR AR R IB I IF
HITESUMFARENE
Rl R E S HE o 5H 8T 1%
EENERESEDREE
B HE I EICALST B — 1
BRA-

a8 RE

EFT2ENBLIRERS
04 18 B BV B R R R 1
MERNEERSHEE (B
TRBHERMNEARBE
HEE MITEF -FRITE
ERBUFRITES) \TH
AE~EB BB AR H
BH(EFE2ERFREY
FEBNEMRERAIERSE
) REDNEEENE R
KRirBERHZBREBRE
RToiEkiE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. UHEEEHNRIMMIRES @

TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)
BERGHE @
2B T AT (1 {TRIAR (7 488

(1) Share Options (Continued) (1)

(c) Total Number of Shares Available for Issue ©

Under the Scheme

The total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all Options to be granted under
the Scheme, when aggregated with any Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of Options to
be granted under other schemes of the Company,
shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as
at the commencement date of the Scheme (or
such proportion of the issued share capital of the
Company as from time to time specified in the
Listing Rules).

Accordingly, the maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all
Options to be granted under the Scheme shall
not exceed 173,725,118 Shares (or 8,686,255
Shares following adjustments after the Share
Consolidation), being:

(i) 10% of the total issued Shares as at the
commencement date of the Scheme (being
10 June 2016);

(i)  approximately 3.80% and 3.80% of the
total issued Shares as at 31 December 2023
and the date of this report respectively; and

(i) approximately 3.66% and 3.66% of the
enlarged issued Shares as at 31 December

2023 and the date of this report respectively.

EREEREHZPIARE
REETEMAERTZR
PR BERARBFEERTH
et B R RE 2 BREETT
EMAEETZEARNDE
stER > NMIBBR SRR B
B8 TRHZ10% Gtk
TR RKEEZXTAT
BETRAZARLLA) -

At REBEFBFTFEREZ
FrEEREETERBAIESR
TZRHHEE LIRAEBEBA
173,725,118f&B& 17 (A& 1A &
BT 2 8,686,255/% %
) Bl

()  MEEFEBEBE S
—R"ESRATRH BT
BRADAEE 210%;

(i) PRR_B_=F+_
A=+—BRFE®REH
HZzBRTRNHEBHZ
#3.80%523.80%; &

DHR_F_=F+_
A=+—BrFHREH
HZEBABETRN
2 #93.66%523.66% ©

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(d) The Maximum Entitlement of Each

Participant Under the Scheme

The number of Shares issued or issuable upon
exercise of the Options granted to any individual
Eligible Participant (including both exercised
and outstanding Options) under the Scheme,
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the Shares in issue, subject to the restrictions
on grants to the Directors, chief executive or
substantial shareholders of the Company or their
associates as set out in the Listing Rules.

Each grant of Options to any of the Directors,
chief executive or substantial shareholders of the
Company, or any of their respective associates,
under the Scheme must be approved by the INEDs
(excluding the INED(s) who is/are the grantee(s) of
the Option(s)). Where any grant of Options to an
INED or a substantial shareholder of the Company,
or any of their respective associates, would result
in the Shares issued and to be issued in respect of
all Options granted (excluding any Options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme) to
such person in the 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant representing in
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue, such
further grant of Options must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting in the manner set
out in the Listing Rules.

As at 31 December 2023, the Scheme had no
service provider sublimit under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules (31 December 2022: not applicable).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(e)

/)

9)

Period of Exercise of Options

Any entitlements unexercised in any prior period
may be carried forward to the following periods
but, in any event, must be exercised within 10
years from the date of offer of the relevant
Options. All entitlements of the Options then
remain unexercised will lapse.

Vesting Period of Options

The vesting period for Options shall not be less
than 12 months. Options granted under the
Scheme entitle the Option holder to exercise one-
third of the Options at each of the first, second
and third anniversary dates after the date of grant,
and subject to fulfilment of the various targets,
if any, as specified in the relevant offer letter in
relation to the grant of the individual Options,
provided that the Option holder remains as an
eligible participant.

Performance Target of Options

All Options granted are not subject to fulfilment
of performance targets, except for the
18,000,000 Options (adjusted to 17,942,492
Options upon completion of the Rights Issue
and further adjusted to 897,125 Options upon
completion of the Share Consolidation) granted
to an employee, formerly a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group at the time of the grant,
that those Options are exercisable after one year
but not exceeding 10 years from the date of the
grant and subject to fulfilment of various targets.
The first exercise date of one-third of the Options
granted is after the first anniversary date of the
date of grant, provided that the FDA has approved
the start of the Phase 3 clinical trial for Fortacin™.
The second exercise date of one-third of the
Options granted is after an “out-licencing deal”
for the US has been signed and announced. The
third exercise date of one-third of the Options
granted is on the successful completion of Study
008 (defined to mean it meets its primary and
secondary end points) and the FDA has granted
the NDA for Fortacin™.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

(h) Grant and Acceptance of Offers

(@)

An offer of the grant of an Option shall remain
open for acceptance by the Eligible Participant
concerned for a period of 28 days inclusive of
and from the date on which such offer is made
to that Eligible Participant or such shorter period
as the Directors may in their absolute discretion
determine. An offer which remains capable
of acceptance shall be deemed to have been
accepted upon the date when the duly completed
and signed form of acceptance together with a
remittance for HK$10, being the consideration for
the grant thereof, are received by the Company.
The Option shall, following such acceptance, be
deemed to have been granted and to have taken
effect on the date of offer.

The Group has not provided any financial
assistance to the grantees of the Options to
facilitate the purchase of Shares under the
Scheme.

Basis of Determination of the Exercise Price

The exercise price is to be determined by the
Directors at their absolute discretion when the
Option is offered, provided that in no event shall
such price be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer, which must
be a business day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer; and

(i) the nominal value of the Shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

1)

(k)

Life of the Scheme

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from 10 June
2016 and will expire on 9 June 2026. The
Company has no other share option scheme
currently in force.

Lapse of Options and Clawback Mechanism

The grant of Options is subject to the clawback
mechanism as set out in the terms of the Scheme,
in particular, the lapse of the Options upon
cessation to be an eligible participant under the
Scheme and the cancellation of Options at the
discretion of the Board.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. UELGGEEMNRBIMREZS @

TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

(1) Share Options (Continued) (1) HEReE ®
The FV of the Options granted on 14 October 2020, RN _EB2_FEF+A+HEBE-Z
17 December 2020, 7 June 2021 and 3 May 2023 i T it =
respectively was calculated by an external valuer using FRAttBRZEZ=F1A=H
the Binomial Model. The assumptions used were as HHNBERENANBEHINBE
follows: BEFEAZEARUAE -FTAR

=UH

Granted on Granted on Granted on Granted on
14 October 17 December 7 June 3 May
2020 2020 2021 2023
AZEZEE WIEZEE WMIFT-E RIFZ=
+B+MB +=RA+tH ~AtH 1A=H

=i =i =i bt
Grant date share price RUBHBRE HK$0.149 HK$0.179 HK$0.179 HK$0.055
0.149%7T 0.179%7T 0.179%7T 0.055787T
Adjusted grant date BHEHENLRE HK$2.980 HK$3.580 HK$3.580 HK$1.100
share price after RHBHHBRE 298078 7T 3.580787T 358038 7T 1.100%7T
Share Consolidation
Exercise price 1B HK$0.149 HK$0.183 HK$0.185 HK$0.078
0.149%8 7 0.18387T 0.1855 7T 0.078% 7%
Adjusted exercise price after PRZZZ=FHKRE L HK$0.150 HK$0.184 HK$0.186 N/A
Rights Issue RRBITHE 015038 7% 018438 7T 0.186787T B
in 2023
Adjusted exercise price after F*=ZF " =F R K HK$3.000 HK$3.680 HK$3.720 HK$1.560
Rights Issue and Share RIDE R 2 ERE 3.0008 7T 3.680787T 3.72087T 1.560387T
Consolidation 1128
in 2023
Expected volatility TR 64% 64% 64% 67%
Contractual Option life BRBERESH 10 years 10 years 10 years 10 years
106 106 106F 105
Risk-free rate ERERN R 0.598% 0.754% 1.102% 3.140%
Expected dividend yield R ERGEE 0% 0% 0% 0%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. LESEHENRNETMRES @

TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued) (1) HaReE ®

The expected volatility is based on historical price
volatility of the Company in the past few years. The
risk-free rate is the yields of Hong Kong exchange
fund bills and notes or the yield of HK$ Hong Kong
Sovereign Curve from Bloomberg as at the grant
dates. The dividend yield of the Company of 0% was
adopted.

Based on the FV derived from the above pricing
model, the FV of the Options granted on 14
October 2020, 17 December 2020, 7 June 2021
and 3 May 2023 were approximately HK$5,317,000
(or approximately US$686,000), HK$1,890,000
(or approximately US$244,000), HK$276,000 (or
approximately US$36,000) and HK$2,361,000 (or
approximately US$302,000) respectively. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Group has recognised
a share-based payment expense of approximately
HK$1,182,000 (or approximately US$151,000)
(2022: approximately HK$1,529,000 or US$195,000)
for employees and Directors and approximately
HK$327,000 (or approximately US$42,000) (2022:
approximately HK$116,000 or US$15,000) for
consultant(s) in profit or loss.

The assumptions used in computing the FV of the
Options are based on management’s best estimate. The
valuation of Options is dependent upon a number of
variables using subjective assumptions. Any changes in
the variables may materially affect the estimation of the
FV of an Option.

There was no market vesting condition associated with
the Options granted.

RN EDREBERSRARBEREN
ESERNESE BERRNERS
REHBHANEBINEEERER
BEFENRERARZBLENEEBE
BETESHENERDE AT
BY i B Wi R A0 % ©
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B R-_B_FETATHEBE~Z
ToEEFATERE 22—
FERBtEtAKARZE_=ZFHA=H
BENERENAABEDNY
#5,317,000%8 7T (3(49686,0003%
7t) ~ 1,890,000 7t (3£49244,000
%EJT) ~ 276,000 7T (2(4936,0003
7t) ’22,361,0007 7t (804302,000
Ex) o BHE_ZE_=ZF+_"H
=t+—HIEFE AEEEREH
THRBURGCAERNEERE
=R A91,182,00058 7 (T
#3151,000%70) (ZTE2EZZF 4
1,529,000 753 195,000 7T) » &
EA R RBE 2 49327,00078 7T (3
#442,000%7m) (ZEZZF ' Y
116,0007 753, 15,000% 7T) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. UELGGEEMNRBIMREZS @
TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)
(1) Share Options (Continued) (1) FBikeE®
The movement in the number of Options under the STEIIE T 2 BEREMBEENT !

Scheme are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 B#E—_E-_=F+"H=+—HL
FE
Adjusted  Outstanding Outstanding
Exercise at Granted Exercised Lapsed  Adjustment  Adjustment at
price* 1 January during during during  afterRights  after Share 31 December
Grantees Date of grant " HKS 2023 the year the year the year Issue  Consolidation Reclassification 2023
gEE 3=k - S
fiff® -B-H et +ZB=+-A
EEA =R BT WMAGE  EABY 0 FAAE ERXN fRiEEE GBE  ENRE HAOE
Ditectors 14.10.2020 3000 25718000 - - (1557 (82166) (24354042) - 11903
L
Employees 14.10.2020 3000 14,000,000 = e = (#729)  (13257509) - 6918
8
17122020 3680 18,000,000 = e s (57,508)  (17,045,367) - s
0305203 1560 - 58,000,000 e s - (55100000 (500000 2,400,000
Other eligible participants (note 3) ~ 14.10.2020 3.000 6,000,000 - - (5,980,831) (19,169) - - -
HABR2EE (H:3)
07062021 3720 2,500,000 - - - (7987)  (2367412) - 14601
0305203 1560 - 18400000 e s - (17480000 500000 1420000
66218000 76,400,000° - (607238 (211559) (129604330) - 6B
Weighted average exercise price HK$3.212*  HK$1.560 - HK$3.000 N/A N/A N/A HK$2.287
METHHEE 3BT 1560ET 3.000%7 FiER FER TEE  287%%
& The number of Shares that may be issued in respect # BE_ZE_="F+"A=+—H
of Options granted under the Scheme during the year LB SRR R B
ended 31 December 2023 divided by the weighted FIAEEITZRNBBERUBEC
average number of Shares for the year ended 31 E_=_F+_A=+—HLEFE
December 2023 is 1.70%. Z BRI ##31.70% ©
*  Exercise price as of 31 December 2023 after Rights o REERROSHEZEHE—S
Issue and Share Consolidation adjustments. —EEt TR+ —HmfTERE.
For the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2023, 3’:735%:9:55‘1’:5 =t+—B#H
the weighted average remaining contractual life was RTEHBERMEMS > MEFITH
A P
8.27 years (At 31 December 2022: 7.19 years). BERBR82TE (R
+ZA=+—H:7.19%) -
For the Options outstanding as at 31 December 2023, M= _=F+_B=1T—H
the total vested and exercisable number, after the BARITRER BB S - 45 $H AR
adjustments of Rights Issue and Share Consolidation is & H% MeaHAERENERB R
1,971,063 Options (At 31 December 2022: 33,311,995 PIATREAEBA1,971,06313 ls IR 4

33,311,995 fE i 1) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 34. UEREEHNRD IS @
TRANSACTIONS (conTinueD)
(1) Share Options (Continued) (1) HaReE ®
For the year ended 31 December 2022 8=_¥_—_f+_H=+—HL
FE
QOutstanding
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed at
price.  at 1 January during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant e HK$ 2022 the year the year the year 2022
S
“EICE
" +ZA
8 —-A-H = 1]
SN it B R e BT BATE  ERRE FRITE FARM HKTE
Directors 14.10.2020 0.149 25,718,000 - - - 25,718,000
g%
Employees 14.10.2020 0.149 27,000,000 = - (13,000,000) 14,000,000
(=]
17.12.2020 0.183 18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000
Other eligible
participants "¢ 07.06.2021 0.185 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000
Hia &
KEE W)
14.10.2020 0.149 6,000,000 - - - 6,000,000
79,218,000 - - (13,000,000) 66,218,000
Weighted average
exercise price HK$0.1579 - - HK$0.149  HK$0.1596
ImiETiT6E 0.1579% 7% 0.14987  0.1596%7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

Notes:

1.

Acceptance of an offer of the grant of an Option shall
be completed by the delivery of a form of acceptance
together with a remittance for HK$10.00 (or such
higher or lower amount as the Directors may from time
to time determine) by the Eligible Participant, by way of
consideration for the grant.

(€))

On 14 October 2020, the Company granted
62,718,000 Options to Directors and employees
(comprising 25,718,000 Options for Directors
and 37,000,000 Options for employees) with an
exercise price of HK$0.149 per Share (adjusted
to HK$0.150 per Share upon completion of the
Rights Issue and further adjusted to HK$3.000
per Share upon completion of the Share
Consolidation). The closing price immediately
before the date on which the Options were
granted was HK$0.156 per Share. Further
details are set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 15 October 2020 and 20
October 2020.

On 17 December 2020, the Company granted
18,000,000 Options to an employee, formerly
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Group
at the time of the grant, with an exercise price
of HK$0.183 per Share (adjusted to HK$0.184
per Share upon completion of the Rights Issue
and further adjusted to HK$3.680 per Share
upon completion of the Share Consolidation).
The closing price immediately before the date on
which the Options were granted was HK$0.183
per Share. The Options granted are exercisable
after one year but not exceeding 10 years from
the date of the grant and subject to fulfilment of
the various targets. Further details are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 18
December 2020 and 30 December 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(1) Share Options (Continued)

Notes:

1. (Continued)

(@)

On 7 June 2021, the Company granted
2,500,000 Options to a consultant of a subsidiary
of the Company, who is not a director of the
Group, for the services rendered pursuant to
the terms of the consulting agreement, with an
exercise price of HK$0.185 per Share (adjusted
to HK$0.186 per Share upon completion of the
Rights Issue and further adjusted to HK$3.720
per Share upon completion of the Share
Consolidation). The closing price immediately
before the date on which the Options were
granted was HK$0.179 per Share. Further
details are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 8 June 2021 and 15 June 2021.

On 3 May 2023, the Company granted
76,400,000 Options to employees of the Group
and a consultant of a subsidiary of the Company,
namely FOKI Limited, of which Mr Deepankar
Nayak is a director as well as the only and
ultimate shareholder and who is not a director of
the Group, for the services rendered pursuant to
the terms of the consulting agreement, with an
exercise price of HK$0.078 per Share (adjusted
to HK$1.560 per Share upon completion of
the Share Consolidation). The closing price
immediately before the date on which the
Options were granted was HK$0.056 per Share.
Further details are set out in the announcements
of the Company dated 4 May 2023 and 18 May
2023.

2. Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report, no
Options were granted to or held by (i) any Directors,
chief executive or substantial shareholders of the
Company, or their respective associates; (i) any Eligible
Participant in excess of the 1% individual limit referred
to under the Listing Rules; (iii) any related entity
participant or service provider in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the relevant class of shares in issue;
or (iv) other employees participants, related entity
participants and service providers.

3. Besides Directors, executives and employees, other
Eligible Participants of the Scheme include consultants

and service providers of the Group.

e MBRRMEE

34. UESRGEHEHNRKRBETRES @

(1) BBiRtE @
Mz -

1. @

@ REEE s RelE| 7S
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34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(2) Share Awards

On 14 July 2021, the Company announced that, by
way of consideration for two consultants’ (Dr Verdin
and Dr Gladyshev, the “Consultants”) entire term of
services, unless otherwise agreed both consultants will
not receive any cash (save for expenses), but instead
both consultants will receive an award of 1,670,000
and 1,110,000 ordinary shares, respectively, with a
nominal value of US$0.01 each (adjusted to US$0.2
per Share upon completion of the Share Consolidation
and further adjusted to US$0.001 per Share upon
completion of the Capital Reduction) to be issued
by the Company (“Consultant Shares”). Subject
to the continuation of the consultants’ service for
the Company pursuant to the relevant consulting
agreement, one third of the Consultant Shares will vest
and become issuable on the first, second and third
anniversaries of the award date, being the date of the
relevant consulting agreement. In the event that any
of the consultants’ services cease and/or the relevant
consulting agreement is terminated for whatever reason
prior the satisfaction of any vesting condition in respect
of the Consultant Shares that may be issued to the
consultants, any unvested Consultant Shares previously
awarded shall become null and void and any unvested
Consultant Shares will not be issued or remain issuable
to the Consultants and the Consultants will have no
claim or entitlement in respect of such Consultant
Shares whatsoever. Management used the share price
of HK$0.166 (or approximately US$0.021) at the grant
date (14 July 2021) as the FV of the Share Awards.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

34. UESGEHEHNRKRBETRES @
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R {7 52 @
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (conTinuED)

(2) Share Awards (Continued)

Movements of the number of unvested share awards:

e MBRRMEE

34. UESRGEHEHNRKRBETRES @

(2) BeiER @
AEBROEBDBELS

2023 2022
—E-= s i
At 1 January nr—A—H 1,853,334 2,780,000
Vested before Share Consolidation B&15 & A1 57 /5 - (926,666)*
Adjustment on Share 1D & AR
Consolidation (1,760,668) -
Vested after Share Consolidation ~ RRID & HEBFE (46,333)
At 31 December R+=ZB=+—H 46,333 1,853,334

* The weighted average closing price of the Shares
immediately before the dates on which the Consultant
Shares were vested was HK$2.40 (after the adjustment
of Share Consolidation).

On 14 July 2023, one-third of the Consultant Shares
were vested and accordingly 46,333 Shares were issued
to the Consultants (note 27(d)). The weighted average
closing price of the Shares immediately before the
date on which the Consultant Shares were vested was
HK$0.69 per Share.

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

— 46,333 shares (2022: 926,666 shares) were vested
to the Consultants.

—  No shares (2022: no shares) were lapsed or
cancelled.

—  The Company has recognized total share-based
payment expenses arising from the share awards
of approximately HK$154,000 (or approximately
US$20,000) (2022: approximately HK$ 154,000 (or
approximately US$20,000)) in profit or loss.

* SRERROERE QBRI
PINTHYHER2.408 T (8
R GHBER)

RIEZ=F+tA+WMBE =92
—WER RN ERE  WoEEE S
1746,3338 81D (MI5F27(d)) - Bz
BN IESR B 0 Hiai s R (D #E
FHRHmEAESRKRRHN0.698T

REE_ZE_=F+"A=+—H

EFE:

— 46,333 Ip (ZTE -
926,6668% i&17) &7 B FRERT ©

— BERG CEIZF &R
19) KRB o

— XRABEREZTEIRKRHS
HBEENURMAEREDN
R4 %EA154,0007%8
70 (8 4920,000F 7T) (=&
Z 4 #9154,0005 7T (3149
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35. ZAEMBHRARRFEFEES)
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position of the Company (a) ZFARMBRAR
2023 2022
—E-= == ot/
Note Us$'000 Us$'000
k=3 F=5T FE=T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HEERAR
Non-current assets ERENEE
Interests in subsidiaries R B A B m 650 13,450
FAFVOCI BAREBER A
Htha2mEmkAZ
SRIEE - .
650 13,450
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR I B A B FIE 54 4,759
FAFVPL ERERERARD
BEREZSH
BE 318 1,097
Prepayments, deposits and other ~ FEffTIE RS R EH
receivables A REW RIS 42 594
Cash and bank balances REMIRITAEBR 1,928 208
2,342 6,658
Current liabilities REAE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEIHI B A BFIA 1,870 2,099
Trade payables, deposits FEN B ZERF - BUK
received, accruals and other % FESTHERTX
payables K HAEFRIE 2,795 4,221
Shareholder’s loans REER - 13,402
4,665 19,722
Net current liabilities mENBEFEE (2,323) (13,064)
Net (liabilities)/assets () EERHE (1,673) 386
EQUITY R
Capital and reserves BERRHE
Share capital (&N 228 24,004
Reserves B3] 35(b) (1,901) (23,618)
Total equity ] (1,673) 386
Approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2024 KREFFN _2MF=A"++
and are signed on its behalf by: ARETHRUTATABEE
James Mellon Jamie Gibson
Chairman Executive Director
FE HITEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

35. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35. ZAEMBRARRFEREES @
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(CONTINUED)
(b) Reserve movement of the Company (b) ZATFEESD
Share- Foreign
Investment based Capital Statutory crrency
Accumulated Share revaluation payment  redemption and other exchange
losses premium reserve reserve reserve reserves reserve Total
MiRfp
REEf AERN AR EER 5
FiEH R it fiRltE it Eftttte B a5
Uss'000 Us$'000 USs'000 Uss'000 Uss'000 USS'000 USs'000 Uss'000
&R FER TER e &R TER TER e
At 1 January 2023 RZ%_=%-f-H (325,431) 294,331 (1,500) T4 8,228 39 1 (23,618)
Capital Reduction re:li] 45450 - - - - - - 45,450
Issue of Shares through Rights lssue ERRETRN - (174) - - - - - (178)
New shares issued for share awards ARARBETIHRA 10 - = (19 = = = O
Share options lapsed BRELN 83 - - 83) = = 5 =
Fquity-settled share-based payment transactions LEREENRM RS - - - M - - - 13
Loss for the year ERER (23,163) - - - - - - (23183)
At 31 December 2023 PIEZZE+ZA=1-H (303,051) 293,557 (1,500) 825 8,228 39 1 (1,901)
Convertile Share- Foreign
notes  Investment based Capital Statutory currency
Accumulated Share equity  revaluation payment  redemption and other exchange
losses premium resere reserve reserve reserve reserves feserve Total
LR
ThREE  REER  AERN  RAED EER g
ZetEE  ROEE  ERER I B HhEE  EREE st
US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US§'000 US$000 US5000 US$000 Us$'000 US$'000
Tin i Tin i TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
At 1 January 2022 RZE-“&-F-R (288,995) 294,326 1,092 (1,500) 617 8228 39 1 13,808
New shares ssued for share awards ARHEBHTHRIH 5 5 : : (20 ° ° s (10
Share options lapsed BRELH 113 . . . (113) .
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions NEGEENRAETRS - - - 30 30
Repayment of Convertile Notes BETARE 1092 - (1,092)
Loss for the year ERGE (37,646) . . - - - - . (37,646)
At 31 December 2022 RZE-ZE+ZR=1-H (325,431) 294,331 - (1,500 74 8228 39 1 (23618)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

36. RESERVES

(@) Group

(b)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Accumulated losses

This represents cumulative net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.

Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds
received over the nominal value of the shares
of the Company issued at a premium, less the
amount of expenses incurred in connection with
the issue of the shares.

Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve comprises
the carrying value of equity component of
unconverted Convertible Notes issued by the
Company which are recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for
Convertible Notes as disclosed in note 4(p) to the
consolidated financial statements..

Investment revaluation reserve

The investment revaluation reserve comprises
the cumulative net change in the fair value
of FAFVOCI held at the end of the reporting
period and is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policy in note 4(j) to the consolidated
financial statements.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

36. f#f&

(a)

(b)

&M@

FrEBRFERABHEEITNNE
GHRmMEMEENE R MR EE

HBEE

HEEERER

() ZE&tE51E
RErEEENRBERNES
Rt Em KR EE1EHRE

(i) fRPEHE

(iii)

(iv)

R BEBIEAQTRD LU
BECTKAESES  BETR

PHRXE BRMEEZE
Ho

TR I e 1
AMREREDHERESER
BAR G MBS IR AR M 5E4(p) P K

BZrUMRERRBZ G
BRFTESR 2B AT ELT
ZABMOU MR EREDE
DZEREE

REELHE

REEGMREFBEERENRSH
KRR BRAREBES AR
thEEBAZEMEEZR
SRR BEEHFRILRE
e M BRREA()Z g5
BUERBRIE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. RESERVES (continuep)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

W)

(vi)

Share-based payment reserve

The share-based payment reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number
of unexercised share options and share awards
granted to Directors, employees and other
eligible participants of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
4(u) to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital redemption reserve

This represents the repurchase of shares of the
Company listed on the HK Stock Exchange.
These repurchased shares were cancelled upon
repurchase and, accordingly, the nominal
value of the cancelled shares was credited to
capital redemption reserve and the aggregate
consideration paid was debited to the
accumulated losses and share premium accounts.

(viij) Statutory and other reserves

This represents statutory reserve of approximately
US$176,000 (2022: approximately US$176,000)
and other reserve of approximately US$39,000
(2022: approximately US$39,000) as at 31
December 2023.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC, an associate of the Company in the
PRC is required to maintain a statutory reserve
which is non-distributable. Transfer to this reserve
is made out of profit after tax of the associates’
PRC statutory financial statements which is
prepared in accordance with the accounting
principles generally accepted in the PRC.

e MBRRMEE

36. #E @
(b) FEEHERBEHN @
v) U ESBERT=FE

(vi)

(vii)

MR AERNNREERS
IRIRAR G B 75 S M 5 4(u)RL
DM AEREREEEZ
3 TR PR ER A0 & 5T SR R B BY
RTYTAEEES BEKRAEM
GERSHEEBNRTEBR
T R 17 B2 B BY B R o 1 Bt
HENLREE-.

R

RABLOFEFEERLREAAF
EEBEIF EHZ R - &
ZRBRIR MR BBl R 5
RN ZEEEHAMEE
stARRATIREI R mETHE
RERIR RS EERKRME
ERPNR-

ZEREMGHE

FEREMBBEER S
T =ZE+A=+—881%
EH#EL176,000E 7T (ZF
T4 1 #9176,000E70) &
Hh##4939,000% 7T (&
T T 1 #939,000%7T) ©

REPEBERERRERZ
RE > ARBUR FEZ —H
BMEADRREEERFE T
ATAR DIk ZIBHEEREB
BMEQATDRBEPEARRES
RAVAR KR Z PEEEM B R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BRRMEE

36. RESERVES (continuep)

(b)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(viii) Foreign currency exchange reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises
all foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policies set out in note 4(d) to
the consolidated financial statements.

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transaction

During the year, the net proceeds (net of direct
expenses of approximately US$774,000) of
approximately US$20,891,000 from the Rights Issue
was offset by the shareholder’s loans with principal of
approximately US$13,402,000 and accrued interest of
approximately US$1,438,000.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing
activities.

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

36. f#f&E @

(b)

HEEEREN @

(viii) SIS EES (1

SNEE R FE R FEBRE R
EB U BRERMELEZFR
EERER ZRBEREGES
TS IRR M AT 2 & 5t
BURERIE

37. FRABRERERME

(a)

(b)

FEFRERXS

FRACHERZMEMREZE (10
BEEMEX4774,000ET) &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37. FARERERME @

OF CASH FLOWS (conTiNUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) RMEEFEBFIEEEBRZEHIER®
financing activities (Continued)
At Addition Transfer At
1 January of new Cash Interest to other Exchange 31 December
2023 leases flows  expenses payables SetOff difference 2023
®
® -+ 3
-z HRERM +ZR
-F-B HM¥HEE RERE  HEME  EfRE H#E EREE =t+-H
US$'000 Us$'000 US§'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US§'000 USs$'000
&R TR &R TR TER &R TER TR
Shareholder's loans (note 31) &R (H531) 13,402 = S 2 @) (13,402) = =
Lease liabilties (note 29) REARE (M9) 302 1334 (520) 59 - - - 1,175
Bank borrowings (note 28) RTEE (328) 26 - ©) -+ - = 2 2
13,730 1334 (528) 80 (21) (13,402) 2 1,195
X Amount is less than US$1,000. 3 £78/ 01,0005 7T ©
At Transfer At
1 January Cash Interest to other Exchange 31 December
2022 flows expenses payables  difference 2022
N
® BT E
kSt 2 ERTHM +ZA
—-A—B ReRE REWE  EAFE  EREE  =1+-H
US§'000 US§'000 US$'000 US$'000 US§'000 US§'000
TEn TEn T£n TR TEn TEn
Shareholder's loans (note 31) REE (331) 10,850 2520 593 (561) = 13402
Convertible Notes (note 30) PRER (530) 2338 (2,825 381 106 - -
Lease liabilties (note 29) BEAMRE (:29) 784 (520) 39 - (1) 302
Bank borrowings (note 28) IBIES (13528 38 9) = = 3) 26
14,010 (834) 1,013 (455) @) 13,730
*  Amount is less than US$1,000. * £ 38/ DF1,000% 5T 0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s EMBRRME

37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (conTiNUED)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases

Amounts included in the consolidated statement of

37.

FERERERMT @

() THERERHMEHE
mEREMNERNEESREIEU

cash flows for leases comprise the following: &I
2023 2022
—¥Z= BT F
US$'000 US$'000
FEr T=7T
Within operating cash flows RWEMEN 76 55
Within financing cash flows THBEREREN 461 481
537 536

The above amounts related to the lease rental paid
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group has no material capital commitments as at 31

December 2023 and 2022.

39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no material contingent liabilities as at 31

December 2023 and 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRMEE

40. EXREALRS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial réc e BT EMM ST ESE N
statements, the Group had the following material REBFRNEFEALTE NIEARS !

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

transactions with its related parties during the year:

2023 2022
—EZ-= .
US$'000 Us$'000
FEr FE7T
Implicit interest expenses on BGallowaysz 1 AT A IR 2 4%
Convertible Notes to Galloway 2B ERE - 129
Implicit interest expenses on [ElJames MellonsZz {7 AT # AR 22
Convertible Notes to James Mellon BRI EMAX - 72
Implicit interest expenses on [)Jamie Gibsonsz {3 0] #2A%
Convertible Notes to Jamie Gibson ERZEEMNEMAX - 43
Interest expenses on shareholder’s loans  [EGalloway>Z {J iR ERZ
to Galloway MEMXZ 21 561
Imputed interest expense on mGallowaysz 4 A5t B A& R
interest-free shareholder’s loan ERZHEEN B
to Galloway - 32
Income from registration services [RIRA A BlJuvenescene
received from a related company, Limited U BY 2 & 5C AR 75
Juvenescene Limited" N 13 -
Management service fee charge by a fE%E /A BlBurnbrae Limiteds
related company, Burnbrae Limited* Bz EERBE 16 16

The above transactions were conducted on mutually agreed
terms.

i Mr. James Mellon, a NED and Chairman of the Company,
has beneficial interest in Burnbrae Limited and Juvenescene
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, the Group has no other material
related party transactions for the year.

All related party transactions disclosed above are not
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule.

The Directors are of opinion that the key management
personnel were the Directors, details of whose emoluments
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

iz Z3eHE B E Z 1R E

f RABIFEBMITEE K EfEIames Mellon
S Burnbrae Limited&Juvenescene
LimitedER B o

PR EFRIREBEE SN REBR FE R E
HBARMBEALRS o

FHRWBOFREREALRZHNER

EHRABAAERENBERZ X
BRAER S o
BExgd R TEBEABEES Hif

T BEN RSB RKRMEE3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sa

& M H R M

41.

42.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to the current year’s presentation. The new
classification of the accounting items was considered to
provide a more appropriate presentation of the state of
affairs of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 24 March 2024, Amerinvest Coal Industry Holding
Company Limited (“ACIL"), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (“S&P") with FHIF R EFERBRAE (unofficial
English translation: Qujing Black Gold Energy Co., Ltd.)
("Black Gold"), pursuant to which ACIL conditionally agreed
to sell, and Black Gold conditionally agreed to acquire,
25% equity interest in West China Coking & Gas Company
Limited, an associate of the Group, at the consideration of
RMB8 million (or approximately US$1.11 million) net of any
taxes in the PRC, subject to the terms of the S&P Details
are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 25
March 2024.
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DEFINITIONS
BH

In this final report, the following expressions shall have the RAFHRR BFEXEZHIEEIN TIHEEAR

following meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

2022 Annual Report
T EER

2023 Annual Report
"B FR

2023 AGM
TR CFERRBFERE

2024 AGM

Adjusted Share(s)
AR EE R D

Al
ANTERE

ASX
BMNEE 53257 i

Armanino
Armanino

Audit Committee
BZEEY

Board or Board of Directors
=EEg

Capital Reduction

BRAHIR

CEO
TTEAR R

BUTHEE:

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022

AARBE_F__F+_RB=1+—HLEFEZFERS

the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023

AARHE_F_=—F+_RB=1+—HLEFEZFERS

the last annual general meeting of the Company held on 1 June 2023
RRBNR B =F"A—HBTZRIAPREEFARE

the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 30 May 2024
AABRR ZEMFRA=+THETZREEFAE

ordinary share(s) of US$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
immediately following the Capital Reorganisation becoming effective

PERAFHENE KRB RAFFRK0.001FETZEEBR

artificial intelligence
AILE/E

Australian Securities Exchange

BNGE 25732 5 P

Armanino LLP
Armanino LLP

audit committee of the Company
RRBIZEZEEY

Board of Directors of the Company

TAREFG

the reduction of the issued share capital of the Company by reducing the
par value of each issued Consolidated Share from US$0.20 to US$0.001 by
cancelling the paid up share capital to the extent of US$0.199 per issued
Consolidated Share, effective on 3 August 2023

S HEREETEHRMOI9ERZHERAMEEREZITSHEK
72 EERH0.20ETTHIBEO0.001E L WMAIREA AT BETKRA X
—_B_=FNA=HEX

Chief Executive Officer
TR
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DEFINITIONS
BE

CG Code
EEARTH]

CGU(s)
REEL BN

Companies Ordinance

NSRS

Company

2 /NE]

Consolidated Share(s)

GHRMN

Convertible Note(s)

CIEEY &

COVID-19
20198 AR E R

Director(s)

BEE

DLI or Deep Longevity
DLIZ{Deep Longevity

Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules

;S ERRAINERC1 Z B E RS

cash generating unit(s)

REELBU

Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
RNEMEA (BB EGIF6225)

Regent Pacific Group Limited (formerly known as Endurance RP Limited),
a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liabilities, the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
are also traded on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the Frankfrut Stock
Exchange

ERERXTFEERRLAE GIREREERBRLE*)  —KIXHAEE
EEMRIIZEBRAR  ERMONERAER LM L EBE RS
532 5 /A B B (Freiverkehn B &

* EEE

ordinary share(s) of US$0.20 each in the share capital of the Company
after the Share Consolidation becoming effective on 5 June 2023
RIE_=FXBEHERMEHLENEERARIREIAFTEREE
0.20& Tz EiBht

the 4% coupon unlisted convertible notes due 2022 issued by the
Company on 23 August 2019 which are convertible into new Shares,
details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 23 August
2019
KRABDEEBE-AFNAZ+=B&T TN - _FEIH24%
SRIELEHMRER WEERARBSHRG > FEHNAAF
BEIAZZE-—NAENAZ+=BNAMH

novel coronavirus disease of 2019
2019 R B AR B IR

Director(s) of the Company
KRBIZEE

Deep Longevity, Inc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
Deep Longevity, Inc’ B AB 2 —REEWBAE]

Deep Longevity Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of DLI
AREBBEBRAR BDUZ—REEWBAF]

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE



DVP

DvP

EMA
BONEE B

FAFVOCI
BRSEES AR
EHBAZEHEE

FAFVPL
BRBEmRRANEE
BEZEMEE

FDA
XHERmMAEREEEER

FV
nAEE

FVLCOD
NABEBHERA

G&A
— BT

Galloway

Galloway

Grant Sherman
2%

o2

Group
EER

HKAS(s)
BEAGETER

DEFINITIONS
HE

DEVELOP Global Limited, a public listed company incorporated in Australia,
whose shares are listed on ASX (ASX: DVP)

DEVELOP Global Limited > —ZRiSEMNEEMMA L2 EHAS > AN
BMNES X Z P £ CRMNESZX ZFT :DVP)

European Medicines Agency
BN Z R EEE

financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

BRARBESAHMEARAZEREE

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

BRERRRANEEREZSMEE

The Food and Drug Administration of the US
EFHEmAELREEEIER

fair value

ARBEE

Fair value less costs of disposal

NREEREE A

general and administrative

—RRAATI

Galloway Limited, a private limited liability company which is indirectly
wholly-owned by James Mellon, a substantial Shareholder who is also a
NED of the Company and Chairman of the Board

Galloway Limited > —ZR B EE & & James Mellon (TR& A AT IEHITE
ERETEIR OELEREEZMARBRAE

Grant Sherman Appraisal Limited
EHMEBRAE

the Company and its subsidiaries
TRABREMBAE

Hong Kong Accounting Standard(s)
BBt
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DEFINITIONS
&

HKFRS(s)
RV BREEL

HKICPA
BARAGASE

Hong Kong
a8

Indigo
Indigo
INED(s)

BIIFRITES

IP
B EE

Listing Rules
FHRA

Macau

AP
Model Code
e

NDA
LR

NED(s)

FRITES

NMPA
HREREEEER

Nomination Committee

REEEG

Option(s)
FEietE

new or revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard(s)

e AEEST BB BRE ER

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
BEGSEIAY

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEEBFIITHE

Indigo Securities Limited, a private limited liability company which is
indirectly wholly-owned by James Mellon, a substantial Shareholder who is
also a NED of the Company and Chairman of the Board

Indigo Securities Limited > —ZXF F EfgE8James Mellon (TR 24 A E]FE
HITESREFTGIFE) OREEEREEZMABRAE

Independent Non-Executive Director(s) of the Company

RABZBIIFATES

intellectual property

R 580 E

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

B3 PREE 2 AR A

Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC
BRI RIITE &

The Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
FR EHRAINERCZ EHETAETFETRES S NRETE]

New Drug Application
RS

Non-Executive Director(s) of the Company

RABIFRITES

the National Medical Products Administration
HXREREEEERS

nomination committee of the Company
RRBIZIRBEES

option(s) granted and exercisable under the Share Option Scheme (2016)
REBRBERESE (CZ—7) REKAI T BRE

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE



Orient EuroPharma
REFREE
PEBEQ™

= AR S
Plethora

Plethora

PRC or China
FAE

R&D
I

Remuneration Committee

EEE
Rights Issue

AR

Rights Share(s)
AR

Securities Dealing Code

Set Off

iawz]

DEFINITIONS
HE

Orient EuroPharma Co., Ltd, the Group's commercial strategic partner for
Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macau and other selected countries in Asia
REERBERMNARAT SAEBRGE &8 RPIRIINEM
ETERRNBERELH

Premature Ejaculation Bothersome Evaluation Questionnaire

FREBTEBEE

Plethora Solutions Holdings plc, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company
Plethora Solutions Holdings plc’ BA R B 2 —KREEM B A E)

the People’s Republic of China
HhEE AR HEME

research and development

PHZE R 3 R

remuneration committee of the Company
KRBIZFHNEER

the rights issue on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every one (1)
existing Share held on the record date, completed on 12 January 2023
EREBRESHE—()RBEERMEE —()KREKRN ZEEET
HIE R _BE_=F—B+"H5%M

the new Share(s) allotted and issued under the Rights Issue

RiEHAREC S M B IT 2R M

the code governing securities transactions by Directors and the relevant
employees of the Group, which was adopted on no less exacting the terms
and required standard set out in the Model Code
EEAERESENERESETESFRS 2T DRI BRI IRE
ST RIFR 5 BV AR E AR ZE 1S ER AN

the set off of the total amount of subscription monies payable by Galloway
as the underwriter, James Mellon and Indigo for the Rights Shares to which
they are entitled to and/or are required to subscribe for (if any) under the
Rights Issue and the underwriting agreement respectively, against the
equivalent amount of the shareholder’s loans and accrued interest thereon
on a dollar-to-dollar basis on the completion date of the Rights Issue
PR SERL HER > Galloway (fEA B 8E™) ~ James MellonfzIndigot iR 15
MR EHERERD BB, SNERE WNB) 2 R PR RE
TRIRAREE I E R EEIMIE S R R ERNRES IR
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DEFINITIONS
BE

SFO
a8 75 M A R

Share(s)

Share Subdivision

Bz 17 Hr 4

Shareholder(s)
R ER

Share Options Scheme (2016) or

Scheme

fEREstE (C"ZT—N

25t 8

Stock Exchange
B3Py

)

The Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)
a5 REAE RG] (EAREMIE5715)

ordinary share(s), with voting rights, of US$0.01 each (or US$0.001 each
upon Capital Reduction becoming effective on 3 August 2023) in the
capital of the Company, which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and are also traded on the Open market (Freiverkehr) of the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange

RABIRAPEREE0OIET BRAHRN _E_=F\A=H
FWE > SREME0.001%T) ' IMBERERZ @AY » LEFRD I
RPFENR E™ o W AR TR 5 R 5 P A F mh i5(Freiverkehn B &

the subdivision of one (1) authorised but unissued Consolidated Share into
200 Adjusted Shares and forthwith the Share Subdivision, the increase
of the authorised share capital of the Company to US$143,550,000.00
by the creation of such number of additional Adjusted Shares as shall
be sufficient to increase the authorised share capital of the Company to
US$143,550,000.00 divided into (a) 143,000,000,000 ordinary Adjusted
Shares and (b) 550,000,000 unclassified Adjusted Shares, effective on 3
August 2023

r—(1 )Hﬁ?iTETE‘ﬂié’*ﬁAT#HﬁTﬁ?ﬁiHﬂ/‘%ZOOH%EFﬂWﬁﬁfﬁ ; BRI
FARBBERNE B R R E R R AT 2 /A ERAIG 1% 143,550,000.00
ETT (D7) 143, ooo 000,000% E 78 4L 58 FE AR 7 K2(b) 550,000,0008%
ﬂ%ﬁiﬁmuﬂﬁﬁxfﬁ) ZEIMERAERRMBBABE  RARB ZEER
AIGANE143,550,000.00% 70 R ZE_=FN\A=HEXN

holder(s) of the Share(s)
AGEST=PIN

the share option scheme of the Company named the “Share Option
Scheme (2016)" adopted on 10 June 2016, with Shareholders’ approval at
the Company’s extraordinary general meeting held on 8 June 2016, which
was followed by the grant by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange
on 10 June 2016 of the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares to
be issued pursuant to the exercise of the Options to be granted under the
scheme

KABINZE—RERNATHEMN LR BRESE CZ2E—N12
BRESE ZSERNARBNR ZE—RFEANBEITZRE5]
A LERERE BMN _E—RE B THEMXMLELTEZES
HERBERS SRR L 2 BREBITEME TET RO LTREE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EBMERZMABRAT

the United Kingdom

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE



us
ENE

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical
IRRER B B

A$

ks

EUR
BT

Us$
=TT

DEFINITIONS
HE

the United States
EHIRERE

Wanbang Biopharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a wholly controlled company of
Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co. Ltd.
IHEMELBEERFREEAR » LBEERE (&R RHA
RABZZEERAT

Australian dollars, the lawful currency in Australia
BNEE TSR TT

European dollars, the lawful currency in the European regions
UMM R A E S IEBIT

Great British pounds, the lawful currency in the UK
REEAE GHEHE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency in Hong Kong
BREEGHEAETT

US dollars, the lawful currency in the US
EBEAESET
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
Q[FER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Jamie Gibson (CEO)
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

James Mellon (Chairman)
Jayne Sutcliffe

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mark Searle
Adrian Chan
lhsan Al Chalabi

COMPANY SECRETARY
Winnie Lui

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

RSM Hong Kong

Certified Public Accountants

(Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance)
29th Floor, Lee Garden Two

28 Yun Ping Road, Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Citibank, N.A.
REGISTERED OFFICE

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

8th Floor, Henley Building
5 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Tengis Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT
LBS Communications Consulting Limited
WEBSITE

www.regentpac.com

STOCK CODE

573

REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED BRI R AT ¥ EEBERAE

BITESE

Jamie Gibson (77Ec#8 %)

ERITES
James Mellon (Z/&)
Jayne Sutcliffe

BIERITES

Mark Searle

FR5A 2
Ilhsan Al Chalabi

ARHE
BEM

BB

EREGMSEHAARAT

HE TN

(RIBE(E S RV BERBIED) EMBY

T B REAZ HEm)
&8

SR B T E285%
FE — EA2918
FEFRIRT
TERESRTT

B EE Y

P.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman KY1-1104

Cayman Islands

BB
TEE

58

IR 2 f5 KB 558

PN

RRUHAE B R

BEERFEAEREAT
EEBERBRE 165
BEERPOT71E

REEMARER

EEEEAEBARAR

LR
www.regentpac.com

R (R 4XsR

575



- REGENT PACIFIC GROUP LIMITED
CYm= i iEEERD T

8th Floor, Henley Building, 5 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong
FRRMIRER/KERSRAIEKESE

Telephone B2 : (852) 2514 6111
Facsimile EISZ{§E :  (852) 2810 4792
Email EFEH : info@regentpac.com
Website #83it : www.regentpac.com
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